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CASE 2671—WILLIAM GEDDES

Claimant was a Corporal in the 7th Battalion—Regimental No. 16856.
Ie enlisted in August 1914, at the age of 22 years, and was taken prisoner April
24, 1915, during the secord battle of Ypres, suffering from a bruised right arm.
He was repatriated to England December 3, 1918, He is not in receipt of
pension.  Claimant did not complete the questionnaire form and did not appear
before the Commission, at Vietorin, at the time appointed for his hearing.  His
«olicitors were unable to explain his absence. A statutory declaration was filed
in May 1932 reciting the instances of maltreatment, but as this has not heen
jollowed up by corroborative testimony, and as claimant did not appear when
notified to do s, the claim fails for want of prosecution, and must be disallowed.

ERROIL M. MeDOUGALL,
Conunissioncr.
Orrawa, December 28, 1932.

~

CASE 2544—HFERBERT GLOVER

Claimant was a Private in the 13th Battalion--Regimental No, 25036. He
enlisted in August 1914, at the age of 29 years, and was taken prisoner on April 24,
1915, at the sccond battle of Ypres, wounded in the left foot. e was repatriated
to Eneland in November 1018, He is in receipt of a 5 per cent disability pension,
amounting to £3.75 per month, bused upon the wound in his left foot Claimant

i< married and has four children. Prior_to enlistment;-he was a-boiler fiiaker,

“warning about 25 cents per hour,  He is now unemployed, hut has heen engaged ax
a welder, earning fromn 70 to 85 per cent per hour.

Claimant alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment
whiceh has resulted in peeuninry damage to him.  He complains generally of ill
treatment, whieh has affected his memory and eapacity to work.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant spent the first ten months of his period of eaptivity at the Bruder-
haus hospital, at Paderborn, where he received very good treatment.  Sent to
Senne lager, he remained a year, and complains only of the had food. He was
then transferred to a farm, where the work was hard and the hours long. At
another farm, claimant was run over and injured his head, for which he received
treatment in hospital.  Upon recapture, aiter an attempted escape, elaimant
was sent to prison at Minden, where he was held for five weeks,  He does not
complain of any particular brutality but refers to the general treatment as rough.
He completed his period of captivity at a flving field near Paderborn, without
special incident.  Claimant declares that he fecls fairly well, but suffers from
loss of memory and a nervous condition.

There is no medical evidence of record, not even the usual certificate of a
physician, Claimant does not appear to be disabled and looks in gom} hcultl_l.
Claimant’s medical history files refer to the wound in the foot, otherwise he is
declared to have been fit upon discharge. . ‘

Claimant was subjected to no particular maltreatment while a prisoner,
and has quite failed to show a present disability resulting from his experiences
while in Germany. He has clearly misapprehended the scope of the activities
of this Commission. The claim fails and must be disallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Commisstoner.
Orrawa, January 8, 1933.
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TASE-2688--JAMES WILLIAM GOODFELLOW

Claimant was a Frivate in the 15th Battalion—Regimental No, 27477. He
enlisted in August, 1914, at the age of 22 years, and was taken prisoner April
24, 1915, at the second hattle of Ypres, wounded in the right shoulder, He was
repatrinted to England in November, 1918, He is not in receipt of pension but .
has an application pending.  Claimant is unmarried. Trior to enlistment, he :

was a shipper with the T, Eaton Company, carning §10 a week. He is now k
uncmployed. , ) >
Claimant alleges that while a prisoner of war he was subjected to mal- A

treatment which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of ]
enforced labour while ill, confinement to cells and general physieal abuse and
deprivation of food. &

An analvsis of the evidence revenls:— E"w

Claimant was first taken to Gottingen, where he received some treatment .
for hix wound, but was made to work in a stone quarrv. For being unable to
work, he was punished by being made to stand to attention. Sent to Munster,
he was employed at digging drains.  While there was no brutality, he was foreed
to v ork when ill. Next, at Creste (sic), he complains of being made to work
on Sundays. Ife was then sent to Bochum, where he remained until the end of
the war, working in a steel foundry. e was confined to cells for refusing to
work on munitions and complains of punishment standing to attention and

general harsh conditions,  As a result of these experiences, claimant declares  E
that he suffers from bronehitis and recurrent boils and general debility. .
The medieal record indieates that claimant suffers from bronehitis, short- ¥
ness of breath, insommia and nervousness with some disability in the wounded ]
shoulder. Tis percentage of disability is unstated. Dr., W. J. Henry, who certi- 2
fics to the foregoing, did not appear before the Commission.  Claimant’s medieal ‘H
history files show nothing unusual, a condition o bronehitis and cmphysema g
being under consideration by the Board of Pension Commissioners. 4
Claimant’s ex-e ix purely pensionable in nature,  He has not established o ‘,
| disability resulting from maltreatment. whilst a prisoner.  Whatever hix dis-
ability, 1t is due to general conditions of camp life in Germany and eannot be )
aseribed to mnltreatment, as explained in my earlier reports upon maltreatment ;
cases. The elaim fails and must be disallowed.

. FERROL M. McDOUGALL,

Commissioner.
Qreawy, January 14, 1933,

CASE 2632 “"ALTER JOIN GRAHAM

_Claimant was a Private in the 8th Battalion—Regimental No. 848. He
enlisted In Auguse 1914, at the age of 28 years, and was takeu prisoner April 24,
1915, during the seeond battle of Ypres, wounded in the leg and hand and suffering
from gas. e was repatriated to England December 14, 1918, He is in receipt
of a 60 per cent dlisability pension, based on bronchitis, gastritis and heart trouble.
He was married in 1903 und has three children. Brior to enlistment, he was
employed as a steamfitter, carning about 84 per day, and is now farming.

~ He nllcg(‘s that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which
his resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of hard labour in the

coal mines while ill, lack of medical treatment, exposure, and coal dust in the
mines which has affectcd his lungs.
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Claimant was sent to Munster and shortly after to the coal mines at Dort-
mund, Hee he beeame deaf, due, he alleges, to the constant noise. He was
forcd to work at the coke ovens aud in the ash cellars. He had received no
treatinent for his wounds after capture and was compelled to work while weak and
unfit.  His chief basis of complaint is that the work around the coke ovens
damaged his Tungs and this, coupled with medical negleet, has left him ineapable
of continuing his former trade. A fellow priconer, Harry Bryant, testified that
he was with elaimant at Dortmund and corroborates his story. the record also
contains the declaration of Arthur 1. Johnston, who did not appear, a fellow-
i :oner with elaimant, who corroborates the story of conditions at Munster and
Dortmund. A deelaration of Joseph . Leonard is also filed, together with
exhibits attesting to elaimant’s condition after his return to Canada and his
inability to keep jobs due to illness,

No medieal evidence was adduced or doctors’ eertifieates filed, elaimant rely-
ing on his Pensions and Medieal history diles. These show « moderate heart
aficetion, bronehitis and functional gastritis.

The claim for impaired hearing his not been made out, no* 'o I think elaim-
ant has been successful in showing a present disability resultin- from maltreat-
ment. It is true that he spent some time in the coal mines, working on the coke
ovens, but the micdical evidence does not appear to me to justify & finding that
lie has sustained any disability resulting thevefrom. T regard the ecse av eovered
by pension. The elaim must, accordingly, be disallowed.

TRROL M. MceDOUGALL,
Orrawy, December 27, 1932, Commissioner,

CASE 2612—ALEXANDER PATERSON GRAY

Claimant was a Sapper in the 2nd Canadian Tunnelling Company—Regi-
mental No. 503,217, e enlisted October 9, 1915, at the age of 28 years, and wis
taken prisoner June 2, 1916, unwounded. ITe was repatriated to England Decem-
her 9, 1918, He is in receipt of a 40 per cent disability pension, amounting to
840 per :nonth based on impotence. e was married a second time in September
1927 and has no children. Prior to enlistment, he was employed as a blacksmith.
ecarning about $1,200 per annum, and is now following the same trade but also
docs acetylene welding. He carns up to 81,800 per annum.

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which has
resulted in pecuniary damage to him. Ile complaing of an injury to the external
genitals due to being eaught in an electrie drill while working as a prisoner.
He underwent operations without anaesthetic, and complains also of confinement
on bread and water and foreed labony while ill,

An analysis of the evidenee revenls:—

Claimant was first taken to Dulmen, snd, after two months, was removed
to Duishurg, where he remained nine months. e reeeived confinement to cells
for refusing to work. With another prisoner he was placed in charge of an electric
drill, and, being unfamiliar with the work, an accident oceurred when the drill
caught in a cable, came up and injured his testicles. He was in hospital five
months following this accident and was operated on, partly without anaesthetic.
He was left helpless, without attention, all night, unable to get up, and when
convalescent an orderly tried to make him carry stretcher cases but was stopped
and rebuked by the surgeon in charge. Upon recovery he was sent to Munster
No. 3 and reported sick several times but was sent back to work.

Thero is no medieal evidenee of record, not cven the usual certificate of a
physician. Claimant's medieal history files relate to the condition of impotence.
fcr which he is in reeeipt of pension.
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The accident of which claimant complains may have been due to the eare-
lessness of the authorities in putting green men to handle drills, but I do not
think it can be regarded as maltreatment. Everything possible appears to have
heen done for claimant after the accident, though the treatment was rough, 1
consider that elaimart’s restoration to pension covers his case. As far as this
Commission is conceined elaimant has not discharged the burden of show'ing a
present disability resulting from maltreatment. The elaim must, accordingly.
he disallowed. 7 7

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

Commussioner.
Orrawa, December 28, 1932,

CASE 2529—ALEXANDER EDWARD GREEN

Claimant was o Lance Corporal in the 50th Battalion—Regimental No.
1446201, 1le enlisted April 27, 1915, at the age of 21 years and was faken prisoner
November 19, 1916, unwounded.  He was repatriated to England in November
1918. He ix not in reeeipt of pension, was married in January 1923 and has two
children.  Prior to enlistment, he lived with his people on a farm and is now farm-
ing for himself,

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which has
re<ulted in peeuniory damage to him. He complains of being foreed to work
behind the lines, beaten, had his nose broken and ribs eracked and a twisted
cartilage in the knee,

An analysiz of the evidenee reveals:—-

Claimant was fir: t held at work behind the lines, under shell-fire, and reccived
a beating with a rifle in attempting to seize o pumpkin by the roadside. He sus-
tamed a twisted knee due to a small truck tipping from the rails on top of him.
and went to hospital. At Minden, he received a beating and 48 hours' dark cells.
He received another beating for Leing late for worning eall.  This was adminis-
teved by rife butts and he sustained a broken nese and eracked ribs. He received
no medieal treatment for these injurics.  He remained at this camp uatil the end
and states that hix knee still troubles him but admits the injury was due to
aceident., : '

No medieal evilenee was addueed at the hearing, the vecord consistin
of two certificates by Dr. AL (. Greenaway, indicating a partial dislocation o
cartilage of the knee which condition repeats frequently, and dysentery.  The
disability i< fixed at from 20 per cent to.25 per cent. A further certificate by
the same physician indieates nervous irritabifity and recurrent attacks of dysen-
tery. Claimant’s medieal history files show notning unusual. He was apparently
discharged as fit,

I have been in some doubt as to this case.  Claimant testifies that he worked
for from four to six nonths behind the German lines when he was captured, in
1916.  This is most unusual, beeause, from official records, it was much later
that the Germans resorted to this form of punishment for prisoners. Again, in his
statement of elaim he deelares he worked behind the lines from November 20,
1916, to February 1917, which i< not four months. Claimant has shown very
minor disability as a result of his experiences, diffeving in this from other
jwisoners who were held behind the lines. On the whole, T cannot resolve the
doubt in claimant’s favour.and must leave him to sueh other recourses as may be
open to him. The claim fails and must be disallowed.,

- ERROL M. \IcDOUGALL,

Commisstoner.
Orrawy, January 20, 1933,
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CASE 2757—DAVID TUDOR GRIFFITHS

Claimant was a Lance Corporal in the 8th Battalion—Regimental No, 1103,
He enlisted ir. August 1914, at the age of 31 years (he was possibly 34 as he gave
his= date of birth as May 1880, upon attestation), and was taken prisoner April
24, 1915, during the second battle of Ypres, suffering from gunshot wounds in
the right leg, index finger left hand, lower abdomen and left leg. He was
released through Holland October 6, 1916. He is in receipt of an 100 per cent
disability pension, amounting to $104.50 per month, based on amputation at the
right thigh, duodenal uleer and pulmonary tuberculosis. He was married in
February 1919 and has no children. Prior to enlistment, he was emploved as a
grain buyer, at $120 per month and is now a clerk, at $100 per month.

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjeeted to maltreatment which has
resulted in peeuniary damage to him. He complains of improper medical treat-
ment of wounds, causing amputation, and loss of property taken by his captors
to the value of $171.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—- .

Claimant states lie had his wateh and other valuables taken after eapture.
Moved fram a Belgian hospital, claimant was carried in a railway truck to
Hoffjager, Magdeburg, where, he states, he was thrown from the carriage window
to the platform.  In hospital, he claims his wound was not treated, bandages were
searce and no splints were applied to his leg. He describes one feature of his
treatment thus: “They could not afford to put a cast ox it, and they nailed it to
a board.” (This refers to his knee). He remained here for nine months and
asserts that he was threatened with shooting as a reprisal. Next, taken to
Aachen, he was examined by the Swiss Commissi.n but was held back for further
operations and alleges that his eondition was so disgraceful from a surgical stand-
point that they were ashamed to transfer him. The burden of his whole complaint
IE th;lt lllnd he received proper treatment in German hospitals, he would not have
lost his leg. . .

The military file contains a statement by claimant after repatriation
which does not agree in many particulars with the story as now told. He has no
complaints of the doctors, except one, whom, he states, was no good, but says
instances of neglect can only be charged to understrappers and orderlies. The
conditions at Aachen, he =._=. were infinitely better than at Magdeburg. No
medical testimony was adduced at the hearing, the reeord consisting of lengthy
military reports on file and n certifiente by Dr. C. W. Burns indicating the loss
of the right leg at the mid-thigh, He states that the leg was never attended
properly and there is gross deformity and shortening. He fixes the disability
at- 100 per cent. As instances of the discrepancies between the two stories, claim-
ant says nothing, upon repatriation, of being thrawn from the railway carriage
window, nor does he mention the * nailing " of his leg to a board as part of his
treatment. In all he appears ta have had eleven operations in Germany, and,
with the exreption of one surgeon, expresses himself as satisfied with his treat-
ment., : , :
In this state of the record, having regard to the difficulty we have in arviving
at a correct statement of the facts, the discrepancies between claimant’s two
stories cannot be overlooked. T cannot help but be impressed with the incon-
sisteneies and I am constrained to find that claimant has not made out a ease
of malpractice on the part of the German surgeons. If neglect there was, I
consider that it cannot be regarded as maltreatment, but must be put down, at
worst, to error of judgment. ‘The claim for loss of property cannot be allowed,
for want of corroboration. On the whole, T find that claimant’s pension avard
vovers the ease and that, before this Commission, the claim fails and must be

disallowed. "ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

Orrawa, Jenuary 10, 1933. : Commussioner.
810858
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CASE 2685—JOHN HENRY HARRISON

Clahinant was # Private in the 7th Battalion—Regimental No. 23398. Hec
enlisted in Augu-t 1914, sy the agze of 18 years, and was taken prisoner April 22
1915, at the gccond battde of Ypres clightly wounded in the right arm and
suffering from gas. He was repatriated to England in November 1918. He is not
in reccipt of pension but hias an application pending.  He is married and has fou
children, Prior i, enlistment, he was a miner, earning $1,800 per annum, and i-
now a elerk with the Consolidated Mining and Smelting Company, earning
2200 per-zaonth. ) )

He alleges that while a prisoner hie was subjected to maltreatment which ha-
resufted in pecuniary damage to biro. He complains of bodily violence when
struck in the back with a rifle, general abuse and brutality for being regarded a-
o malingerer and now suffers from nervous disorders.

An analvzis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant was first taken to Giessen camp and has no complaints of his treat-
ment, there.  Removed to a chemical factory at Wohlgelegen (sic), Mannheim.
where he remained for three years, he complains of the he .y work in his weakened
condition. He was struck in the back with the butt of « rifle, while leaning over
wheeling a barrow, and further struck by the guards for being unable to work, and
was forced back to the task. On another oceasion, still unable to work, claimant
was thrown from a truck, a drop of four or five feet, by a guard, and later thrown
from an upper bunk for the same reason. Though he reported sick the doctor
would not listen to him and he was compelled to continue work. He was
denied any hospital treatment and except for. o short time at Mannheim, at the
end of the war, spent all his time at the chemical works referred to. To these

experiences clnimant attributes nervous disorders. A fellow prisoner (Goseltine):

hag testified that claimant seemed to be_picked on by che guards and corro-
borates the incident of the blow when elaimant was wheeling a barrow. Other
certifientes have been filed attesting to the rough treatment received by claimant.

The medical record indicates that claimant suffers from  nervous irrita-
bility—ideas of persecution, loss of appetite developed in 1930 (September)”
but with complete -ecovery. His percentage of disability is stated by Dr.
Haszard at from 30 per cent to 50 per cent on the ground of psychosis. Dr.
C. L. Willinms also ccrtifies to n condition of psychoncurosis which appears to
have been particularly marked in 1928, when he was advised to take a holiday.
which he did.  Claimant’s medical history files show nothing unusual. He was
apparently discharged as fit.

This case presents features of a nervous or mental condition which it is
diflicult to estimate, It is significant that no physical disability appears to have
resulted from the blows and abuse referred to. The strain and duress of his experi-
ences seem to have preved upon elaimant’s mind to such an extent that in 1928 he
developed a mental or nervous state— largely indueed by brooding over his real
or imaginary grievances—which incapacitated him.  While he was roughly
treated as a prisoner, 1 do not, think that the record justifies a finding that he has
proven the conneetion between his present condition and sauitreatment at the
hands of the enemy. I regard his ease as one for the consideration of the Board
of Penzion Commissioners. Before this commission the claim fails and must be

disallowed.
‘ ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Commissioner,

Opsamlanuary 8, 10337
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CASE 2571—VICTOR BENJAMIN HAWKINS

Claimant was a Corporal in the Fort Garry Horse—Regimental No. 118068,
He enlisted February 1, 1915, at the age of 27 years and wae wuken prisoner
November 20, 1917, at Fresnoy, unwounded. He was repatriated to Engiuadl,
November 30, 1918. He is not in receipt of pension, and is unmarried. Prior to
enlistment, he was engaged in farming, earning $160 per month, and has resumed
that occupation but asserts he is merely existing,

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which
has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He does not set out any particulars of
complaint in his declaration form. :

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

First taken to Munster, where he remained six months, he has no complaints,
except as to'the food. He was then sent to Dulmen, where he spent the remainder
of his period of eaptivity. He seems to have suffered no brutality or ill treat-
ment here and was given light work in looking after Red Cross parcels. Hir
complaint is that due to close confinement and bad food his health has suffered.

The medical record consists of a certificate by Dr. S. McFarlane, of Carbon.
‘Alta., who finds claimax’, suffering with varicose veins and myalgia and states
that patient scems to lic riervous and irritable. The military medical examination,
upon discharge, notes * all systems normal.”

There is ns evidence of maltreatment in the record. Claimant appears to
have been particularly fortunate as a prisoner. The fact that he does not feel
as well now as he did before the war, which he attributes to the poor food
received ard confinement to barracks, does not meet the requirements entitling
claimant to an award. The claim should never have hren presented before this

(‘ommission. It must ve disallowed.
ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

Commissioner.
Orrawa, December 22, 1932,

CASE 2749—CAMPBELL STUART HAY

Claimant was a Private in the 8th Battalion—Regimental No. 21372. He
enlisted in August, 1914, ut the age of 27 years and was taken prisoner April 24,
1915, unwounded but gassed. He was repatriated to England November 23,
1918, He is in reccipt of a 40 per cent disability pension, although he stated at
the hearing that he was not. The military records indicate constitutional
psychopathic state, anxicty neurosis, dupuytrens contraction and heart trouble.
He was married in 1924 but, i3 separated from his wife and is supporting a child.
Priar to enlistment, he wa~ employed as a dyer, earning up to $18 per week and
is now similarly employed working on commission, earning at most $20 per week.

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which has
resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of a blow in the face with
a rifle butt causing the loss of teeth, and that he had a finger broken.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant spent his period of captivity at Munster, Senne lager, Minden an.d
Friederichsfeld camps. At Munster, he received the blow which knocked out his
teeth and thinks it was administered because he was smoking a cigareite. At
Senne lager, while engaged in road building, he was struck on the hand by a
rock thrown by a guard, resulting in a broken finger. He states that the camp
doctor attended to the finger. He was sent to a coal mine attached to Friede-
richsfeld (Westerholt) where he remained about 14 months. For an attempt to
escape, he waz beaten and given the usual solitary confinement. Here, he was

610858}
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tuken ill with dysentery but was refused medical attention. He was given long
periods of standing to attention on Sundays and in general doseribes ll.lS experi-
ences at Westerholt az-a continued round of brutality from start to finish.

‘The medical record consists of a certificate by Dr. A, E. Talbot, of Calgary,
which certifies that he treated the elaimant at intervals since 1924 and finds him
suffering from general debility, indigestion, haemorrhoids, conlstipntlon and pal-
pitation of the heart. He also notes the loss of teeth and the injury to the right
hand. His pereentage of disability is stated at from 50 per cent to 100 per cent.

Claimant’s story as told to the Commission would indicate very harsh treat-
ment.  But his earlier statements made upon medical examinations do not coin-
¢ide with his testimony. Thus, he stated on one oceasion that he had 7 months
and on another that he had 3 months in the coal mines. Again, it appears from

“clnimant’s records that he had 9 teeth extracted in 1919 and the remainder in
December, 1920. These contradictions cannot be overlooked and T am inelined to
think that claimant’s testimony cannot be fully accepted. Whatever claim he
may have is properly a matter for the Board of Pension Commissioners. Before
this Commission, the claim fails and must be disallowed.

ERROI M. McDOUGALL,

Commissioner.
Orrawa, December 21, 1932 :

CASE 2408—HENRY VICTOR HEAVER

Claimant was a Private in the 1st C.MR.—Regimental No. 117068. He
cnlisted in December, 1914, at the age of 24 years and was taken prisoner June
2, 1916, suffering with gunshot wounds in the back, both hands, legs, right knee
and scalp. He was invalided to Holland in April, 1918, and reached England
in November of that year. He is in receipt of a 40 per cent disability pension,
amounting to 830 per month, based on the wound in the right hand, and tuber-
culosis.  He is unmarried. Prior to enlistment, he was engaged in farming but
is unable to state his earnings and now he is operating 'a farm with another man.

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which
hus resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of starvation, of being

heaten, that he was given solitary confinement and poisoned by gas while work-
mg on coke ovens. :

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

After being attended for his wounds at Courtrai, claimant was taken to
Duisburg hospital, where he has no complaints; thence to Dulmen, where the
only complaint is as to the food. Sent out on a working party, he attempted to
cseape, was recaptured, and received three weeks confinement to cells on bread
and water. He was next sent to Burgsteinfurt, where he underwent long hours
of labour, standing to attention and parcels were withheld. He was then returned
to a factory at Duisburg, working on the coke ovens. The gas aftected him and
he was finally invalided to Holland,

The medical record consists of a certificate from Dr. J. S. Murray, who did
not appear hefore the Commission, indicating chronic cholecystitis and dis-
ability in right and left hands. The disability is stated at from 50 per cent to 65
per cent. Claimant’s medical history files relate to his service wounds, with some
indication of tubereulosis in left wrist,

Claimant’s complaints arc of a general character and refer chiefly to mal-
nutrition and heavy labour to which he was subjected. I do not think it can be
said that his present disabilities are attributable to any particular maltreatment
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by the enemy. He has thus failed to discharge the burden of showing a present
disamiity resulting from maltreatment. I regard his case as one for the con-
sideration of the Board of Pension Commissioners. As far as this Commission
i3 concerned, the elaim fails and must be disallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

Commissioner,
Orrawy, Deecember 27, 1932,

CASE 2679—THOMAS RICHARD HOBBS

Claimant was a Sergeant (though he declares he was a Private when cap-
tured) in the 43rd Cameron Highlanders of Canada—Regimental No. 234750.

He enlisted April 14, 1916, at the age of 27 years and was taken prisoner Mareh .

29. 1918, unwounded. He was repatriated to England December 27, 1918. He
is not in receipt of pension, was married in April, 1922, and has four children.
Prior to enlistment, he was engaged in farming and is now an implement, denler
on a commission basis.

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which
has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of starvation and
nervous disorders due to his treatment.

An analysis ¢f the evidence reveals:— _

Claimant seems to have passcd through Douai, Denain, Conde, Marchiennes,
Parchim and Springhurst during his nine monthe captivity. He states that he
eseaped brutality, was not forced to wark and that starvation fo.ms the main
basis of complaint. He is now extremely nervovs and suffers periodic nervous
breakdowns,

No medeal evidence was adduced at the time of (he hearing, the record
consisting of a certificate by Dr. D. A. McKay, who indicates that claimant
suffered no. actual bodily injury, only wenkened nervous condition caused by
stervation and the mental anguish suffered while a prisoner. He fixes the
disability at from 25 per cent to 100 per cent according to working conditions.
Two declarations by acquaintances arc filed, testifying to claimant’s present
nervous condition.  Claimant’s medical history files show nothing unusual. He
was apparently discharged as fit. )

Claimant has evidently misapprehended the scope of this Commission's
activities, The record discloses what may or may not be a case for pension.
It does not show any disability resulting from maltreatment. Privation is
stated to be the cause of claimant’s present ailments. Such ground does not
constitute a good basis of claim for reparations (See Opinion annexed to my
carlier report upon maltreatment cases). The claim fails and must be dis-

allowed.

o ERROY M, McDOUGALIL,
Commisstoner,

Orrawa, January 10, 1933.

CASE 2802—CHARLES HENRY HOPKINS

Claimant was a Private in the 3rd Battalion—Regimental No. 1?6311. He
enlisted September 11, 1915, at the age-of 22 years and was taken prisoner Ju'ne
13, 1916, suffering from gun-shot wounds in_the left arm and chest. He was
repatriated to England January 25, 1919. He is not in receipt of pension but
received a gratuity of $25 for an injury to the third. finger on the right hand. _
He was married in December, 1919, and has two children.  Prior to enlistment,
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he was employed as a railway brakeman, earning 70 per month, and followed
this oceupation sinee discharge, earning up to $170 per month. Hec is laid off at
present. .

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which
has resulted in pecuniary damage to him.  He complains of starvation, exposure
and heing beaten.

An analysis of the evidenee reveals:—

After several days in Julich hospital, elaimant was removed to Stendal, and,
in March, 1917, was transferred to Wittenberg, on farm work, From there he
went successively to Quedlinburg, Halberstadt and Altengrabow. 1In May, 1918,
the prisoners went on strike and in the melee which ensued he struck a sentry
in defending himself from blows from a rifle. e was taken for court-martial
but the Armistice intervened. He states also that about November 4, 1918, he
received a beating with rifle butts and sustained broken ribs.

The medical record consists of a certificate by Dr. &, J. Stott indicating
myocardial disease, loss of vitality, neuritis and permanent stiffness in the
joint of the 4th finger of the vight hand. He rates the disability at 4 per cent.
Dr. Stott did not appear before the Commission. Claimant’s medical history
filex show nothing unusual, apart from his serviee wounds.

The claimant states that whilst a prisoner he was on light duty all the
time owing to his wounds, and that since his discharge he has never had anv
medical treditment. Under the circumstances elaimant has failed to establish
that he sufiered any maltreatment which would oceasion disability. Claimant’s
recourse, if any, is before the Board of Pension Commissioners. Before this
Commis¢ion, the elaim fails and must be disallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

, Commissioner,
Orrawa, January 24, 1933,

CASE 2725—FRANK HUBBARD

Claimant ‘was a Lance Corporal in the 15th Battalion—Regimental No.
27483. Hec cnlisted in August, 1914, at the age of 23 years and was taken
prisoner April 24, 1915, during the sccond battle of Ypres, unwounded but
suffering from gas.  He was exchanged to Holland in March, 1418, and reached
Ingland in November of that year. He is not in receipt of pension, was
married in February, 1919, and has one child. Prior to cnlistment, he was
cmployed as a salesman, ut $15 per week, and is now following the same oceu-
pation, at $30.per week.

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which has
resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of bad food, neglect and
lack of treatment for his feet.

An analysis of the cvidence reveals:—

Claimant spent about a vear and a half at Gottingen camp as to which
he has no complaints, apart from the food. Sent to Langensalza, he was placed
in the lumber camps, where he attempted to eseape and got the usual two weeks
solitary confinement. He made subsequent similar attempts and received the
usunl punishment.  His toe beeame infected ; treatment was at first refused, was
later given, but the condition had progressed so far that the treatment was
ineffective.  He spent the balance of his period of captivity at Cassel, and has
no compluints, ’

The medical record consists of a report by Dr. E. R. Selby,-indicating that
claimant suffers from chronic bronchitis, internal haemorrhoids and constipa-
tion; has varicose veins and deformed great toes. His pereentage of disability
is stated at from 20 per cent to 40 per cent.
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Claimant does not appear to have encountered particularly rough treat-
ment. The condition of his toes, if constituting disability, has not been shown
to he the result of maltreatment. His other ailments are quite general and are
probably the sequel to general conditions of camp life in Germany. I do not
consider that claimant has discharged the burden of showing a present disability
resulting from maltreatment. His recourse, if any, is elsewhere. The claim,
accordingly, fails and must be disallowed.

ERR.QL M. McDOUGALL,
) Commissioner.
(rrawa, December 21, 1932,

CASE 1981—FELLIS D. HUGHES

Notice of claim was received by letter from claimant, dated January 1,
1931. Claimant was a Private in the Second Battalion—Regimental No. 7981,
who enlisted in August, 1814, and was taken prisoner April 24, 1915, during the
<«ceond battle of Ypres, unwounded. He is in receipt of a 13 per cent disability
pension, based on the loss of his left eye, due to an accident in Germany.

His claim is based on medical nieglect causing the loss of the eye. Claimant
Jid not complete the usual declaration forms, and when notified to appear at
Toronto, on Aprii™13,71931, he did not do so, and advised by letter, dated
November 12, 1931, that he did not wish to press his claim. He reiterated his
intention of abandoning claim by letter dated February 24, 1932, :

The claim is therefore dismissed for lack of proseccution.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Commissioncer.
Ortawa, January 23, 1933. '

CASE 2152—SYDNEY A. HUSTWITT

Notice of claim was received from the above named clai:qant in June, 1931
The usual documents of claim were sent him for completion, but have never been
returned. There is thus no information concerning the claim of record. Claimant
was notified to appear before the Commission at its sittings, in Toronto, on
December 7, 1932, but failed to appear. He wrote advising that he wished to
withdraw the elaim. The claim ig, accordingly, dizallowed for want of prosecu-

tion,
ERRCL M. McDOUGALL,
Commisstoner.
Orrawa, December 28, 1932,

CASE 2788—GEORGE RUTCHINSON

Claimant was a Private in the 4th C.M.R.—Regimental No. 113312. -He
enlisted on March 29, 1915, at the age of 38 years, and was teken prisoner June
2, 1916, unwounded. He was repatriated to England December 5, 1918. He is
in receipt of a 15 per cent disability pension, amounting to $15 per month, based
on chronic bronchitis, He was married in June, 1898, and has four children,
all of age. Prior to enlistment, he was employed as foreman with the Canadian
Canoe Company, earning $15.25 per week, and followed his trade with the Cance
Company until January, 1932, at $22.50 per week, and since that date has been
doing odd jobs.
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He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which
has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of !mrd labour in a
gas factory without protection from the fumes, exposure, confinement and bad
food.

The record indicates that claimant was first taken to Munster, then to
Duisburg, where he worked at carpentry for a month and was then placed in
a gas making factory, to attend furnaces. Here, he states, the fumes were
overpowering and that he was not supplied with a respirator as were the civilian
employees. He contracted bronehitis but was forced to carry on until he col-
lapsed;- was allowed to remain in his bunk for two weeks and then attempted
to escape. He was captured and cuestioned by German officers and was stripped
naked and sentenced to stand on a brick for three hours, He collapsed after
two hours and was placed in the cells for 28 davs on bread and water. He was
then returned to the gas works and made to work an extra three hours per day.
was subjected to blows with rifle butts on the shins and still carries scars. In
November, 1917, he made another attempt to escape and got a further sentence
of 28 days confinement. After serving this zentence he was not further -
treated.

The medical record consists of a certificate by Dr. S. Walsh, indicating
inflamed tonsils and general congestion in the throat, lung disorders due to
exposure to gas. He fixes the percentage of disability at from 60 per cent to
80 per cent. A certificate by Dr. Hanson is also filed, who diagnoses claimant’s
disability as chronic bronchitis and associated tachycardia., Claimant’s medieal
history files show the condition of bronchitis referred to, for which he is in
receipt of pension, ' , ‘

T regard claimant’s ease as purely pensionable in nature, The condition of
bronehitis from which he now suffers is occupitional in origin, and I cannot say,
from the reeord, that it has been shown to result from maltreatment. It may
be due to the carelessness of his guards in putting him at. dangerous work with-
out proper protective devices, but T do not regard such treatment as active
maltreatement. Claimant’s recourse, in my opinion, is properly hefore the Board
of Pension Commissioners. Before this Commission, the claim fails and must be
disallowed. '

ERROIL M. McDOUGALL,

Commissioner.
Orrawa, January 23, 1933.

CASE 2770—ROBER'T IRVING

Claimant was a Private in the 13th Battalion—Regimental No. 25089. He
enlisted in August, 1914, at the age of 26 years and was taken prisoner Apnil
24, 1915, during the second battle of Ypres, suffering from gunshot wound in
the left thigh and gas. He was repatriated to England December 2, 1918, He
is in receipt of a 100 per cent disability pension, amounting to $127 per month,
based on bronchiectasis and the wounded thigh. He was married in September,
1919, and has two children.  Prior to enlistment, he was employed as a railway
clerk, at $50 per month and after discharge reswmned his former occupation but
had to resign in June, 1931, due to ill-health.

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which
has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of being forced to
work while unfit and suffering with haemorrhages.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant remained in hospital at Paderborn for a year and a half and was
then sent to Sennelager and thence to Staumuhl (sic). In May, 1017, he was
sent to a stone quarry at Lethame (sic) expecting to be transferred to Switzer-
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land. Instead, he was turned out for work and in two days had a scvere
haemorrhage and was returned to Minden. He was next sent to work at an
incinerator at Berman (sic)” hut was unable to work due to continued cough
and expectorating blood. Sent to Dulmen, and placed on a farm, the same thing
occurred and he was finally returned to Friederichsfeld where he remained as
an officer’s servant. He finished his period of captivity at another officer’s camp
in Graudenz, His complaint is summarized by exposure, efforts to make him
work when his illness demanded complete rest, and negleet of his obvious con-
dition evidenced by haemorrhages. A letter is filed written by an association
supplying invalids’ comforts to prisoners of war, addressed to the Senior British
Officer interned at Graudenz asking that Scott’s Emulsion be procured for the
claimant to relieve his conditions.

No medical testimony was adduced at the hearing and no certificate filed,
claimant relying on his pension file (which is complete) as to his medical
history'.

Claimant himself attributes the inception ol his chest condition to the
chlorine gas which he received when captured and I think he is probably right
as to this. The record does not disclose active maltreatment whilst a prisoner
which would be apt to have the result noted or to aggravate an existing ailment.
Having regard to all the circumstances, I consider that claimant’s case is purely
one for the consideration of the Board of Pension Commissioners, Before this
Commission, the claim fails and must be disallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

- Commissioner.
OTTAWA, January 10, 1933.

CASE 2653—DAVID ADAMN JACK

The claimant was an Imperial soldier, a Private in the Cameron High-
tanders—Regimental No. 21381, He first came to Canada to reside in 1921.
He enlisted in November, 1915, and was taken prisoner on March 28, 1918,
unwounded. He was repatriated. to England in November, 1918, He is in
receipt of an Imperial pension, amounting to 7/6 per week. He is unmarried.
Prior to enlistment, claimant was a school boy. He is now a cook, on the fishery
patrol, earning $80 per month, ‘

It was explained to claimant. at the hearing that, as he had not srerved
with a Canadian Unit and had come to Canada in 1921 only, this Commission
is without jurisdiction to entertain his claim. It is only in the case of Imperial
soldiers who hecame resident in Canada previous to January 10, 1920, date of
the ratification of the Treaty of Versailles, that this Commission may act (See
Opinion annexed to my earlier Report upon maltreatment cases). Reserving,
therefore, to claimant all his recourses, and without deciding the case upon its
merits, I am compelled to disallow it before this Conimission.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

Commissioner,
Otrawa, January 4, 1933.

CASE 2584—FRANK JAMES

Claimant was a Private in the 31st Battalion—Regimental No. 434112.
He enlisted December 31, 1914, at the age of 23 years and was taken prisoner
March 7, 1916, unwounded. He was exchanged to Ssyltgzerlund_ in July, 1918,
and reached England in December of that year. He is in receipt of a 10 per
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cent disability pension, amounting to $7.50 per month, based on chronic
bronehitis. He is unmarried.  Prior to enlistment, he was employed as s brick-
sctter, earning fifty cents an hour and after discharge was unable to follow his
rade and did odd jobs.

He alleges that while a prisoner he wae subjected to maltreatment which
has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of confinement, starva-
tion diet, and beating:.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant was at Gicssen for over a vear, when he took ill in December,
1917, with a cold. Instead of being given treatment, he was placed in solitary
confinement on bread and water.  He was sent. to hospital later and transferred
to Sprottau, where he spent the remainder of his period of eaptivity, in hospital.
He allegzes that, had he been given prompt treatment for his illness, he would
not now he suffering with bronchitis,

The medical record consists of a certificate of Dr.—(Doctor’s name
indecipherable), indicating that claimant suffers with chronie bronchitis, pul-
monary tubereulosis and pharyngitis.  The percentage of disability is stated at
ten per cent. He received hospital treatment in England upon repatriation.
Claimant’s medical history files show nothing unusual and refer to the bronchial
condition, for which he receives pension.

The evidence of maltreatment is neither strong nor convincing. Claimant
vaguely contends that had he been properly treated for a cold, which he con-
tracted in Germany, he would not now suffer from a chest condition. He was
exposed to no particular bratality und tclls a confused story of his experiences
in Germany. He has quite misapprehended the scope of this Commission’s
setivities.  Whatever claim he may have is a matter for the Board of Pension
Commissioners.  Before this Commission. the claim fails and must be dis-

allowed,
ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

) Commissioner.
O1TAWA, December 22, 1932.

CASE 2690—WILLIAM JENNION

Claimant was a Corporal in the 4th C.ML.R.—Regimental No. 109416. He
cnlisted in November, 1914, at the age of 22 vearg, and was taken prisoner June
2, 1916, wounded in the right shoulder, right thigh, right leg and left arm. He
was repatriated from Germany on May 7, 1918. He is not in receipt of pension,
but has an application pending. He is unmarried. Prior to enlistment, claim-
ant was a structural steel draughtsman, carning 80 per month. He is now an
clectrician, and, when working, earns $1 per hour,

Claimant alleges that while a prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreat-
ment which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains generally

“;T ]ntqk of medical ireatment and bad food, resulting in stomach and bladder
affections.

An amlysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant was first taken to Courtrai, where his wounds were attended.
Removed to hospital at Duishurg, where he remained two months, the treatment
was fair. He complains that he was discharged before his wounds had healed
and was sent to Friederichsfeld and was denied an examination by the Swiss
Coriraission.  Sent then to Crossen (sic), followed by Kotthuss, he complains
only of the food a- the latter camp. After a few days at Merzdorf, he was con-
fined in hnts for n» apparent reason; thence back to Kottbuss where he received
further confinement At Huseppe (sic), where claimant spent 8 year, he
suffered from dysentery and cystiis, due to the exposure in the wet and co'd
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and received no medical attention. He was not beaten but was made to stand
o attention in the wet snow for failing to go out on work. He completed his
period of eaptivity in Hameln without incident. As a result of these experiences
he complains of his stoach, heart and nerves. ’

The medical evidence indicates that claimant suffered frem, “persistent
-vmptoms of gastric and intestinal indigestion up to November. 1528. Msdical
(reatment from November, 1928, to November, 1930, when he was operated
upon for duodenal ulcer. Condition much improved since operation. Tendencies
wr eystitis with repeated attacks.” Dr. L. C. Skeels, who certifies to the fore-
eoing, does not find claimant suffering from any permanent disability and finds
hi= condition vastly improved. Claimant’s medical history files show nothing
unusual, '

From the foregoing review of the evidence, it @ clear that claimant now
.uffers very little disability which can be ascribed to maltreatment whilst a
prisoner of war. For reasons which have been explained in general opinion
annexed to my carlier report on maltreatment eases, injury to health resulting
from the strain and dures. of camp conditions in Germany cannot be said to
have been caused by maltreatment. On the whole, the elaimant has failed to
Jdischarge the burden resting upon him. The claim accordingly, fails and must

he disallowed. ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Orrawa, Jonuary 13, 1933. Commissioner.

CASE 2714—ERNEST J. JOEL

“Claimant was a private in the 4th C. M. R—Recgimental No. 405318. He
enlisted in August, 1915, at the age of 21 years, and was taken prisoner June
2, 1916, wounded in the right knee.  He was transferred to Switzerland, as
medically unfit, in December, 1916. He is in receipt of a 45 per cent disability
pension, amounting to $67.25 per month, based upon his knee injury. Claimant
i« married and has five children. . Prior to enlistment, he was a chauffeur, earn-
ing $12 per week, He is now a motorman with the Toronto Transportation
(‘ompany, earning 50 cents per hour. :

Claimant alleges that while a prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreat-
ment which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of
aggravated injury to his knee thiough inadequate medical attention and that
Iie toes were injured through carelessness in hospital.

An ‘analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant was a prisoner for about six months, practically all of ‘which
time he spent in hospital at Julich. After a preliminary field dressing, though
hadly wounded in the knee, claimant was prodded with bayoncts into walking
back to a hospital behind the lines. At Julich, he underwent 7 operations to
lis knee and does not suggest that there was any neglect in regard thereto, hut
declares that he has developed- hammer toes, due to the failure of the hospital
authoritics in not providing & cage or net to keep the weight of the bed clothes
off his toes. His complaint of maltreatment is confined to this treatment.

There is no medical evidence of record and it is searcely likely that there
would be in the circumstances. Claimant’s medical history files relate to his
«crvice wounds with some reference to partial ankylosis of the right great toe.

Claimant’s complaint of disability to his toes, for the reason stated, is
anything but convincing. He appears to have received fair treatmenc as o
prisoner and his alleged disability, even if proven, could hardly be said to be
the result of maltreatment. I regard claimant’s case 8s cntirely covered by
pension.  The claim, accordingly, fails and must be disallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALIL,

Otrawa, January 13, 1933. Commissioner.
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CASE 2713—JOHN MANNERS JOHNSON

Claimant was a Lance-Corporal in the 58th Battalion—Regimental No.
452602. He cnlisted in July, 1915, at the age of 22 years, and was taken
prisoner on October 8, 1916, wounded in the left leg, below the knve. He was
repatriated, vin Holland, in January, 1918, He is in receipt of a 65 per cent

disability pension, amounting to $48.75 per month, based upon the loss of his

left leg. He is married and ha- three children. Prior to enlistment, elaimant
was doing general labour, carning very little. He is now emploved by th-
Department of Pensions and National Health, making artificial limbs and
earns about $133 per month.

Claimant alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of brutal treat-
ment in hospital and that his leg was unnceessarily removed above the knee,
and had he had proper treatment the leg might have been saved.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant encountered rough treatment whilst being taken back behind the
lines and declares that he was kicked and maltreated. At a dressing station,
he received no treatment and reached Cambrai several days later without
having received any medieal attention. Sent then to Julich hospital, he
complains of the rough and cruel treatment of the orderlics. He was operated
on five times in hospital and declares that he did not know the leg was to be
removed.  His main complaint is that his leg was amputated, at Trier, one inch
above the knee, when the wound was below the knee, also that had he
received proper attention, amputation might not have been necessary. As to
the actual operation itself, he does not complain—it was well done. Sent to
Aachen, for transfer to Holland, this was denied and he was gent to Langensalza.
While he reccived no brutal treatment here, he complains bitterly of the food,
accommodation in barracks, and lack of medical attention,

The medical evidence indicates that claimant’s left leg is amputated above
the knee. His percentage of disability is stated at 65 per cent. Dr. J, A.
Carson, wha certifies to the foregoing, did not appear before the Commission.
Claimant's medical history files show nothing unusual, apart from the amputated
leg.

The obvious difficulty of showing malpractice is clear in this case. While
his G'eatment may have been rough, there is nothing in the record to show
that the removal of the leg was improper or that it was amputated above the
knee without reason. The inference that because the wound was below the
kunee, the amratation should not nave been performed above, huas not heen
substantiated. 1 regard claimunt’s disability as purely pensionable in nature.
He has failed to establish a present disability resulting from maltreatment.
The claim, accordingly, fails and must be disallowed,

ERROI. M. McDOUGALL,

Commussioner.
Orraws, January 11, 1933.

CASE 2738—LESTER JAMES JOHNSTON

_Claimant was a Private in the 4th CM.R.—Regimental No. 113225, He
enlisted July 31, 1915, at the age of 22 years and was taken prisoner June 2,
1916, unwounded. He was repatriated to England November 23, 1918. He is
not in receipt of pension,” was married % April, 1920, and has four children.
Prior to cnlistment, he was an apprentice cleetrician. carning $9 per week and is
now an electrician, at 40 cents per hour.
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He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which has
resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of trench feet contracted in
the coal mines, injury to the right eve by a blow from a miner’s lamp and
scneral conditions as to food and exposure.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

First at Dulmen, claimant has no complaints except as to the food. At
Minden, he was placed on a farm but he did not work, was returncd to eamp
and moved to Dusseldorf to the coal r.unes, The cenditions were unbearable,
no proper rigging, and working continually in salt water. He contracted trouble
with his feet due to these conditions and is now incapacitated as an electrician
beeause he is unable to climb. He was beaten and confined for an attempted
escape and served in all some 90 days in dark cells and was subjected to three
beatings. Finally he attempted to injure his 9Wir-16g to escape this mine and
was sent to Friederichfeld. He was placed on a farm and was under further
sentence of confinement for attempted cscape when the Armistice was signed.
[e recites an incident of being beaten in the mine and then stru' with a lamp,
leaving a sear over the right eve, hecause he could not understand German.

The medieal record consists of a certificate by Dr. H. G. Smith, who did
not appear before the Commission. He indicates that claimant suffers arthritis
of all the metatarso-phylangial joints of both feet. He fixes the maximum dis-
ability at from 10 per cent to 16 per cent. Claimant’s medical history files show
nothing unusual. He was apparently discharged as fit.

Claimant’s only complaint of disability is as to his feet. which are incapaci-
tated and prevent him from working. The evidence as to the manner in which
this condition arose has not been clearly expiained, nor does the medical evi-
dence satisfy me that this condition results from the cause ascribed. On the
whole, claimant has failed to discharge the burden of showing a present dis-
ability resulting from maltreatment whilst a prisoner. The claim, accordingly,

fails and must be disallowed,
ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

Commissioner,
Otrawva, January 17, 1933.

'CASE 2723—FRANK JOLLINEAU

Claimant was a Private in the 2nd Battalion--Regimental No. 8664. He
enlisted September 23, 1914, at the age of 26 years and was taken prisoner April
24, 1915, during the sccond battle of Ypres, unwounded. He was repatriated to
ingland December 27, 1918. He is not in receipt of pension and is unmarried.
Prior to enlistment, he was emploved as a marine fireman, earning $70 per
month and board and is now unemployed. . _

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which
has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of beatings, long periods
of solitary confinement, bad food and malicious extraction of teeth.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant was sent to Giessen and was i'i in hospital with rheumatic fever
for six weeks. For refusing to work in a copper mine, he was beaten with rifles
and bayonets and given two months’ solitary confinemc..t on bread and water at
Butsbach. He was then court-martialled and served another two months. He
was next sent to Lichtenhorst and placed at road making. He received no parcels
and suffered from weakness due to starvation. Conditions on a farm, where
lic was next confined, were fair but the work was hard. He spent the summer
of 1917 at Pogelmoor, cutiing sod and complains of the food. He completed his
period of captivity at Hanover, where conditins as to food were better. He was
detained in Germany 14 days after the Armistice.
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The medicel record consists of a certificate by Dr. J. P. Xeith, who did
not. appear brjore the Commission. 1t indicates that claimant suffers headaches
and tires essily.  Disability 20 per cent.  Claimant’s medical history files show
nothing wnsual.  He was apparently discharged as fit. ‘

Claimant’s recital of his experiences in Germany does not disclose any
parbieular maltreatment.  His complaint has to do with the effeet upon hi:
health of the poor and inadequate food he received while a ;risoner. As explained
in general opinion annexed to my earlier report on maltre “tment cases, injury
to health from such a cause cannot be regarded as the result of maltreatment.
The charge contained in claimant’s statement of elaim of malicious extraction
of teeth is not mentioned by him in his testimony, Clamant has failed to dis-
charge the burden of showing a present disability resulting from maltreatment.

The claim fails and must be disallowed,
ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
{ommissioner,

Orrawa, January 17, 1933.

CASE 2689—ROBERT WILLIAM JONES

Claimant was a Private in the 3rd Battalion—Regimental No. 201203. He
enlisted on November 12, 1915, at the age of 38 years and was taken prisoner on
Qctober 8, 1916, wounded in the right knee. He was repatriated to England in
November, 1918. He is in receipt of a 40 per cent disability pension, amounting
to 840 per month, based upon his wounds and impairment to hearing. Claimant
is married. Prior to enlistment, he was a decorator, earning 25 cents per hour.
He still follows the same occupation but is presently unemployed.

Claimant alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains that a blow
on the ear has affected his hearing snd that he developed rheumatism due to
exposure while held a captive.

An analysis of the evidenee reveals:—

Claimant was taken to Stettin hospital, where his wounds were attended.
Sent on to Altdamm, claimant worked in a chemical works for the remainder
of his period of captivity, He was hiz by a guard on the side of the face with
the butt of a rifle, which he declares set up a discharge of his ear. The discharge
began about a month after the blow. He confines his complaint to this incident,
but speaks generally of the bad food. )

The medical evidence indicates thet claimant suffers from chronic muscular
rheumatism of right arm and shoulder, and loss of hearing. His percentage
of disability is stated at 50 per cent. Dr. W. A. McClelland, who certifies to the
“foregoing, did not appear before the Commission. Claimant’s medical history
files refer to the wound in the knee and some irepairment in hearing, for which
claimant receives pension.

Claimant rests his ease for reparations upon the ear condition from which
he suffers. I.am informed that the blow on the head to which claimant
ascribes the trouble, would not be likely to have that result, having regard to
the inception of the condiiivn and description thercof given by claimant. The
discharging ear would most probably result from infection. Claimant is under
a misapprchension as to the cause of his trouble. In the circumstances, there-
fore, claimant has failed to establish a present disability resulting from
maltreatment. I regard his case as covered by pension. The claim, accordingly,
fails and must be disallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

Commassioner.
Orrawa, January 14, 1933,
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CASE 2450—CHARLES KAIN |

-Notice of claim was filed on behalf of the above named claimant, but the

- usual documents of claima have never been completed.  From his medieal history

files, he appears’to have enlisted in August, 1915, was taken prisovor on dune
2, 1916, suffering from a sprained back, and repatriated to England on January
4. 1919. A claim for pension would appear to be pending. Cluimant was
notified to appear before the Commission at its Winnipeg sessiong, on September
13, 1932, but failed to do so. His default has remained unexplained. The claim
must, accordingly, be disallowed for want of prosecution.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

Commisstoner.
Orrawa, December 28, 1932

CASE 2480—THOMAS EDWARD KEELE

Claimant was a Private in the 3rd Battalion—Regimental No. 10046, He
enlisted in August, 1914, at the age of 17 years and was taken prisoner April
24, 1915, during the second battle of Ypres, unwounded. He was exchanged
to Holland in May, 1918, and reached Lngland on November 23 of that
vear. He is not now’in receipt of pension but for four years from the time of
discharge received $12.98 per month, hased on heart trouble. He was married
in June, 1926, and has no children. " Prior to enlistment, he was attending school
and is now cmployed as a watchmaker, at €125 per month.

He alleges that while a prisoner he was suljected to maltreatment which
has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of bad food, of a
blow which broke his nose requiring operations, no medical attention and
confinement to celis. :

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant was moved about to various camps, first Giessen {or three
months and next to Elberfeld. Here, he refused to work at unloading shells
and states he spent four months out of six in close confinement. He received
a blow which broke his nose, being hit with a stick and this injury has caused
trouble and requires an operation. He was in hospital for two and one half
months due to debilitv. Upon recovery, he was sent to the stone quarries at
Ronckhausen (sic), where, he states, he was knocked around, underied and
worked about 18 hcurs per day. At Hestenmoor he acquired corporal’s stripes
but at Grossemoor (gic) it was apparently decided that he must work in spite
of his assumed rank and he was placed at stacking peat for almost 20 hours
per -day. He states that he received a bayonet cut at this camp for not
working fast enough and was taken to hospital. 1t is noted that on atrestation

a one inch scar running sbout onc-half inch below the left eye was recorded. -

He went to Hameln and from there was exchanged to Holland. He complains
of stomach trouble, the injury to his nose, and catarrh. .

No medica! evidence was adduced at the hearing, the record consisting
of a certificate by Dr. J. E. C. Henderson, who notes that nasal septum iz
deflected to right spur on left side of septum. Both nostrils obstructed. He
states: “ patient is still working but is annoyed by mouth breathing and
dropping in throat.” He does not cstimate the percentage of disability.
Claimant’s medical history files relate to a heart coudition which may be due
to privation and work while in Germany. The medical certificate above
reierred to makes no mention of this condition, which presumably no longer
exists.
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The coincidence of a sear below the eye upon enlistment, in the position
in which claimant says he was injured while in Germany, may not he signifi-
eant, but it easts come doubt upon the aceuracy of claimant’s st tements. The
nose injury, of which he complains, has not been shown to constitute a serious
dizsability and could probably be relieved by operative treatment. On. the
whole, considering {he evidence, 1 do not consider that claimant has boqn
suecessful in showing a present disability resulting from maltreatment.  His
recourse, if any, is elsewhere,  Before this Commission, the claim fails and
must be disallowed.

ERROL AL McDOUGALL,
Commissioner.
Orrawy, January 11, 1933,

CASE 2407—ARINGO THOMAS KELLY

Claimant was a Private in the 2nd Battalion—Regimental No. 8112. He
enlisted in August, 1914, at the age of 32 years, and was taken prisoner April
24, 1915, during the second battle of Ypres, having been blown up by a shell,
suffering injuries to the head. and face, the big toe in the left foot and the
privates. He was repatriated to England December 19, 1918. He is in receipt
of a 5 per cent disability pension, amounting, in all, to $6.50, based on war
wounds and further consideration is being given to the question of his spinc
injuries and muscular atrophy. His entire disability is fixed at 80 per cent.
He was married September 13, 1919, and has six children. Prior to enlistment,
he was employed as a tool-maker, at $3.20 per day, and since discharge did
light work in a machine shop, averaging $19 per week. Recently was able
to work only part time due to war disabilities and for the past two years has
bear doing nothing.

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which
has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of kicks and blows
while working in a creasote plant; exposure and wet while working in the
moors, also inhuman labour. He collapsed, was later beaten for refusal to
work on munitions, and given solitary confinement.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant spent his period of caplivity in a very great number of German
prison camps. He was at Giessen, Hanau, Saltau, Litehenhorst, Langenmoor,
- Sudediwick, Stuttgart, Heidenheim, Ulm, Billingshach, Heilburn, and Rabel-
shausen. He complains bitterly of the food conditions whilst a prisoner and
refers to Litchenhorst as a very severe camp. Exposure to the weather, without
adequate clothing, he was taken ill at Langenmoor and compelled to work
although unfit. At Sudediwick, he was harnessed to a harrow in place of horses
and made. with otheis, to drag the land. He collopsed and was sent to hospital
and has no particular complaints as to his treatment in hospital, or, later at
another hospital, where he was sent from a farm. For refusing to work at o
munitions factorv, he was beaten and served confinement to cells. Later, at a
farm near Billingsbach, he was taken ill and sent to hospital and does not
complain particularly of his treatment during this period. Claimant suffers
from his hands and back. The hand condition apparently developed for the
fust time in 1930 and consists of a loss of grip and a cramping of the fingers.
The injury to his back apparently dates to the time of his eapture when he was
buried from the explosion of a shell,

'The medical evidence indicates that claimant still suffers from the original
wounds received at ‘ime of capture—kyphosis of dorsal spine and progressive
muscular atrophy. His percentage of disability is estimated at 100 per cent.
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‘Thix information is certified to and taken from his medical history file.— Claim-
ant- has also submitted to a full examination by the medical adviser to the
Commission, Dr. Catheart.

I have had great difficully, in this case, in deciding whether claimant's -

present condition can be aseribed to his treatment in Germany. The claimant

i+ an old soldier, who served in the South African War and must consider that-

the ailments of advancing years will reduce his physical vigour. From a very
careful consideration of the file, I cannot say that claimant has definitely
c<tablished that his present condition results from any act or aets of maltreat-
ment on the part of his captors. I am rather inclined to think that whatever
damage to his health occurred was due to general conditions of camp life in
Germany. The elaimant has thus failed to discharge the burden of showing
« present disability resulting from maltreatment and his claim must be dis-
allowed.
ERROIL M. McDOUGALL,
Commissioner.

O1TAWA, December 16, 1932,

CASE 2678—JOHN KELLY

Claimant was a Private in the 7th Battalion—Regimental No. 16568. He
cnlisted in August, 1914, at the age of 50 years and was taken prisoner April
24, 1915, at the second battle of Ypres, wounded in the right hand and leg.
e was repatriated to England December 27, 1918. He is in receipt of a 10
per cent disability pension, amounting to $10 per month, based upon the injury
to his hand. He is married and has no children. Prior to enlistment, claimant
was a labourer, carning $3.50 a day. He is now working on relicf, clearing
land. -

Claimant alleges that while a prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreat-
ment which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains generally
of rough treatment, poor food, inadequate rest and anxiety.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant’s wounds remained unattended for five days. He spent o month
in Munster hospital. He is not very elear as to the sequence of cvents, but
mentions being made to stand out in the rain for an entirc day, apparently for
refusing to work. He seems to have been at Mulheim and Hollick (sic), but
without particular incident. At Hestenmoor, he complains that a farmer, for
whom he was working, let a log fall off a waggon, pinning him to the ground
and causing fracture of three ribs. IIe reccived practically no medical atten-
tion for the injury and still suffers therei~om.

The medical record indicates that c¢iiriant suffers from “myocarditis,

““general vascular and nervous deterioration, premature senility.” His percentage

of disability is stated at 50 per cent. Dr. D. J. Miller, who certifies to the fore-
going, did not appeu: before the Commission. Claimant’s medical history
files show the injury to claimant’s right thumb. In other respects he is declared
to have been fit upon discharge. . -

In this state of the record it is impossible to reach a finding in claimant’s
favour. He has not discharged the burden of showing a present disability
resulting from maltreatment. At his present age, 69 ycars, it is not unusual to
find the symptoms complained of. Claimant’s recourse, if any, 18 elsewhere.
Before this Commission, the claim fails and must be disallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Conmnissioner.
OrrAwA, January 8, 1933.
61085—9
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CASE 2754—HAROLD SIDNEY KENYON

Claimant was a Private in ihe 29th Battalion,—Regimental No. 76027
He enlisted November 9, 1914, a¢ the age of 19 vears and was taken prisoncr
April 19, 1916, suffering from shell shock.  He escaped from Germany
March 12, 1917. Te is not in receipt of pension, was married in September.
1920, and has three children.  Prior to enlistment, he was employed s a
carpenter at 40 cents per hour and is now following the same trade at 75 cents
per hour. :

He alleges that while a prizoner he was subjeeted to maltreatment which
has resulied in pecuniary damage to him.  He complains of confinement
in a steam cell for nearly five days, unable to get fresh air, heavy labour when
weakened from bad food and confinement and that he was heaten with an iron
bar and rifle butt.

An analysis of the evidenee reveals:—

Claimant was attached to Gicssen camp and on warking commandos
attached thereto.  His chief basis of complaint arises out of treatment received
while at Heusten Tron Works, Having made two previous att-npts to eseape
from this camp he was placed in a steam cell. which he states was full of
vermin.  Pipes with holes drilled in them ran around the rooms and live stean:
filled the place when the heat was turned on. Fresh air was obtained by lying
on the floor or by putting the face to a crack in the door. Food conditions were
bad. Resenting a blow from a civilian foreman, he beeame involved in a row
which ended in this being knocked out by a blow from an iron bar, the sentry
continuing to beat him with his rifle butt.  He was thrown into an empty culvert
without much clothing although it was raining. He lay there until next day.
and returned to work until he succeeded in making his eseape.

The military files contain a detailed account of elaimant’s prison life and
of this three attempts to escape. This statement, made shortly after repatriation.
iz notable for its similarity to the story now old before this €ommission.

No medieal evidence was adduced at the hearing and no medieal certificate
i= filed.  Claimant’s medical history files speak of disability from otitis media
as negligible and also mention iyalgia and haemorrhoids.  He was apparently
discharged as fit,

Claimant has told a very clear and frank story of his experiences in
Germany. He alleges disability only in respect of deafness in the right ear,
which he attributes to shell shock at the time of capture. He does not pretend
to have suffered any disability as the result of maltreatment whilst a prisoner,
and no medical evidence has been adduced establishing any disability. As far
as this Commission is concerned, claimant has not made out a case, but mayv
be entitled to pension, depending upon the extent of his impaired licaring. The
claim fails and must be disallowed.

TERROL M. McDOUGALL,

Commissioner.
Orrawa, January 11, 1933.

CASE 2643—CEDRIC HAMILTON KING

The claimant served in the Imperial Forces, with the Royal Naval Division
—Naval rating No. 3307. He first came.to Canada to reside in 1926. He
cenlisted in August, 1914, was taken prisoner at Antwerp on October 9, 1914, and
repatriated to Tingland in Deecmber, 1018. He is not in receipt of pension.
Prior to cnlistmeht, claimant was a brewery clerk, carning ahout £150 per
annum. He is now unemployed but has worked as a machinist, and, when em-
ployed, earns §25 per week. . -
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It was explained to claimant at the hearing that this Commission is with-
out jurisdiction to eptertain his claim, for the reason that he came to Canada
to reside in 1926. Only those Imperial soldiers who beeame resident here
previous to January 10, 1920, date of the ratification of the Treaty of Versailles,
are entitled to, submit their cases to this Commission (Sec my earlier report upon
maltreatment cases). Reserving, therefore, to elaimant all his recourse, and.
without deciding the case upon its merits, the elaim must be disallowed before
this Commission. ‘

IKRROI M. MeDOUGALL,
Commissioner,
Orrawa, January 4, 1933,

CASE 2451--JOHN PERCY KING

Claimant was a Private in the 76th Battalion—Regimenial No. 142544,
He enlisted November 24, 1915, at the age of 17 years, and was taken prisoner
September 17, 1916, unwounded. He was repatriated to England, November 30,
1918. He is not in receipt of pension, was married in March, 1924, and has
three children. Prior to enlistment he was lving at home on his father's farm,
and is now farming for himself on a rented property.

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which
has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He did not file a formal statement
of claim.

An analysis of the cvidenee reveals: —

Claimant was first taken to Cambrai, where he remained until the end of
October, and was then taken to Dulmen till December first. His only complaint
is as to the food. He was then gent to Friederichsfeld, and placed at work in
the coal mines where he remained for nearly two vears. He developed sores
which covered his head, neck and shoulders, was sent to hospital for three weeks,
was returned to work hefore it cleared up and had to return to the hospital. He
states that he has suffered with skin disease ever gince. This dicease forms the
main basis of his complaint. In corroboration, two declarations are filed one
by his brother George H. King, testifving as to the skin discase, and another
by T. V. Trowbridge to the same effect.

The medical record consists of a report by Dr. W. Wilkins, who did
not appear before the Commission, indieating that claimant suffers from derma-
titis on neck and face, body, arms and legs. He rates the disability at 25 per
cent.  Claimant’s medieal history files diselose no disability. v

The only disability of which elaimant complains and has suffered from
sinee discharge from *he army, has been a <kin disease which has apparently
puzzled his family physician, but which would appear to be a form of scabies.
There is nothing in his story, or in the records on file, to show that this con-
dition could have been caused by maltreatment, and, under the cireumstances,
1 am compelled to disallow this claim. . _

‘ ERROI M. McDOUGALIL,

Orraws, January 24, 1933. C‘ommissioner.

CASE 2507—LELAND KOONS

There is very little information. concerning this claimant of record. He
has not'completed the usual documents of claim, but it appears from hi§ medical
history files that he enlisted in September, 1915—.—Regimentnl No. 424998, was
taken prisoner on June 6,1916, wounded in the right arm. He was repatriated
to England on January 2, 1919, He is not in receipt of pension and was appar-
ently discharged from the service without disability, - : R

6108593
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Claimant failed to appear before the Commission at the time stated, but
did appear after the Commission had adjourned its sessions in Chicago. He was
afforded an opportunity to explain his claim, He spent 18 months at Stendal
camp, where he was not subjected to any physical abuse. ~At Wittenberg,
claimant speaks of the conditions as good, but at Merseberg he complains that
the work in the coal mines was hard. .He broke his finger accidentally and was
made to continue work—his injury does not now incapacitate him.

There is no medieal evidence of reeord, and claimant was advised at the
time of the hearinr that he must establish some disability resulting from mal-
treatment to entitle him to an award,

No further evidence has been made and it is clearly impossible to reach
a finding in elaiment’s favour. He has failed to discharge the burden of showing
a present disability resulting from maltreatment. The claim fails, and must
be disallowed,

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Commuissioner.
Orrawy, January 6, 1933,

CASE 2508—ARCHIBALD FRANCIS LANGSTON

Claimant was a Sapper in the Canadian Railway Troops—Regimental No.
238. He enlisted March 29, 1915, at the age of 37 years and was taken prisoner
Mareh 25, 1918, at Miramont, unwounded, He was repatriated to England
December 9, 1918, He is not in receipt of pension, was married in 1900 and
now has six children, five of age. Prior to enlistment, he was employed as a
stone quarry man, earning about $2.50 per day and is now employed as a rail-
way car sweeper at 41 cents per hour,

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which has

vesulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of severe beatings, the loss

of a tooth by a blow from a rifle butt and long periods of standing to attention.
An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant spent tlie entire cight months of his period of captivity at Dussel-
dorf, employed at railway work, 12 hours per day on scant diet. He received
beatings because he eould not understand German and had a tooth knocked out.
On two occasions he was knocked unconscious. This was followed by solitary
confinement, He refused to work in the coal mines and got the second beating
referred to, followed by solitary confinement., For oversleeping one morning,
he was senlenced to 10 hours standing to attention. He says lie now suffers
from arthritis and general debility.

Dr. Alexander Guttman gave testimony and stated that he has been treat-
ing claimant for about a year and a half, for the lame shoulder, which is
probably due to arthritis. He is not positive that the arthritis was caused by
blows from rifle butts, but is inclined to think so. Claimant’s medical history
files show nothing unusual, a condition of arthritis and gastritis being referred to.

I do not think from the comparatively short time that claimant was a
prisoner (8 months) that it can be said that his present condition results from
his experience. The shoulder trouble, which is arthritic in character, does not
necessarily .result from the blow referred to and I am not convinced that the
loss of one tooth from a blow constitutes disability. Claimant’s recourse, if any,
is before the Board of Pension Commissioners. Before this Commission, the

claim fails and must be disallowed.
ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Commissioner,
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e e - CASE 2794—TREDERICK LEE_»AR

Claimant was a Gunner in the First Division Trench Mortar Battery—
Regimental No, 300408, He enlisted August 27, 1915, at the age of 18 years
and was taken prisoner June 2, 1916, unwounded. He was repatrinted to Eng-
lund December 8, 1918, He is in receipt of a 10 per cent disability pension,
amounting to 311.60 per month, based on ventral hernia, He was married in
July, 1924, and itas one child. Prior to enlistment, be was an apprentice furrier,
carning $3 per week and is now employed as a furnace man, carning $70 per
month,

He alleges that while # prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which
has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of forced labour in
the coal mines while ill, confinement, being struck with a stick across the nose,
and a rupture sustained while coupling railroad cars.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant was first taken to Dulmen, and, after three months, was transferred
to K-47 coul mine. He remained here six or seven months, and, on one oceasion,
for refusing to work, was giver. long periods of standing to attention and was
stood in front of the hot coke ovens for the better part of the day. e states
that the gas from these ovens has permanently affected his throat. While
suffering from pit poisoning, due to the water in the mines, he was compelled
to continue at work and was struck across the nose with a stick by the foreman
to keep him at work. He was sent to hospital after five days’ illness, and
remained there three months. He was returned to Munster and later sent to
K 75 where iron coal ears were repaired. Here he sustained a rupture duc to a
German workman knocking out a coupling pin too quickly and pulling claimant
over on the floor with the coupling. He states that this was intentional. e
recoived no treatment and was given no truss but ‘irvished his captivity at a
saw mill. e states he suffers with his nose at present due to the blow received
from the stick and has difliculty in breathing.

No 1medical evidence was adduced at the hearing but claimant was closely
questioned hy the medical adviser to the Commission.. ‘The record consists of
a certificai¢ by Dr. J. C. Connell indicating the nasal troubie. Claimant’s
medieal history files refer to the condition of hernia, for which he receives
pension. - -

1 am not satisfied. from the evidence, that the hernie. of which claimant
complains occurred in the manner stated. From its positiun, I am informed,
it is most probably of congenital origin. At all events, even if caused as stated,
it would be accidental in origin. Claimant’s nose injury has not been definitely
established. Dr. Connell merely says “ hit on bridge of nose by German foreman
with a stick.” No percentage df disability is stated. Viewing the case as a
whole, I do not consider that claimant has been successful in showing a present
disability resulting from maltreatment while a prisoner. The claim, accordingly,

fails and must be disallowed.
_ ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Orrawa, January 19, 1933. Commissioner.

" CASE 2677—THOMAS CHARLES LITTLE

Claimant was a Private in the 7th Battalion—Regimental No., 17294. He
enlisted in Soptember, 1914, at the age of 33 years and was taken prisoner April
22, 1915, unwounded. He was repatnated to England in December, 1918, He is
in receipt of a 100 per cent disability pension, amounting to $137 per month, based
upon tuberculosis. Claimant was married in 1924 and has four children. Prior
to enlistment, he was a plumber, earning 80 cents per hour. He is now unem-
ployed and wholly incapacitated.
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——————————Claimant alleges that while a prisoner, he_was_subjected to_maltreatment
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains generally of ill” ~
trentment, denial of medical attention and of being made to work when unfit
to do so.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant does not complain of his treatment at Giessen, where he was
first taken. He says the work was too arduous in-his weakened condition. At
Saltau, he was stripped of his clothing in order to have thent fumigated and
suffered from exposure. Sent to a farm, he complains that the clothing and
footwear was inadequate. e later worked at a sugar factory and a lime kiln
where the complaint is as to the long howrs of work and exposure. Here he
developed a haemorrhage of the lungs. Marked for transfer to Switzerland, he
was sent to a chemical factory and foreed to work carrying bags of cement.

The medical record clearly establishes advanced pulmonary tuberculosis.
His percentage of disability is stated at 100 per eent. Apart from the medical
certificate attesting this condition, claimant’s medical history files furnish
corroboration of claimant’s disability,

While there seems to be no question that elaimant contracted tuberculosis
while in Germany, T dp not know that it can be said that this was induced by
maltreatment. It may have been poor judgment to make claimant work in his
then condition, but at most I would regard this as carelessness. 1 feel that
claimant’s ease is covered by pension and that he has failed to show that his
experiences in Germany have necessarily resulted in his present state of disability.
On the whole, the claim fails and must be disallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Commissioner.

Otrawa, January 9, 1933.

CASE 2763—CHARLES HUNGERFORD LOCHEAD

Claimant was a Private in the 31st Battalion—Regimental No. 808239.
He enlisted January 20, 1916, at the age of 21 years and was taken prisoner
March 29, 1917, sufiering from a shrapnel wound in the right foot. He escaped
to Denmark in August 1918. He is not in receipt of pension, was married
in July 1923 and has four children. Prior to enlistment, he was a cow hand on a
ranch, earning about 8400 per annum and is now on his own ranch, but doing
poorly, :

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjeeted to maltreatment which has
rosulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of neglect of his wounds, bad
quarters, poor food, compelled to work while ill and weak, behind the German
lines, beatings and that he was made to stand to attention for long periods.

An analvsis of the evidence reveals:—

First at Lille, in hospital, and then a* Fort McDonald, confined to a cement
rocm, claimant was starved and neglected. He was then placed on working
parties which, he declares, were close hehind the lines, exposed to shell fire, where
he was kept about two months:—He was starved and beaten due to inability
to Leep up with tlic work. Tater, he was placed at bush work, and as he was
siffering from his wounds, he was given lighter work to do. F inally, he was
taken into Germany, reached Friederichsfeld, and reccived hospital treatment
at Hamburg for skin diseagse. He relates an incident of being made to stand to
attention for four hours for smiling while being foreed to do the goose step. He
now suffers with severe stomach disorders. Three letters are filed by fellow
prisoners and acquaintances in support of his claim.
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- -—-—The medical record consists of {wo certificates by Dr. J. Kenny of Turner
Valley, Alta,, as to the stomach condition. e rafes claiman{’s percentage of
disability at 30 per cent. Claimant’s medical history files contain a summary of
the statement made by him upon repatriation, which is ubstantially in accord
with the story related by him before the Commission. Tn this statement he
deelares that he was held close behind th lines, at Denain, whereas, from war
records, in March 1917, Denain was far vemoved from the allied lines. .

Tiven if claimant did spend two months behind the lines, it will be observed
that this was in 1917, when conditions of brutality and cruelty were not as
they later developed in 1918 in similay cases, The evidence of disability resulting
from maltreatment does not, in my opinion, justify a finding in claimant’s
favour. His recourse, if any, is before the Board of Pension Commissioners.
Before this Commission, the claim fails and must be disallowed,

ERROIL M. McDOUGALL,

‘ Commissioner.
Orrawa, December 21, 1932,

CASE 2565~—JOHN LONGWORTH

Claimant was a Sapper in the 2nd Canadian Tunnelling Company—Regi-
mental No. 503291. He enlisted February 5, 1915, at the age of 23 years and was
taken prisoner June 2, 1916, unwounded. He was repatrinted to England
December 8, 1918, He is not in receipt of pension, was married in April 1820 and
has one child. Prior to enlistment, he was employed as a coal miner, at 87.50
per day, and is now fire boss i & mine, at $5.85 per day.

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which has
resulted in pecumiary damage to him. He complains of solitary confinement,
that he was kicked and beaten while ill, about the back with rifle butt, resulting
in a permanent lamed back.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant first spent two months at Dulmen, where he has no complaints,
and the remainder of his period of captivity at Engers. At this latter camp, he
recites instances of two beatings, the first while engaged in bridge work. He
states he was doing extra heavy work and being unable to carry on was knocked
down by a guard and kicked while on the floor. He had to be assisted to barracks
by his comvades. Tho second incident occurred during the influenza epidemic
in 1918. He was lying ill in bed when a guard beat him about the back with a
cifle butt. He now suffers from lameness and weakness in the back which
liinders him in his calling as a coal miner.

No medical evidenee was adduced at the hearing, the record consisting of a
certificate by Dr. C. B. Rose, indicating pain in the back and abdomen with
nigai sweats and weakness. Disability rated from 10 per gent to 50 per cent. A
further certificate by the same doctor recites that he has known claimant for six
vears and that during that time claimant has had repeated attacks of pain in the
back and abdomen with weakness and night sweats. A certificate by Dr. J. A.
Key recites that claimant had treatment from him from 1922 until 1927. He
<uffered from weakness, pains in the back and abdomen, night eweats and chronic
eastritis. He advised him to give up coal mining. The record is completed by
letters from fellow-prisoners corroborating the story of the beating and kicks in
the back. Claimant’s medical history files show a condition of some debility
upon discharge from the service.

Claimant has sought to show that his lame back is the result of the blows he
received in Germany. I do not think the evidence justifies a finding to this
effect, and I am inclined to regard his disability as resulting from general con-
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ditions of camp life in Germany which is not to be regarded as maltreatment.
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ant’s system was apparently unable to withstand the strain and duress of camp
life, but the resultant debility car heerdly be ascribed to maltreatment. Claim-
ant’s recourse, if any, is before the Board of Pension Commissioners, Before
this Commission, the claim fails and must be disallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Orrawa, January 11, 1933, . Commissioner.

CASE 2666—CHARLES H. L. MacDONALD

Claimant was a Corporal in the 15th Battalion—Regimental No. 27923. He
enlisted in August 1914, at the age of 20 years and was taken prisoner April
24, 1915, during the second battle of Ypres, suffering from gunshot wounds in the
right lung, both legs and from gas. He was released to Switzerland in November,
1917, and reached England June 15, 1918. He is in receipt of a 25 per cent dis-
ability pension, amounting to 232.50 for himself and family, based on debility
aud dyspnoea, due to collapse of lower lobe of right lung and pleural adhesions.
He was married November 8, 1922 and has two children.  Prior to enlistment, he
was a student and is now an architect, at $50 per month, '

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which has
resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of neglect of his wounds, of
being given poison when he asked for water, made to work while ill and unfit
until ke collapsed, tortured and harassed by drurken troops, accused of shamming
illness and not released to Switzerland for a year later than he should have been
so transferred,

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant lox-, vaaided, for five days on the field before he was taken in by
the Germans, who sat him against a tree for 24 hours. He was roughly haudled
until he arrived at Roulers, where he received an injection, probably anti-tetanus.
He was t<ken to Oberhausen and placed in hospital. e relates that while en
route, he asked for a drink of water and was given something by a nurse which
burned his face. He remained four months in hospital and states that he had an
operation by one of the finest, surgeons but the care and comfort was lacking by
the nurses and attendants and he was really cared for by fellow-prisoners. He
was put at work as soon as he was able to hobble around and was sent to a con-
valescent camp at Friederichsfeld. Placed at work, he finally collapsed. The
work consisted of wheeling barrows of potatoes about a mile and then being made
to sit and peel them all day in damp, cold quarters. e was then transferred to

" Saltau and placed at a lumber camp hauling provisions and unloading ears. IIr
was unable to carry on and was returned to camp and placed on a farm. He was
accused on bluffing, and, not excused by the doctor, he finally collapsed in the field
and was returned to barracks. Upon recovery, and while returning from Verdun
hospital, he was placed on a train with drunken German troops who mauled and
mistreated him and finally kicked him off the train. Ie went before the Swiss
Comr-aissien for examination but asserts that the remerks of the German doctor
prevented his being passed for transier. He was next sent to Heuberg, where he
was still kept at work although weak and ill and was here finally passed for
exchange to Switzerland,

The medical record consists of a certificate by Dr. T. J. Simpson, who did
not appear before the Commission, indicating severe neurasthenia and lung
trouble. He fixes the dizability at from 20 per cent to 75 per cent. A declara-
tion by claimant’s mother corroborating his nervous disorders is filed. The

military medical reports are lengthy and contain a complete history of claimant’s
chest condition.
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'The basis of claimant’s complaint is that he was not given proper care while
= ~ i Germany-and-was compelled. to wark when he was unfit, which ticatment has
aggravated his disabilities and induced a nervous condition which incapacitates
him. The record of claimant’s hospitalization and treatment after discharge ix
quite extensive. He is pensioned for the original chest wound which affected his
lung and I do not think that the record justifies o finding that his treatment in
Germany aggravated the disability. As to Lis nervous condition I eannot say that
this is the result of maltreatment. Claimant was roughly handled, as were other
prisoners, but he could hatdly expeet to receive the care, consideration and atten-
tion that he would receive in a civilian hospital. The incidents related following
his capture are distressing, but in the heat of battle, I am not certain that any-
thing better was to be expected. On the whole, and after very careful thought,
I consider that claimant’s case iz one for the consideration of tlie Board of Pen-
ston Commissioners, Before this Commission, the elaim fails and must be dis-
allowed.
ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

Commissioner,
Orraws, January 17, 1933.

CASE 2703—ROBERT MADELEY

Claimant was an Imperial soldier who served, as a Private, with the Royal
Welsh Fusiliers—Regimental No. 9985. He was a reservist who enlisted in July,
1908, at the age of 20 years. He came to Canada to reside in June, 1919. He
was taken prisoner October 30, 1914, at Ypres, slightly wounded and was repatri-
ated to England November 23, 1918. He is not in receipt of pension, was married
in July, 1923, and has two children, Prior to the outbreak of war, he was em-
ployed as a bricklaver, at about 13 cents per hour and is  w following his trade
but cannot get much work to do.

He alleges that while a prisoner, he was subjected to maltreatment, which
has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of exposure, starva-
tion, back strain, foreed labour, beatings and that he was given solitary con-
finement.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant was first detained in an open compound at Munster No. 1, during
the month of November, where he was compelled to stand to attention for six
hours, knee deep in mud. In April, 1915, he was sent to Halverde, where he
remained until January, 1916. Here, he was foreed to work long hours at level-
ling fields for light railways. Next, he was sent to Altonessen, working on top
of coal mines at repair work, He strained his back lifting heavy machinery, was
refused medical aid and was forced to continue work although in great pain. He
also received 10 days’ solitary confinement for refusing to work at night. After
seven monthsg, he was rcturned to Munster, where he remained until October,
1916. Finaily, he spent two years at Rhincberg (sie), unloading stone barges,
breaking stones and running salt wagons. For attempting to find shelter in a
severe rain storm, he was routed out and given 10 days’ solitary confinement
and wher placed in his cell, had water thrown over him. He received hospital
treatment here for malaria. He still suffers with his back and stomach. He
«tates that he received further confinement and beatings for attempted escapes.

Dr. David A. Henderson appeared and declared he attended claimant in
1924 up till 1929, for gastritis and pains in the back. Hospital examination has
failed to disclose the cause of this pain. X-ray was negative for any organic
feature. He is positive that claimant suffers real pain. The medical record con-
tains a certificate by Dr. Henderson, indicating myalgia and rheumatism of the
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back, chronic indigestion and gall stones and deficient teeth. A certificate by

-~ DroWo HoButt-to-the effect-that-he attended_claimant. in 1924 for malarial fever

ix aico filed.

Claimant’s main complaint is as to his disabled back. As appears from the
evidenee, the original injury was accidental, during the course of his wark. It
has not been shown, nor, do I suppose, could it he demonstrated that any par-
denlar treatment would have been of benefit, save perhaps bed and rest. As
the injury was not evident, I do not think that the Germans can be accused
of maltreatment in refusing to give him such treatimaent when so many prisoners
were simulating illnesses to escape work. The stomach condition spoken of is
clearly nutritional in origin, and cannot be regarded as the result of maltreat-
ment.  Claimant’s case, in my opinion, is purely pensionable in nature. Before
this Commission, he has railed to discharge the burden of showing a present dis-
ablity resulting from maltreatment. The claim, accordingly, fails and mast be

disallowed. ‘
ERROIL M. McDOUGAL,

Commissioner.
Orrawa, January 17, 1933,

CASE 2799—JOHN MANCLARK

Claimant was a Private in the 60th Battalion—Regimental No. 139640. He
enlisted February 16, 1915, at the age of 39 years and was taken prisoner August
14, 1917, unwounded. He was repatriated to England December 3, 1918. He is
not in receipt of pension, was married prior to enlistment and has four children.
He was employed as a labourer before the war, at $12 per week, and is now
unemployed but gets occasional work, at 40 cents per hour.

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which has
resulted in pecuniary damage to hiin. He complains of forced labour, bad food,
inadequate clothing and exposure and denial of medical aid. .

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant first complains that his shoes were taken from him after capture
and that he was given unnecessary inoculations at Dulmen. He was sent to
Bochum, where he stayed some 14 months under conditions of starvation and
~ long bours. of labour in coal mines. He had an accident to his foot but received
no attention from the doctor,

No medical evidence was adduced at the hearing, the record consisting of
a certifieate by Dr. Broad who treated claimant for five years, once for pleurisy,
another occasion for a poisoned -hand and finally for bronchitis. A cervificate
by Dr. D. A. McLeod is filed, indicating pains in the chest and cough and rating
the disability at 50 per cent. Claimant's medical history files show nothing
unusual. He was apparently discharged as fit.

Claimant is no lenger young and must expect some diminution in his physical
vigour. The hasis of his complaint is that long hours of work upon inadequate
food has injured Lis health. He does not complain of any particular physical
bratality. Il health resulting from general conditions of this nature, is not, in
my opinion, to be regarded as the result of maltreatment (See Opinion annexed
to my earlier report on maltreatment cases). Whatever claimant’s case may be,
it is ineligible for award before this Commission. It fails and must be disallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

Commisisoner,
Ortawa, January 17, 1933,
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CASE 2715—WILLIAM MARSHALL
Claimant was ‘an Tinperial Soldier "whe—worved -ax a Private in the 1st
Battalion, Royal West Kent. Regiment—Regimental No. 7542, He was a reservist
who enlisted in 1904, at the age of 20 vears and came to Canada to reside in
- April, 1913. He was taken prisoner October 27, 1914, unwounded and was
repatriated to England November 18, 1918, He is not in receipt of Pension, was
married in April, 1913, and has six children.  Prior to the outbreak of war, he was
employed as a painter and decorator and is now unemployed altlL.ough he earns
525 per week when at work.
He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which
Lns resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of a blow over the
head with a rifle butt causing severe headaches which persist, teeth extracted
without cause, and of being tied up facing the sun for four hours per day for
14 days.
An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

After being held a week behind the lines, claimant was taken to Waln,
near Cologne, where he remained nearly two years. He complains of non-
receipt of parcels and that he was segregated from his companions and was
struck by a sentry over the head with a rifle butt and knocked unconscious.
He was returned to work in a forest after this incident, He was quartered with
Russian prisoners and had to take-the food given them and which he was unable
to eat. He reported gick in crder to have a tooth extracted and states that
they extracted seven sound teeth and left the affeeted one. He also relates
that he was given 14 days solitary confinement for an offence which he did
not commit. The cell was dirly, damp and with no sanitary toilet arrangements.
He had to sleep on the bare ground. While at Linburg, he was ordered to sing
to make gramaphone records, refused, and as punishment, was lashed to a post
for four hours per day for 14 days. All the time he complained of non-receipt
of parcels which were being sent from home, and received many kicks and
blows from sentries due to his inability to understand German. ~ completed
his period of captivity at a sugar beet factory, near Cologne, and received better
treatment there. He states that due to dizziness and frequent nose bleeds he is
unable to climb ladders or to bend down to paint floors. .

No medical evidence was adduced at the hearing, the record consisting of
a cerlificate by Dr. W. E, Wilkins, indicating digestive discomfort, vomiting
and headaches. The disability is fixed at from 20 per cent to 25 per cent.

‘The story related by claimant of the malicious extraction of teeth was so
incredible that he was advised that he should furnish some corroboration of
the fact. This he has failed to do. I do not find in the record, evidence of a
present disability which may be attributed to maltreatment. Any stomach
disorder from which he may now suffer is probably attributable to general food
conditions in Germany and should not be regarded as due to maltreatment.
Deprivation of parcels, even if clearly established, would not in itself constitute
maltreatment. On the whole, claimant has failed to establish a present disability
resulting from maltreatment. The claim fails and must be disallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

Commissioner.
Ortawa, January 17, 1933.
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CASE 2717—NEIL MASON

Claimant was an Tmiperial soldier who served as a Private in the Royal
Welsh Fusiliers—Regimental No. 8217. He was a reservist who enlisted in 1904
and who came to Canand. fc rveside in August, 1910, He rejoined his unit in
August, 1914, at the age of 29 years and was taken prisoner October 25, 1914, at
Ypres, unwounded. He was repatriated to Englind December 14, 1918, He
was in receipt of Imperial pension, since discontinued, though he says he did not
receive same.  He was married prior to the outbreak of war and has three
children. Prior to enlistment, he was employed as a painter, at 12 cents an
hour and is still following this trade but canuot find employment.

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which
has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of beatings, no medical
attention while ill and forced labour while in that condition.

An analysis of the evidenee reveals:—

Mer capture when being marched baek, he stepped out of line and
received a beating. At Cottingen, after a four days’ journey without food.
he states conditions were bad in 1914, continual hardship and abuse. He received
several blows from rifle hutts due {o inability to understand German. Covered
with boils and very weak, he was refused aid by the German doctor. The foad
was bad and sanitary conditions were poor at that time. In May, 1915, he was
sent to the stone quarry at Weimar. He was ill and poorly clad but was forced
to work and had to sleep on a stone floor with strtaw. Long hours of labour
and continual beatings were the routine at this quarry and after six months the
prisoners refused to continue at work. They were turned out of quarters which
were locked against them all day and without food or drink they were read-
mitted at night. Sent to Cassel, their clothes were fumigated while they stood
for an hour and a half without covering in the cold. This was in October. They
were returned to work in the quarry but having strained his back, elaimant
was allowed Lo return to Cassel where he remained two months in hospital. After
recovery, he had an casier time and in 1917 was zent to Betauson (sic) on
railway work, where living conditions were better. He received a short period
of solitary confinement to cells for refusal to work and was returned to Cassol.
He was put on exchange for Holland but was sent to Aachen, whence he was
returned to Germany and placed on a farm, where conditions were better,

Dr. A. F. Demary testified in corroboration of his eertificate on file, and
stated that he has known claimant sinee March, 1922. He finds him suffering
from bronchitis, debility and nervous disorders with dilated heart. In his
certificate he rates the disability up to 75 per cent.

Claimant tells a story of general abuse and privation while a prisoner, “.ut 1
cannot say, from the record, that he has established any connexity between his
present conditioniand his experiences while a prisorer. I regard his present
state, as shown in medical testimony, as due to general conditions of camp
life in Germany and not due to any particular maltreatment. (See general
Opinion annexed to my carlier report upon maltreatment eases)., His claim,
if any, is purcly pensionable in nature. Before this Commission, the claim
fails and must Le disallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Commaissioner,

Ottawa, January 17, 1933,
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CASE 2776—HUGE McANGUS

Claimant was & Private in the 29th Battalion—Regimental No. 76031,
He enlisted November 9, 1914, at the age of 21 years and was taken prisoner
April 19, 1916, suffering with shrapnel wounds in both legs. He was repatri-
ated to England January 1, 1919. He is in receipt of a 10 per cent disability
pension, amounting to $14 per month, based on his war wounds. Ile was
married February 7, 1919, and has three children. Prior to enlistment he was
cmployed as a teamster at $75 per month, and is now a truck driver averag-
mg from five to six dollars per day when working.

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected *o maltreatment which
has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of a bayonet wound
in the leg and of frequent headaches due to having been hit over the head.

An analysis cf the evidence reveals:—

Claimant was first placed in hospital at Courtrai, where he remained until
September, 1916, and has no complaints as to the treatment. At Stendal, while
-till on crutehes, he states that a guard took his crutches from him, broke one
over his neck and hit him in the mouth while he was lying on the ground. This
was done without any provocation and claimant states that his leg injuries
were aggravated by this assauit. In the spring of 1917 he was sent to Wittenburg
and then to Quedlinburg and finally to the coal mine at Merseburg. He was
working in an clectrie tram that hauled coai and, when walking to the batk
of the tram, was accosted by a sentry who knocked him out by a blow on
the hoad with his rifie. He tried to stab claimant with the bayonet and, in -
fending the blow, claimant’s hand was injured; anothe tunge got him in the
leg. He succeeded in getting the rifle fium the sentry and knocked him out. He
dared not report sick lest he be punished for striking the sentry. He received
periods of confinement to cells and further beatings for being too slow at work.
He now camplains of deafness as the result of the blow across the head. W. P~
Badenoch, a fellow-prisoner, testified as to the beating received at Stendal when
claimant was on crutches. George B. Gillespie, another fclow-prisoner, testified
that, though he did not actually see the beating, he saw claimant immediateiy
afterwards and that he was in bad shape.

There is no medical evidence of record, not even the usua! certificate of a
physician, Claimant’s medical history files relate only to his service wounds.
No other disability is shown.

The incidents of brutality related by claimant are quite extreme. He is
corroborated by a fellow prisoner as to the occurrence at Stendal, when he was
hit with one of his own crutches and kicked. The more serious incident, at
Merseberg, when claimant fought with a guard, was not seen by any other
prisoner, the corroboration is merely as to his condition after the fight. Un-
fortunately for claimant, there is no medical evidence establishing any disability
vesulting from these experiences. It cannot be inferred that the blow on the head
veferred to has induced deafness, even if that condition were definitely cstablished.
Viewing the case as a whole, I am unable to reach a finding favourable to claim-
ant. He has not discharged the burden of showing a present disability resulting
from maltreatment. The claim, accordingly, fails and must be disallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Commissioner.

O1TAWA, January 13, 1933.
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CASE 2448 JAMES McEWEN

Claimant served as a Private in the 8th Battalion—Regimental No. 417. Y.
enlisted in August, 1914, at the age of 25 vears and was taken prisoner April 24,
1915, during the second battle of Ypres. He did not file any claim form and was
unable to appear at the sittings in Winnipeg due to being severely ill in hospital.

The medieal adviser to the Commission visited him there and discovered
that he makes no claim for maltreatment and appears disinclined to apply for
pension.  He seems to be suffering with heart trouble and I understand that his
caze is now being dealt with from the point of view of pension.

In view of the above, the claim, as hefore nie, is treated as withdrawn and i«
therefore dizallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Commissioner.
Orrawy, December 21, 1032,

CASE 2691—JOHN McKENNA

Claimant, was a Private in the 14th Battalion—Regimental No, 256750. He
enlisted in August, 1914, at the age of 27 years and was taken prisoner April 24,
1915, during the sccond battle of Ypres, suffering from shrapnel wounds in the
back, right foreurm and left side. He was repatriated to England in January,
1919. He is not in receipt of pension, was married in April, 1921, and has three
children. Prior to enlistment, he was a plumbing contractor, carning about $30
per week and is now following the same trade, at from $10 to $40 per week.

He alleges that while « prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which has
resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of forced labour, exposure
and a blow on the head from a rifle butt, leaving a sear,

An analysis ot the evidence reveals:—

Claimant was first in hospital at Giessen for two months and then placed at
work in a brick yard before his wounds were entirely healed. Being unable to do
the works, he states, he received a blow on the head with a rifle butt, leaving a
scar.  He was transferred to Senne lager and then Vehnemoor cutting reclaimed
land. The living conditions were terrible he states. He injured his eyes with
fertilizer and still suffers with sore eyes. He also asserts that his feet have been
injured through wearing wooden shoes.,

The medical record consists of a certificate by Dr. P. V. Graham, who
appeared and testified that he has known claimant for some eight years and has

treated him frequently for bronchitis, His certificate indicates flat feet and poor
- evesight in addition to bronchitis. Claimant made a statement, upon repatriation
which is general in nature and deals chiefly with the working conditions imposed
upon prisoners of war and the nature of the food supplied. His medical history
files shown nothing unusual.

The bronchial condition of which claimant complains is probably the result
of general conditions of life and work in German camps and cannot, in my view,
be regarded as the result of maltreatment.  Claimant’s defective vision. is not
attributed to the blow on the head of which he speaks but to the effects of fertil-
izer which blew into his eyes. The evidence does not establish the connexity
between the two. Claimant’s recourse, if any, is before the Board of Pension
Commissioners.  Before this Commission, he has failed to make out a case of
present disability resulting froff~maltreatment while a prisoner. The claim,
accordingly, fails and must bhe disallowed,

ERROY M, McDOUGALL,
Commissioner.

Otraws, January 17,1943
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CASE 2702—HOWIE MAXWELL McKINNIE

The claimant was an Imperial soldier, & Private in the North Staffords—
Regimental No. 34893. He first came to Canada in May, 1922. He enlisted in
Iingland in May, 1915, was taken prisoner on March 31, 1918, and repatriated to
Fngland on December 15, 1918. He is married and has two children. He is not in
receipt of pension. Prior to enlistment, claimant was a paper maker, earning
£1/8-4 per week. He is now a mail carrier for the Government, carning 876.50
per month,

Claimant has not completed the usual documents of claim and it was
explained to him, at the hearing, that as he had not served with a Canadian unit,
and only came to Canada to reside after the date of the ratification of the Treaty
of Versailles, viz.: January 10, 1920, this Commission was fithout jurisdietion #o
entertain the claim. For reasons which have been set forth in general opinion
annexed to my earlier report upon maltreatment cases this view is now confirmed.
Reserving, therefore, to claimant all his recourses, and without dealing with the
case upon its merits, I am compelled to disallow it before this Commission.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Orrawy, January 4, 1933. Commissioner.

CASE 2353—COLIN McLAINE

Claimant was an Imperial soldier who served with the 7th Argyle and
Sutherland Highlanders—Regimental No. 275377. He had enlisted in March.,
1914, and was called to the eolours on August 4, 1914, and served in France from
June 16, 1916, until he was taken prisoner March 23, 1918. In a statutory
deelaration made in supyport of his elaim and in his evidence given before me,
at Vancouver, September 28, 1932, he slated he arrived in Canada in January.
1920. This statement was to have been corroborated by a letter from the steam-
ship company, but subsequently a letter was received from claimant’s solicitor.
dated October 17, 1932, advising that the claimant had informed him that he did
not reach Canada until July, 1920,

For reasons which have beenr explained in my earlier report upon maltreat-
ment cases, only those Imperial soldiers who beeame resident in Canada on or
previous to January 10, 1920, date of the ratification of the Treaty of Ver-
sailles, are entitled to have their claims considered by this Commission.

Resorving, therefore, to claimant 21l other recourses, and, without deeiding
the case upon its merits, the claim is dizallowed for want of jurisdiction.

, ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Otrawa, January 11,1933, Commissioner.

CASE 2509—MURDOCH McLEAN

Notice of claim was reccived on behalf of tie above named elaimant, _but
the usual documents of claim have never been completed.” From his medieal
history files, it would appear that he enlisted on Apri! 14, 1915, was taken prisoner
on June 2, 1916, unwounded, and repatriated to_Englnnd on December 3, 1918.
An application for pension appears to be pending, Claimant was notified to
appear before the Commission at its Winnipeg sessions, on September 13, 1932
but failed to do so. His default has remained unexplained. The claim must.
accordingly, be disallowed for want of prosccution, e

ERROL M. McDOUGALIL,
: : : Lo oo Commissioner.
Orrawa, December 28, 1932, :
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CASE 2716—WALLACE ALEXANDER McLEAN

Claimant was a Corporal in the 15th Battalion—Regimental No. 27662. He
enlisted in August, 1914, at the age of 21 vears, and was taken prisoner April 24,
1915, during the sceond battle of Ypres, suffering from gas. He was released to
Switzerland in December, 1916. He is in recoipt of a 100 per cent pension,
amounting to 8756 per month, based on pulmonary tubereulosis. He is unmarried.
Prior to enlistment, he was employed as a metal pattern maker, earning twenty
cents per hour, and is now practically unemployed exeept for oceasional selling
aelivities.

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which has
resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complaing of exposure, medical neglect
while ill and foreed labour.

An analysis o1 the evidence reveals:—

Claimant was taken to Gottingen, moved to Munster, and sent out on a
working party to Sterkrade, where he was quartered in an old livery stable.
He contracted pleurisy due to exposure and wet, but the doctor refused to treat
him and kept sending him back to work, until finally he was sent to hospital. He
was discharged February, 1916, sent to Friedorichsfeld, and, after two weeks, was
returned to Munster. e complains that the neglect by the doctor in not remov-
ing the fluid while he was ill with pleurisv, has much to do with his present
condition. There is a suggestion by elaimant that he was inoculated with tuber-
culosis while in hospital in Germany.

Dr. GG, W. MeNeil] testified that he has been attending claimant since 1923,
and stated that he believes that less than one-third of the lung really functions,
and that it is unique that he is alive with his present chest condition. Ie states
that the fluid should have been drawn from the lung long before it was removed.
He also files a certiticate, indicating pulmonary tuberculosis, and substantiates
claim of carelessness in the treatment for pleurisy while a prisoner. - Claimant’s
medical history files refer to the pulmonary condition as due to privation, under-
nourishment. and overwork while a prisoner,

Claimant contracted pleurisy while a prisoner and it seems to be his conten-
tion that had the fluid been removed, as he pretends it should, he might not now
be suffering from tuberculosis. I understand thai it is questionable whether fluid
<hould be removed if there is any chanee of the malady being diagnosed es tuber-
cular.  Moreover, it appears in claimant’s medical history files that fluid was
removed in Germany, this information apparently being based upon statements
made by claimant upon repatriation. Claiant’s extended statement made upon
repatriation speaks well of the treatment accoraed him in German hospitals.
Any question of the suggested inoculation of the disease is without foundation.
I have formed the clear impression that claimant has not been successful in
showing any aggravation of his condition by reason of the treatment or want of -
treatment, given him in Germany. His case, in my opinion, is one purely for the
consideration of the Board of Pension Commissioners, Before this Commission,
the claim fails and must be disallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

Commisstoner.
OrrAwA, January 17, 1933,

CASE 2558-—JOHN R. McLEOD

Claimant was a Sapper in the 2nd Tunnelling Company—Regimental No.
303299. He enlisted in 1915, at the age of 29 years, and was taken prisoner June
2, 1916, unwounded. He was repatriated to England in April, 1918. Claimant
Is in receipt of a 35 per cent disability pension, amounting to $49 per raonth,
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huwsed upon asthma and bronchitis—emphysema.  He is married and has three
children. Prior to enlistment, he was a coal miner, carning between $9 and $10
per day. He is now a fire boss, at a wage of 85.85.

Claimant alleges that while a prisoner he was subjecied to maltreatment
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. Jic complains of blows causing
injury, exposure to the weather and confinement.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant has no complaints as to Dulmen eamp, where he spent the first
two months of his period of captivity. Sent to lissen, for refusing to work, he.
with others, was made to stand to attention till he collapsed. He next went to
Wahn; he was in hospital suffering from a hernia. He has no complaints in hos-
pital and was then gent to Cassel, where he remained for the duration of the war.
First, at a farm, he has no complaints, but later, at a locomotive factory, which
turned out to be a munitions plant, for refusing to work, he was beaten and sus-
rained an injury to his knee, and his nose was bioken.  He was moreover con‘ined
to cells and generally abused. He was later beaten again and spent the lact six
months in hospital.  Claimant attributes a chest condition to exposure to the wet
while in cells. His knee does not now troub’e him.

The medieal record indicates that elaimaat suffers from sub-acute broachitis
and bronchial asthma and tachyeardia. The certifiemes of Drs. G, Blair Roze,
Dr. J. A. Key and Dr. F. B, Dav sie produced. attesting the foregoing state of
liealth.  Claimant’s medical hiswory files speak of bronehitis, asthima and a heart
condition, which form the bszis of hix pension award.

In this state of the record T do not consider that T ean reach a coaclusion
favourable to claimant. ¥ regard his present condition as due to general condi-
tions of the camp life in Germany and properly the®ubject of pension. Claimant
has thus failed to discharge the burden of showing a present disability resulting
nem maltreatment.  The elaim, aceordingly, fails and must be disallowed.

LRROL M. McDOUGALL,

Commissioner,
Orrawa, January 10, 1933.

CASE 2306—ROBERT CORDON MceMILLAN

Claimant was a Private in the 7th Battalion—Regimental No. 16920. He
cnlisted in Auguse 1914, at the age of 19 years and was taken prisoner Apnl 24,
1915, during the second bhattle of Ypres, suffeving from gas. He was released to
Holland in Marcl 1918 and reached England November 18 of that vear.  He is
not in receipt of pension, was married in 1925 and has two children.  Prior to
enlistment, 52 was  mployed as a garage mechanie, at about 23.50 per day and is
now on a farm at about $40 per month, not including hoard. .

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which has
resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of starvation, exposure,
hard labour and a blow on thé head with a rifie butt from which he now suffers
recurrent headaches.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Sent to Giessen, eclaimant was placed at work in the quarries and upo
refusal to work was returned to Gieszen. At Dedesheim, he beeame-ill, due to
lack of nourishment and was denied medical atiention for four months. When
he was finally allowed to sce a doctor he was afforded hospital treatment and
then given light work for six months. At Zerbst, he complains tlmt._ dogs were
kept for the purpose of preventing escape and these were set on the prisoners and
in the rush to the barracks he was struck on the head with a rifle butt and now
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carries the sear and suffers headaches and deafness in the right ear, The prisoners
were not provided with suflicient bedding, had to sleep on the floors and had no
fires, He developed rheumatism due to these conditions and from being foreed
to work in the rain. A declaration of John W, R. Mencar is filed. He was a
fellow prisoner and corroborates the story as to camp conditions at Giessen and
Zerbst,

The medieal record consists of a deelaration of Dr. R. F. Greer of Vancouver
to the effect that elaimant suffers from inflammatory rheumatism of ankles,
knees, hips, shoulders, elbows, wrists and fingers, and fixes the disability at 50
per cent. A letter from the National Hospital Association, of Portland, Oregon,
mdicates that claimant was treated by their Dr. W. A, Trimble for rheumatic
pains in both feet, in June 1926, in July of the same year by two other doctors of
their staff and in January 1927 by still two other doctors. A certificate of Dr.
D. A. Davis is produced to the effcet that claimant was a patient in hospital at
Kimberley, B.C,, in January 1930, with rheumatism, and had his tonsils removed.
A letter from Dr. Greer is also filed dealing with the headaches, ear condition
and rheumatism.  Claimant’s medical history files show nothing vrususnl.

Claimant’s rheumatie condition is his main disability. 1 do not consider
that he has shown that this dicability results from maltreatment. It is probably
the resnlt of general camp conditions in Germany to which all prisoners were
exposed, and, if properly proven, will constitute a claim for pension. The head
conditions—headaclhies—with some impairment of hearing is ascribed to the
blow on the head referred to. The extent of any disability resulting therefrom
has not been established nor are the circumstances surrounding the blow
explained with sufficient definiteness to permit of a finding that claimant now
suffers a disability in this respeet resulting from maltreatment. On the whole,
the claim fails and must be disallowed.

FERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Commissioner.

Orrawa. December 21, 1932,

CASE 2606—JAMES McPHERSON

Claimant was an Imperial soldier, who came to Canada in 1904, went back
to Scotland in 1912, intending to make a holiday visit, but renidiined longer than
he had planned and enlisted there when the war broke out. He served, as a
Private, in the 6th Gordons, 51st A Company—Regimental No. 41178, He was
taken prisoner April 11, 1918, near Lebasse, unwounded. He was repatriated to
England in November, 1918. He is not in receipt of pension and is unmarried.
Prior to the war, while in Canada, he was employed as a carpenter, at 50 cents
an hour, and is now unemployed and on relief.

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which

has resulted in"pecuniary damage to-him. -He complains of-being forced-to work.

while ill, of beatings and general abuse.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant was net taken to Germany but was put to work near Lille at
breaking up machinery and filling trucks and boats with the scrap, where he
frequently had to stop work due to shell fire. He was beaten on one occasion
when he reported sick. The food rations were scanty and the sanitary arrange-
ments lacking, especially at Fort McDonald, He contends that he now suffers
chiefly from nervousness.

The medical record consists of a certificate by Dr. Harold W. McGill, to
the cffect that claimant suffers “impaired cordiac muscular function resulting
in vascular hypotension,” loss of left eye -with disability ranging from 30 per
cent to 40 per cent. Iis medical history files are not available.
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Claimant was a prisoner for eight months only, and, although he served
behind the German lines, appears to have come off with comparatively little dis-
ability. His eye injury, on his own statement, was of post discharge date. A
very evident sense of i <mour apparently stoed elaimant in good stead. I eannnt
say, from the record, that he has shown a present disability resulting from mal-
treatment. He complains of general nervousness which is too indefinite to per-
mit of a finding in his favour. If established, it might be sufficient to give him
entitlement to pension. On the whole, I consider that claimant has failed to
discharge the burden resting upon him, and the claim must accordingly be dis-
allowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Commnuissioner,
Orrawa, December 21, 1932.

CASE 2635—JAMES MEARES

Claimant was a Private in the 3rd Battalion—Regimental No. 9695, He
enlisted in August, 1914, at the age of 39 years, and was taken prisoner April
24, 1915, during the second battle of Ypres, unwounded. He was repatriated
to England December 8, 1918. e is not in receipt of pension, was marrizd a
sccond time in June, 1927, and has no children. Prior to enlistment, he was
employed as & baggageman, earning about £80 per month, and is now unem-
ployed, although had been in a lumber yard averaging $60 per month.

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which
has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of a severe beating
with rifles, sustaining a broken nose, loss of teeth and an injured ankle.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant spent a few weeks at Giessen and was then sent to the Geisweid
Iron Works, where he served out the remainder of his period of captivity. He
decelares that immediately after capture and while en route to Roulers he received
a severe beating with rifle butts by German soldiers, his nose being broken, teeth
knocked out and his ankle crushed when a German cavalryman deliberately
rode over him with a horse. This beating, he states, was because he tried to
assist & wounded comarade by lifting him up. He was sent to hospital but
states he received no rnedical attention there. The ankle is stiil weak and gives
way under him periodically. He was sent to the coke ovens at Geisweid and
harassed continually while attempting to work.

The medical record consists of two certificates by Dr. R. F. Greer, who did
not appear before the Commission. He finds claimant’s eyesight and hearing
much below par and that he suffers from a disabled right ankle. Claimant’s
medical history files show nothing unusual. He was apparently discharged from
the service as fit.

Claimant is no longer young and must expect the passing years to take
their toll. - The incident of being beaten after capture-and deliberately trod upon
by a German Uhlan, with permanent injury to his ankle, is, I think, overstated.”
The latter injury was probably accidental in the sense that the German was
none too careful. I am inclined to think that claimant’s recourse, if any, is
before the Board of Pension Commissioners. Here, he has failed to dizcharge
the burden of showing disability resulting from maltreatment. The claim-must,

accordingly, be disallowed.

ceoraingly, he disa ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Commissioner,

OrTawa, December 28, 1932,
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CASE 2752—THOMAS MERCER

Claimant was a Private in the 44th Battalion—Regimental No. 829299,
e cnlisted December 1, 1915, at the age of 40 years and was taken prisoncr
April 12, 1917, suffering from shrapnel wounds in the right forearm and hip.
He was repatriated to Fngland December 7, 1918, e is not in receipt of pen-
ston and is unmarried.  Prior to enlistment, he was employed as a butcher
arning §85 per month, and is now a store manager, at 830 per wecek.

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to multreatment which
has resulted in pecuniary damage to him,  He complains of starvation, confine-
ment, and excessive labour, which has undermined his health, :

An analyvsis of the evidence reveals:—

First taken to hospital at Douai, claimant’s wounds were dressed and he
waz then transferved to hospital at Julieh, where, he contends, he suflered from
negleet, his wounds taking three months to heal.  He was then cent to Limburg
and placed at work in a eamp at Engers, digging drains, piling brick and unload-
mg coal. He states that the food was terrible and that upon refusing to work
on munitions he was placed in cells and threatened with death. When released.
after two days, he was placed at harder work in the smelters and could searcely
keep up with his tasks,  He now suffers cehiefiv from nervous disorders. '

The nedical record consists of a certificate by Dr. 1. L. Jamieson, who did
not appear before the Commission.  He notes the sears of claimant’s serviee
wounds and finds him suffering from nervousness and heart wouble due to his
experiences while a prisoner.  He fiixes his disability at 70 per cent. Claimant’s
medical history files show nothing unusual. He was apparently discharged as
fit,

’

There is very little evidenee of harsh treatinent in this record. Claimant
underwent the usual privations of camp life in Germany, and for a man of his
vears-—he is now 57—he appears to be in excellent physical condition. 1 eannot
find that he has established present disability resulting from maltreatment, the
nervousness and heart condition of which he speaks being quite general.
Claimant has thus failod te discharge the burden resting upon him. The claim
fails, and must be disatlowed.

FERROL M. McDOUGALL,

C'ommissioner.
Orrawa, December 27, 1932,

CASE 2549—JOIN MILES

Claimant. was a Sspper in the 2nd Canadian Engincers—Regimental No.
503492, He enlisted November 25, 1915, at the age of 23 years, and was taken
prisoner June 2, 1916, suffering from concussion duc to shell explosions. He
was repatriated to England December 14, 1918, He is in »eceipt of a 10 per
cent disability pension, recently granted, based on neurasthenin and pyorrbea.
He is unmarried.  Prior to enlistment, he was employed as a sheep hierder, at
850 per month and board, and has now resumed this occupation at 840 per
month and board. He allges that while a prisoner he was subjected to mal-
treatment which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of a
dislocated shoulder, the result of a blow from a rifle butt, abuse, starvation,
solitary confinement. and court-martial.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—-

Claimant was first taken to Dulmen, where he remained for two months.
Sent then to Duisburg, he worked at unloading canal barges, and received the
blow in the shoulder complained of for refusal to work. It is still troublesome.
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At Vanheim, he at{empted to escape and was given the usual solitary confine-
ment.  Attached to Munster No. 3, he was sent to the coal mines, where he
remained until the end of the war. He has no complaint as to the mines. He
suffers with his Leart, shoulder and bladder.

The medical record consists of the certificate of Dr. J. 8. Wray, indicating
*pain in left shoulder region on movement, objective signs nil,” with disability
rated at from 10 per cent to 25 per eent. _ )

Claimant confines his complaint of disability resulting from maltrcatiment
to his shoulder injury. While he may have been struck as stated, I do not think
that it necessarily follows that the condition now complained of results from
such blow. The evidence does not convince me that the disability is great or
that it is due to the cause stated. Claimant’s symptoms are purely subjeetive,
there is no ebjective evidence of injury, Claimant’s recourse, if any, is before
the Board of Pension Commissioners.  Before this Commission, the claim fails
and must be disallowed.

FRROL M. McDOUGALL,
O1taw, December 21, 1932, Commissioncr.

CASE 2755—CLIFFORD CLYNE MILLAR

Claimant was a Private in the 2nd Canadian Tunnelling Company—Regi-
mental No. 503290, He cenlisted Febrygary 4, 1915, at the age of 24 years and
was taken prisoner June 2, 1916, at Sanctuary Wood, unwounded. 1le was
repatriated to Lngland December 16, 1918. He is not in receipt of pension,
was married in May, 1922, arnd has two children. Prior to enlistment, he was
a coal miner, earning an average of #5 per day, and is now fire bosg, at $160 per
month. _

He alleges that while a prizoner he was subjected to maltreatment which
has resulted in pecuniury damage to him, Ie complains of having been over-
worked in the coal mines, foréed to stand to attention for long periods, confine-
ment to cells, starvation and bad food, and of being struck with a rifle on the
hack and with a bayonet on the head and nose.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant was first sent to Dulmen, where his complaint is as to the poor
rood.  He was soon sent to the coal mines, at Ospel No. 1, where he remained for
two years and four months. He states that the mines were badly ventilated and
poorly maintained and that the bosses drove them to work with rubber hose,
and, in narticular, forced claimant to work while unfit. When he refused to do
extra lai-our, he was compelled to stand to attention and confined to cells. In
one melee, due to refasal to work, he received cuts on the hand and nose by =
bayvonet and blow on the back with a rifle butt, but no serious permanent
disability resulted. .

No medical testimony was adduced nor any medical certificate filed.
Claimant’s medical history files do ot show any disability. He was apparently
fit upon discharge. " cq -

The record is quite incomplete in this case. There is no medical evidence
of present disabilitv. Claimant appeared to be in excellent health when he
appeared before the Commission. He complained only of haemorrhoids, which
he attributes to long hours standing to attention. A wound in the hand from a
bayonet has left no disability. Clearly, claimant has failed to discharge the
burden of showing a present disability duc to maltreatment. Possibly, due to
the fact that he was a miner, he came through his experiences in the coal mines
practically without disability. The claim fails, and must be disallowed.

ERROL M, McDOUGALL,
Orrawa, December 27, 1932. Commissioner.
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CASE 2579—ALBERT E. MILLS

Claimant was a Private in the 50th Battalion—Regimental No. 447152.
He enlisted May 27, 1915, at the age of 23 years and was taken prisoner June 3,
1917, suffering from gunshot wounds in the arm, hip and leg. He was released
in Holland in August, 1918; and reached England on the 18th of that month.
He is in receipt of a 60 per cent disability pension, -amounting to $49.50 per
month, based on the amputation of the right leg. Ile is unmarried. Prior to
enlistment, he was a railroad fireman, carning about $100 per month, and is
now employed as a barber but only on part time, earning $4 to $10 per week.

He alleges that while held prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which
has resulted in peeuniary damage to him. He complains of starvation and
abuse.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—-

Claimant was a stretcher ease, when captured, and his leg, which had been
shattered, was removed immediately. At Aachen, in hospital, he states the
treatment was bad and the dressings neglected. He contends that the amputa-
tion was improperly performed by the German surgeon. He remained in hos-
pital during the entire period of his eaptivity and complains of beatings, which
tore the fiésh off the stump of his leg.

The medical record consists of a certificate by (doctor’s name indecipher-
able) referring to the amputation and fixing the disability at 50 per cent.

laimant’s medieal history files show prolonged hospital treatment extending
from date of repatriation until January, 1920,

Claimant’s complaint is that his wounded leg did not receive proper surgical
attention, and that, had he received better {reatment, his disability would not
now be so great as it is. The evidence does not substantiate this coutention.
It was clearly necessary to amputate what remained of his leg and the record
does not diselose that there was any surgical or medical neglect at the time of
the operation or thereafter. The case is purely one for the consideration of the
Board of Pension Commissioners. Before this Commission, the elaim fails and

must. be disallowed,
ERROIL M. McDOUGALL,

Commaissioner
Orrawa, December 21, 1932,

CASE 2526—ROBERT MORLEY

Claimant was a Private in the 7th Battalion—-Regimental No. 16663. e
cnlisted in August, 1914, at the age of 26 years, and was taken prisoner April
24, 1915, during the sccond battle of Ypres, suffering from gunshot wound in the
right foot. He was repatriated to England December 21, 1918. He is in receipt
of a 20 per cent disability pension, amounting to $30 per month, based on the
wound in the right foot and amputation of three toes and arthritis of tle great
right toe.  He was married in May, 1926, and has four children. Prior to enlist-
ment, he was employed as a boiler-maker, at $150 per month, and is now unem-
ploved, his last job being as a steel-worker, carning up to $150 per month.

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which
has resulted in pecusiary damage to him. He complains of an operation with-
out anaesthetic, of being beaten with a horsewhip while lying wounded, that he
sustained n rupture while engaged in heavy labour, starvation, confinement,
and a blow in the back of the neck with a bayonet.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

While travelling to Germany, as a stretcher case, claimant relates that at
Ohrdruf station he was horsewhipped by a German civilian, while lying wounded
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in an open truck. In the lnzaret at Ohrdruf he was operated upon without anacs-
thetic and three toes were amputated. While working on a farm, using wheel-
barrows, he states he sustained a rupture in the left side due to pushing heavy
barrows. If unable to do the required work, the farmer would confine him for
three days in a cellar on bread and water. At Cassel, he was employed at cut-
ting wood, and, being unable to keep up with the required loads, he was trans-
ferred to Langensalza, whence he was placed on another farm, Here, while
unloading hay, he reported sick and the sentry drew his bayonet, struck claimant
on the side of the head, knocking -him-down. -He .was then left for ten days in
a wet cellar, He then began to notice that he was deaf.

Dr. W. C. Walsh appeared and testified that he examined the claimant and
found him quite deaf, nervous, and attributes the deafness to the blow with the
bayonet followed by the dampness in the cellar from which he caught cold. His
certifieate on file indicates a fine scar, 2 inches long, on left side of neck just
beiow tip of mastoid process, which would show evidence of being wounded by
a bayonet, ‘

A report from military headquarters is filed which recites “ there are no
entries on hospitalization cards, medical case shects, or medical boards, nor on
regimental documents, which would indicate that this man had a sear on the
back of his neck, resulting from a bayonet wound and causing deafness.” The
Pensions and National Health file of this ex-soldier has also been examined and
no mention is made of this sear on his neck. Turther, in his own statements,
Morley has at no time mentioned this disability oi made claim for pension or
treatment on account of this wound or for deafness, _

Claimant’s explanation of the manner in which his deafness arose is not con-
vincing. I am inclined to think that this condition was induced by an infeetion
which has nothing to do with the blow referred to. While claimant was roughly
treated, I do not think that the record establishes any connexity between his
present state of health and maltreatment. I regard his case as purely pension-
able in nature, The claim, accordingly, fails and must be disallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

Commaissioner,
OrTAwa, January 10, 1933.

CASE 2633—ARCHIBALD MORRISON

The claimant was an Imperial soldier, n Private in the Argyle and Suther-
land Highlanders—Regimental No. 8772. He came to Canada to reside for the
first time in September, 1920. He cnlisted in August, 1914, was taken prisoner
on August 27, 1914, unwounded, and repatriated to England in Nov?mbcr,
1918. He is not in reccipt of pension. He is married and has two children.
Prior to enlistment, claimant was a street car conductor, earning 27 shillings
ner week. He is now a foundry helper, at $3.80 per day. ) )

It was explained to claimant at the hearing that, as an I_mperml soldier
who first came to Canada in September, 1920, he wes without right before this
Commission. It is only in the esses of Imperial soldiers who were re‘sxdcnt« in
Canada previous to January 10, 1920, datc of ratification of the Treaty of
Versailles, that this Commission has jurisdietion to entertain their claims (See
my earlier report upon maltreatment cases). Reserving, therefore, to claimant
all his recourses, and, without deciding the ease upon its merits, the elaim must
be disallowed before this Commission.

ERROL M, McDOUGALL,
--------- Commnussioner. .
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CASE 2747—THOMAS MICHAEL MULLINS

Claimant was a Corporal in the 7th Battalion—Regimental No. 16576.
He enlisted in September, 1914, at the age of 34 years and was taken prisoner
on April 24, 1915, at the sccond battle of Ypres, unwounded but suffering from
gas. Me was repatriated in March, 1918. He is in receipt of a 15 per cent dis-
ability pension, amounting to $11.25 per month, based upon defective hearing.
He is unmarried.  Prior to enlistment, claimant was a marine fireman, earning

- -850-per month.— He -has been unemployed for two years. .

Claimant alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains that having
been certified as unfit for transfer to Switzerland, he was not permitted to g0
and was compelled to work. He suffers from a chest condition.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant was first taken to Gieszen, and complains only of the food Sent
ont to a chemieal plant near Frankfurt, he suffered from the fumes. Uunable
to stand this work, he was returned to Giessen and sent on to Oberlanstein, where
he worked in the freight sheds. Suffering with his chest, he received no medical
attention and eomplaing of the long hours of work. Sent back to Giessen, he
was passed for the Swiss Comunission as unfit, sent to Mulheim, awaiting transfer,
but was then sent to Zerbsy for 14 years, He was not made to work and has
no complaints of maltreatment, except as to general negleet and, in particular,
failure to treat his cars, which were running. A number of certificates have been
filed testifying highly to elaimant’s character.

The medical record indicates that claimant suffers from defective hearing
and apparently had tubereulosis at one time, which appears to have been arrested.
He is stated to be 75 per cent disabled. Dr. MacCallum, who certifics to the fore-
going, cid not appear before the Commission. A certificate of Dr. D. M. Baillie
is aleo produced, containing a diagnosis of chronie bronehitis—mediastinitis, with
the statoment that the condition probably results from service.

Claimant told a very straightforward story of his experiences in Germany.
The car condition, for which he receives pension, eannot be aseribed to maltreat-
ment whilst a prisoner. It was of service origin. Nor do I think that claim-
ant has been suceessful in showing that the bronchial condition from which
he suffers is to he ascribed to maltreatment. It is more the result of general
conditions of camp life in Germany. On the whole, claimant has failed to dis-
charge the burden of showing a present disability resulting from maltreatment.
His recourse, if any, is elsewhere. Before this Commission, the claim fails and
must be disallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

Orrawa, January 9, 1933, Commissioner.

CASE 2765—-GLORGE McLEAN MUNRO

The claimant was a Private with the 16th Battalion--Regimental No.
429226. He enlisted in March, 1915, with the 47th, at the age of 21 years, and
was taken prisoner on October 1, 1918, wounded in the right thigh. He was
repatriated to England in December, 1918. Claimant is in receipt of a 15 per
cent disability pension, based upon his leg injury. He is unmarried. Prior to
enlistment, he was employed as a bank clerk, carning about $58 per month. He
is now unemployed but has worked in the mines.

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which
has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains that his wounds were

ir;adcquntely and improperly attended, which has resulted in aggravated dis-
ability,
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An analysis of the evidence reveals:

val Claimant was o 'pr‘isonnr for about 24 months, which time he spent at
alenciennes and Gustrow. He confines his complaint to the lack of trentment
for his wound, which became septic. He alleges that. the wound wuas then
improperly probed with what ko describes as a “ metal probe.” This is alleged
to have injured the bone, necessitating operations when claimant returned home.
Claimant does not complain of any particular physieal abuse but stresses the
lack of medical treatment. Apparenty claimant had an aceident while working
in the mines after dizcharge, but whedher the injury then sustained aggravated
his condition has not been made ¢leay.. e -

There is no medical evidence of record, not even the usual certificate of a
physician.  Claimant relies upon his medieal Tistory files as showing his dis-
ability.  These reveal nothing umusual, the disabled thigh, for which he is in
receipt of pension, being referred to, with some neurosis, following an accident
to the hand, post discharge.

Claimant has failed to show in what manner the treatment he reeeived has
avgravated his disabilitv. His log was dressed and apparently he received some
~urgieal attention. 1t is quite impos¢ible to infer, from the record, that ke was
the vietim of any malpractice which has left him with a_greater disability than
he would otherwize have had. Claiimant has failed to discharge the burden of
showing a present disability resulting from maltreatment.  His claim is purely
pensionable in nature.  Before this Commission, the claim fails and must he
disallowed.

ERROL M. MceDOUGALL,

Commissioncr.

Orrawa, January 6, 1933,

CASE 2639--FERNEST NOBLE

Claimant was a Lauce Corporal in the 29th Battalion—Regimental No.
76150. He enlisted in January, 1915, at the age of 34 years, and was taken
prisoner on April 19, 1916, wounded above the left eye. He was repatriated to
ngland in January, 1919. He is not in receipt of pension, was married in 1919
and has one child. Prior to cnlistment, claimant was a carpenter, earning $4.50
per day. He is now unemployed but when working as a carpenter carns about
&1 per hour.

Claimant alleges that while a prisoner, he was subjected o maltreatment
which has resulted in peeuniary damage to him. e has not filed the usual state-
ment of claim, but has produced an affidavit containing a statement of the mal-
treatment upon which he relies.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant does not complain of his treatment at field dressing stations nor at
Courtzai. At a stone quarry, he complains of being made to stand to_attention
for long periods during three weeks and confinement to cells for refusal to work.
Claimant tells a confused story of an attack by guards when the prisoners struck
and he was apparently hit over the head by a guard with his fist. During the
melee, claimant threw a couple of guards down stairs, He was beaten in cells
and tried by court-martial at Fricderichsfeld. Sentenced to death, upon appeal,
the sentence was reduced to six years' imprisonment. Copy and translation of
the court-martial sentence is filed showing confirmation of a sentence for
“insubordination in the ficld,” term of imprisonment unstated. He served seven
months of this sentence in Cologne gaol. As a result of his experiences, he suffers
from nervousness and a gencral run-down condition.
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‘The medical record indieates that claimant suffers frem “ debility, insomnia,
headaches, praceordial pain, dizziness and inability to work at any elevation.”
His percentage of disability is stated at from 50 per cent to 90 per cent. Dr.
Colin MacDiarmid, who certifies_to the foregoing, did not appear before the
Commission.  There is also filed certificate- of Dr. 0. &, Large, certifying to a
_ condition of neurasthenia, sleeplessness, irritability, morbidness and loss of weight.
Claitnant’s medieal history files show nothing unusual.

Claimant’s condition of neurasthenia is quite general in nature and such as
would be probable to result, as in the ease of other prisoners, from conditions of
camp life in Germany. On the evidence, I cannot say that the court-martial
which claimant underwent was so unfair and unjustified as to constitute ma'treat-
ment. It evidently arose out of a more or less serious disturbance amongst the
prisoners. On the whole, I consider that claimant’s recourse, if any, is before the
Board of Pension Commissioners. Before this Commission, the claim fails and

must be disallowed.
ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Orrawy, January 10, 1933. Commissioner.

] CASE 2283 —ALBERT H. NURSE

Notice of claim on behalf of the elaimant was reecived from the Canadian
Legion at Ottawa, in January, 1931, The usual claim forms were sent him, but
have not been returved.  Filed with the applieation are copies of affidavits pur-
porting to have been exceuted Ly two fellow-prisoners, from which it would appear
that claimant enlisted with the 8th Battalion, Canadian Expeditionary Forces,
and was teken prisoner on April 24, 1918, and spent some time at Munster eaiap
and in a camp on the Russian front.  Ciaimunt’s military record zhows that an
application for pension is pending before the Board of Pension Commissioners,
based on neurasthenia, myositis, neuritis and bronchitis.  The medical record
dizeloses that upon dizcharge all svstems were found normal.

Claimant was notified to appear before the (ommission at its Ottawa ses-
sions on July 27, 1932, but. failed 4 do so. The record discloses no communica-
tion from the elaimant and no effort on his part. to press or substantiate his
cliim. In these cirecnmstanees, the elaim fails and must be disallowed for want

af proseeution.
- ERROIL M. McDOUGALL,

Commissioner.
Orrawa, February 9, 1933.
_ﬁ CASE 2379—EDWARD O'CONNOR
';‘- . Claim:mt was a Private in the 44th Battalion--Regimental No. 820509. He
" culisted April 4, 1916, at the age of 29 years, wus taken prisoner August 23,

1917, unwounded, and was repatriated to Eugland on December 7, 1918. He is
not in receipt of a pension, was married Novermber 10, 1919, and has five
children. Prior to enlistment, he was employed as locomotive fireman, earning
3140 per month and is now a clerk in the Civil Service of Canada, at a salary
of 81,728 per annum.

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjscted to maltreatment which
has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of forced labour in the
coal mine: and that he was strueck on the hand with a shovel by a miner in
cinrge. The blew split epen his hand. He received frequent blows with pick
handles, and another blow on the leg with a rifle butt, which disabled him for
some time and still troubles him.
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An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant was first taken to Douai and sent on to Dulmen camp. He has
no complaints of his treatment at either place, but was not so fortunate at the
coal mines near Essen, where he spent the remainder of his period of captivity.
He encountered the usual rough wsage; had his hand split open by a shovel in
the har.ds of a guard, and upon another occasion was hit on the leg by a guard
when he interfered with the punishment being meted out to another prisoner.
Although thisg Iatter wound troubled him at the time, claimant does not suffer
any disability therefrom at the present time- but fears operative treatment may
vet be necessary and it is because of this apprehension that he now asserts a
claim. He has not consulted a physician for ten years and is apparently in
waod condition.

Claimant has produced no medical evidence and declares that he is unable
to do so. His medical history files show nothing unusual. A suspected heart
condition was later found to be groundless.

Claimant told his story in a very frank and convincing manner, but in the
absence of evidence of a present disability from a medical point of view, it is
impossible for me to speculate upon a possible disability which may arise in the
future. Should occasion arise, I have no doubt that claimant will receive con-
sideration at the hands of the Pension Commissioners. "The claim fails before

1his Commission and must be disallowed.
ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Orrawa, December 15, 1932. Commissioner,

CASE 1985—\WILLIAM AGAR O'GRADY

Claimant enlisted as a Lieutenans in the 8th Battalion, and held that rank
when taken prisoner on April 24, 1915, at the second battle of Ypres. When
captured he was wounded in the right leg and arm. He was transferred to
Switzerland, as medically unfit, on August 11, 1916. He is m receipt of a 40
per cent disability pension, based upon the wound in his leg.

The claim is unusual in that no claim is made for disability resulting from
maltreatment. Claimant merely seeks to recover the amount which he was
compelled to pay for a room which he occupied, in hospital, at Paderborn, from
April, 1915, to February, 1916--the amount being stated at $180.

Filed with claimant’s medical history files is a very complete statement
msde by claimant upon repatriation. The recital of eclaimant’s experiences
in Germany, from the time of capture to his exchange to Switzerland, iz most
interesting. Far from charging the Germans with maltreatment, he speaks
of his treatment and that of other prisoners, as excellent, and praises the
Cierman medical and surgieal services. Fvery consideration would appear to
have been extended to claimant. He declares that the Canadians were par-
ticularly well treated, in this differing from the stories told by the great majority
of claimants heard before the Commission.

The claim, as presented, secking to recover a sum_of money illegally
charged to PFiiu whilst a prisoner, cannot be maintained. It appears frem the
statement 1made by him that he voluntarily agreed to make the payment in
question ana was quite satisfied with the arrangement made. I do not think
that a charge so made and accepted is to be regarded as maltreatment within
the meaning of the relevant sections of the Treaty of Versailles. Had_the
money beent eavrted under threats of abuse, the situation might have been
different. On the whale, the claim fails and must be disallowed.

BRROI: M. McDOUGA WL
Commissioner,
Orrawa, January 6, 1933.
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CASE 2739—WILLIAM O'ROURKE

Claiimant was a Lance Corporal in the 2nd Battalion—Regimental No
8013, He cnlisted in August, 1914, at the age of 25 years and was taken prizoner
April 24, 1915, during the =econd battle of Ypres, unwounded. He wus repa-
triated to Iingland December 14, 1918, e ix not in reeeipt of pension, was
married in May 1920 and has no children.  Prior to enlistment, he was emploved
as a telephone linesman, at $2.75 per day, and iz now a city fireman, at $95
per month,

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which
has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of stomach disorders
and constipation due to under-nourishment, and confinement while a prisoner.

An analvsis of the evidence reveals: —

Claimant was attached to Giessen camp during the entire period of his
aptivity.  He worked at Geisweidd in the iron works and complains only of the
food. te was returned to camp, having added another stripe to his tunie and
was placed in the post oflice. In the spring of 1918, he was moved to a farm.
Previously he received 24 days’ cells for an attempt to ezeape. e sustained very
little brutal treatment other than 10 hours drill per day in woolen sabots and
an oceasional kick or blow. The record contains a declaration by W. J. Phillips,
Chief of the Tire Department at Sault Ste. Marie, Ontario, to the effect that
claimant has to be given light duty due to his condition and weak back. A
declaration by Thos. A. Hynes, who has known claimant for 20 years, states
that he does not enjoy the robust health he possessed before the war.

No medieal evidenee was adduced at the hearing, the record consisting of a
certificate by Dr. AL Sinclair, indicating gastritis and constitpation, with dis-
ability from 30 per cent to 75 per cent. Claimant’s medieal history files show
nothing whiech indicates disabilities resulting from maltreatment.

This ease presents practically no features of maltreatment in the way of
physieal abuse.  Claimant appears to have been very fairly treated by his captors.
His disabilities at the present time are' purely nutritional in origin and do not
give rise to an award for reparations. For reasons which have been explainad
in general opinion annexed to my carlier report upon maltreatment eases, condi-
tions of camp life in Germany unless aggravated by special cireumstances are
not to be regarded as maltreatment.  The mere fact that claimant was held as a
prisoner does not entitle him to an award. The claim fails and nust be dis-

allowed.
ERROL M. Mc¢DOUGALL,

Commissionci.
Orrawa, Junuary 18, 1933.

CASE 2645-—GEORGE E. ORR

Claimant was a Private in the 7th Battalion—Regimental No. 17155. He
enlisted in August, 1914, at the age of 28 years, and was taken prisoner April 24,
1915, wounded in the back (bayonet). He was repatriated to England in Decem-
ber, 1918. He is not in receipt of pension; was married in September, 1921,
and has one child. Prior to enlistment, he was a farmer, carning $3.50 per day,
and now operates a small farm and works for the British Columbia Nurseries,
carning $72 per month.

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment whick
has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of bheing beaten into
unconseiousness, hard labour in the stone quarriewxposure to the weather, which
has resulted in neuritis and lumbago.
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An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant declares that immediately after capture he wag beaten and injured
by his eaptors while being made to drag a machine gun. Sent on to Giessen,
¢laiman$ complains of the cruel and rough treatment of kis wounds by the doctor
and alleges that septic poisoning resulted therefrom which laid him up for nine
months. He was then sent out to work in the stone quarries where the food was
insufficient, the work heavy and the abuse general. IHe speaks of being made to
work in wet weather without change of clothing. Ie remained here over two
vears and also worked in a nearby factory, when, finally he was sent to a small
farm where conditions were better. To these experiences claimant attributes a
condition of neuritis and lumbago.

The meaical record indicates that claimaat is ¢ subject to attacks of lumbago
and neuritis if he overworks or cxposes himself te inclement weather” 1is
percentage of disability is stated at 20 per cent in his own ealling and at 15 per
cent in the general labour market. Dr. R. McCafirey, who certifies to the fore-
«oing, did not appear bhefore the Commission. Claimant's medical history files
show nothing unusual. Tt is significant that claimant has not applied for pension,
hecause he does not regard himself as sertously disabled.

In this state of the record it is impossible to reach a finding in claimant's
favour. Whatever disability he may suffer as the result of his experiences in
(iermany can only be aseribed to general camp conditions and cannot he regarded
as maltreatment (See general Opinion annexed to my ecarlier report upon mal-
treatment cases).  Claimant has failed to discharge the burden of showing a
present disability resulting from maltreatment.” His claim, if any, is cl=cwhere.
The claim is aceordingly disallowed.

FRROL M. McDOUGALL,

Orrawa, January 6, 1933. Conmmissioner.

CASE 2446—ARTHUR JAMES PALMER

Claimant was a Private in the 8th Battalion—Regimental No. 92, He
enlisted in Angust, 1914, at the age of 24 years and was taken prizoner April 26.
1915, during the sccond battle of Ypres, unwounded, but gassed. He was repa-
wiated to Eagland December 30, 1918, He is in receipt of a 40 per cent dis-
ability pension, amounting to 830 per month, based on neurasthenia, flat feet
and bronehitis. He iz unmarried.  Prior to enlistment, he was employved as an
clevator operator, earning $13 per week and is now a packer of sashes and doors,
at about £30 per month. .

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatmaent. which
has resulted in peeuniary damage to him. He complaing of poor foad, exposure,
seneral il {reatment and an injury to his back.

An analvsis of the evidence reveals:

Taken to Roulers, claimant was transferred to Munster No. 1. where he has
no complaints At Gutersloh a short time, he was then sent to Dulmen, thence
to some of the Munster works, where, for refus’.g to work he was compelled to
ctand to attention in the rain and was denied food. Ie wis then moved to
Dulmen and Niedershalden, where he took sick and wes placed in hospital but
reccived no treatment. He was next returned to Munster and put at work
attending horses. He was subjected to gene «al rough usage. Finally, he arrived
at Wurzburg, in Bavaria, and was placed on farm work. Here he was sent to
hospital for an operation and was ordered out of bed three days later. Tor
refusing to get up, he was given two weeks' zolitary confinement. He stresses
thic as the worst incident of maltreatment received. together with being forced
to work while ill. He now suffers from lumbago, heart disorders, stomach and
chest conditions.
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There i no medical evidence of record, not even the usual certificate of o
physician.  Claimant’s medical history files, upon discharge, show “all systems
normal,” exeept the respiratory system.

Claimant was subjected to rough usage of a general nature, but I do not
consider that he has established that bis present disabilities result from mal-
treatment. I a chest and neurasthenie condition exists, it must be held to result
from general condition of camp life in Germany (See general Opanton annexed
to my carlier report upon maltreatment eases). Claimant’s case is covered by
action of the Board of Pension Commissioners.  As far as this Commission iz
ccncerned, the elaim fails and must he disallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

Commissioner,
Orrawa, December 21, 1932,

CASE 2786—WILLIAM JOHN PALMER

Claimant was a Private in the 3rd Canadian Mounted Rifles—Regimental
No. 108419. ec enlisted on the January 13, 1915 at the age of 26 years and
was taken prisoner on the 2nd of June, 1916, unwounded. At the time of
capture he was deaf, having been injured two months hefore by shell shock.
He was repatriated to England on Novemher 27, 1918. He is in receipt of 60
per cent disubility pension, amounting to £69 a month based upon deafness,
rheumatism and heart trouble. Claimant is married and has two children, one
adopted.  Prior to enlistment. he was cmployed as teamster in a lumber
camp, earning $2.50 a day. He is now janitor in a school, at a salary of $58
a month,

Claimant alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him, He complains of hard work,
exposure to the weather, and accidental imjury to his finger and ageravation
of his impaired hearing due to lack of medical treatmen.,

An analysis of the evidence reveals:

Claimant was first taken to Dulmen, where he remained about five months
and has no complaint as to the treatment. He was then sent out on a working
party to Oberhausen where he remained until the Armistice. His ears were
running, but he was denied medieal attention and declares that he was knocked
about on several oceasions for not working fast enough, but does not com-
plain of any particular physieal bratality. He complains that working in the
wot brought on a condition of rhewmatism from which he still suffers and adds
that no change of clothing was supplied for the prisoners. He has dizzy spell;
and suffers from his heart,

The medical record indicates that elaimant suffers chiefly from rheu-
matism and heart trouble which is attributed to lack of proper food, hard
work, exposure, and lessened resistance.  His percentage of disability is stated
at 70 per cent. Dr. Oliver Boyd, who certifies to the foregoing, did not appear
beforc the Commission. Claimant also files certificate of Dr. Howard C. Dixon,
referring to treatment given claimant for heart. condition and rheumatism
since 1927, as also for defective hearing.  Claimant’s medieal history files
refer to the conditions above noted.

Claimant’s deafness preceded the time of his eapture and T do not think
the record dicloses that this condition beeame aggravated from any lack
of treatment or maltreatment while prisoner. His remaining disabilities
would appear to be the result of work and general conditions of camp life in
Germany. For reasonz which have been explained in my earlier reports upon
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maltreatment cases, 1 do not consider that such disability is to be regarded
as the result of maltreatment. Claimant’s recourse is clearly before the Board
of Pension Commissioners. Before this Commission, the claim fails and must
be disallowed.

IFRROL M. McDOUGALL,
Orrawa, January 12, 1933. Commissioner.

CASE 2616—ALFRED CHARLES PEARCE

Claimant enlisted in South Africa and served with the South African
scottish Battalion, overseas Regimentsl No, 6103, with the rank of Sergeant.
le was born in England March 29, 1883, and enlisted in August, 1914, at the
age of 31 years. He was taken prisoner Mareh 23, 1918, wounded with shrapunel
in the side, spine and leg. He was repatriated to Ingland December 3, 1918,
and arrived in Canada to take up residence March 20, 1920. He is not now in
receipt of & pension, although he had been reeciving 20 per cent disability from
the South African Government, amounting to 8 shillings per week. It was
increased to 60 per cent, giving him $30 per month, but was discontinued. He
was married in July, 1917, and has one child. Prior to enlistment, he was
emploved as an hotel clerk, ai £6 per week and board, and since discharge, has
heen a grocery clerk and carned up to $24 per week but had to abandon this
work, on account of ill health, and he is now anemployed.

Claimant is without right before this Commission, because he beeame resi-
dent in Canadp after January 10, 1920. As explained in earlier Opinions
annexed to my previous reports, that date was fixed as constitutive of jurizdic-
tion, being the date upon which the Treaty of Versailles was ratified.  Claim-
ant’s Trecourse, if any, is clsewhere. Reserving to him all other recourses, andd,
without deciding the casc upon its merits, the claim must be disallowed for

want of jurisdiction.
IRROT: M. McDOUGALL,
O1rAWA, December 13, 1932, Comniissioner.

CASE 2781—ARTHUR MARK PEARCE

Claimant was a Private in the First C.M.R—Regimental No. 424415 He
enlizted in December, 1914, at the age of 27 years and was taken prisoner on
June 2, 1916, suSering from shrapnel wounds in the back. He was repatriated
to Fngland on Novmoer 16, 1918. He is not in recdipt of pension and is un-
‘narried. Prior to enlistment, he was employed on delivery work, oqrning $15
per week. He is now unew.ployed, but was engaged at the C.P.R. freight sheds
at Transcona, at the rate of 50 cents per hour.

Claimant alleges that while a prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreat-
ment which has restlted in pecuniary damage to him. He has not filed any
statement of claim or other documents.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

After some medical attention behind the lines, claimant was sent to Cassel.
where he remained two months in hospital. Before his wounds had healed.
he was sent out.to a farm and has no complaints of the treatment. He was
then sent to the coal mines at Dusseldorf, where he remained for 22 months
‘icking coal and working underground. He complains of the long hours, general
rovgh treatment and beatings. He was forced to work wher unfit and com-
pla.ns generally that he was considerably maltreated. He received no attention
for an injured foot and was finally sent to Friedrichsfeld about six months
before the Armistice. He complains that the suffers from hiz stomach which
he defines az “fallen stomach.”

]
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There iz no medical evidence of record, not even the usual certificate of
physician.  Claimant’s medieal history files show nothing unusual, claimant
appearing to have been dizcharged without disability, o _

The record is quite incomplete in this ease and it is impossible to reach
a finding in claimant’s favour. His experienees in the coal mines, while un-
doubtedly harsh, have not been shown to have resulted in any permanent dis-
ability. Hix stomach condition, if it eauses disability, is, 1 consider, properly
2 matter for the consideration of the Board of Pension Commissioners,  As far
as this Commission ix concerned, the elaim fails and must be disallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Orrawa, December 21, 1932, : Commissioner.

CASE 2568—HUGH WHITE PHILLIPS

Climant was a Private in the King’s Own Lancashire Regiment—an
Imperial unit. He first enlisted in October 1910, and went overseas with the
12th _briga-le, Fourth Division—Regimental No. 1697. Tlo was taken prisoner
May 3. 1915, at Ypres. and was repatriated December 30, 1918, He s not in
receipt of pension and is unmarried.  He did not come to Canada to reside
until June, 1920, and it was explained to him that this Commission had no
Jurizdietion to entertain the elaim as he had not established residence in Canada
prior to Januery 10, 1920, the date constitutive of jurisdietion (See my earlier
reports dealing with the question of jurisdietion).

Reserving to elaimant all other recourses, and, without deciding the case
apon itz meriis, the elaim must bhe disallowed as far az this Commission i«
concerned. A

ERRCL M. McDOUGALL,
Orrawa, Janua:v 13, 1933. Commissioner.

CASE 2758—ALFRED W. PHILP

Claimant was a Private in the 4th MR —TRegimental No. 144827. He
enlisted August 15, 1915, at the age of 19 years and was taken prizoner June 2,
1916. suflering with a slight flesh wound in the left hip. He was repatriated to
England January 16, 1919, e 1= not in receipt of pension.  Prior to enlist-
ment, fie was a machinist apprentice. carning about 840 per month and is now
memployed but is a railway macllinist by trade, earning about $130 per month
when as work. ,

He alleges theit while a prisener he was subjeeted to maltreatment which
has resulied in pecuniary damage ‘o him. He complains chiefly of an injury to
his head cue to a Leating wizh titie vetts and now =uffers practically continuous
headaehes, periodie Sts aned aizzy pells,

An anglysis of the evidenee revesls: —

First at Dulmer: for about two months elaimant makes no complaint. He
then spent a vesr at Minden working on a canal. Here he received a week's
confinement for addressing a eivilian and 21 days further cells for no apparent
reason.  His next experience was at Locberg coal minez where he spent more
than a vear, working under ground. The usual conditions prevailed and for
making attempts to escape claimant was given solitary confinement and on one
oceasion was struck over the head with a rifle for not moving fast enough. This
blow has had permarent after effects. He suffers from dizzy spells and head-
aches. In August, 1918, he was sent to Friederichsfeld and in October to German
Palnd where he was kept until New Year's Eve,
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No medical certificate is filed—-claimant referring to his pension and inedical
hisg‘otry files. These show nothing unusual. He was discharged from the service
a5 N1,

The record in this case is incomplete.  There is no medical evidence estab-
lishing a present disability.  Claimant’s mere statement that the blow he received
on the head has left him with dizzy spells and headaches is not conclusive. He
appears to have been rorghly handled but T do not consider that the record dis-
closes & permanent disability resulting from maltreatment. 'The ¢ ~im has not
heen established and mus: be disallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

Commissioncy,
Urrawa, December 27, 1932,

CASE 2795—-FRANK HOWARD PILLAR

Claimant was a Private in the 3rd Battalion—Regimental No. 9710, He
enlisted in August. 1814, at the age of 16 years, and was taken prizoner April 24,
1915, at thie sccond battle of Ypres, unwounded, but slightly gassed. He was
repatriated to Fngland in December, 1918 He is in receipt of a & per cent
disability pension, amounting to 83.75 per month, based upon sinusitis. He is
married and has no children. Prior to enlistment, he was a student. He is now
unemployed but has been an Investigator for the Federal Laboratories, Pitts-
burgh, at a salary of $225 per month and expenses.

Claimant alleges that while a prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreat-
ment which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He has not completed
the usual statement of claim, but in a special memorandum speaks of arduous
and degrading work, confinement to cells, exposure in wet weather, beatings,
denial of medical treatment, starvation, and in particular of a blow from a
rifle butt over the eye, causing permanent injury.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:— ;

Claimant was first taken to Giessen, and sent out to a farm, where the work
was heavy and the food scarce. Later sent o Lichtenhorst, for three months,
he has no complaints. He was then sent to Vordenemoor, where he remained for
the duration of the war. He complains of being made to work in the water,
and was gtruck in the face with the butt of a rifle for not working satisfactorily.
After some time at Osnabruck and Alhorn. elaimant was sent to work in a clay
pit where he was again hit over the head by a guard and knocked unconscious.
For attempted eseapes, claimant veceived the usual confinement to cells, and
<cems to have spent time at Saltau and Munster. Claimant complains of head-
aches, nervousness and impaired eyesight. Claimant made a detailed statement
upon repatriation, which refers only to maltreatment to one, Keenan. He
makes no mention of any maltreatment to himself. He has also filed the certi-
ficates of a number of relatives and friends, attesting chiefly to constant head-
aches complained of by claimant since his return. He also files a certificate
from a fellow prisoner (Kittredge) corroborating the fact of the blows on the
head referred to by claimant.

The mediczl record consists of the testimony of Dr. A. C. Ricker, who first
attended claimant in 1920. He speaks of a condition of frontal sinus and general
inlammation of the throat and is inclined to connect the present condition with
the treatment reccived by claimant as told to him. Dr. T. T. Samis files a
certificate, certifying to some impairment of vision (apparently corrected by
glasses). A dental certificate is also produced, attesting some injury to the jaw
which is inferred to have resulted from a blow.

01035—11
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Claimant’s pension and medieal history files ecast considerable doubt as to
the story related by claimant before this Commission. T am quite uneonvineed
that claimant’s disabilities, whatever they may he, are the resnlt of maltreatment
whilst a prisoner, I consider that his elaim is properly one for the consideration
of the Bourd of Pension Commissioners.  Before this Commission, the clain

failx and must be disallowed. ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
O1rawa, January 18, 1933. Commissioner,

CASE 2792--SAMUEL PLATTS

Claimant was a Private in the 75th Battalion—Regimental No. 642737.
He enlisted September 29, 1915, at the age of 17 years and was taken prisoner
August 15. 1917, suffering from gunshot wounds in the legs, chest and back, He
was released to Holland Avgust 17, 1918, He is in receipt of a 45 per cent dis-
ability pension, amounting to 871.75 per month for himsclf and family, buased
on his war wounds, bronchitis and pyelitis.  He was married in September, 1923,
and has five children.  Prior to enlistment, he was an apprentice blacksmith,
carning 875 per vear with keep and quarters and is now a radio inspector witl
salary not fixed as yet. : '

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment whicl,
has resulted in pecuniary damage f¢ him. He complainsg of lack of medical
treatment, phy=ical abuse and a blow on the head which has affected his hearing.

An analysiz of the evidence reveals:— .

Claimant was a hospital patient during his entire period of captivity First
in hospital at Mons, he states he lay for two or three days before he saw the
doetor and 14 days later he was taken for operation to set his leg.  He was given
no anaesthetie at first but he made such a fuss that it was finally administered,
Paper bandages were used but they did not stay on and he states that he wa-
driven crazy with the irritation of his wounds, and an orderly, in a fit of exasper-
ation, threw a big cup at him «triking him on the right side of the head, causing
permanent injury to his ears. The leg had to be broken and reset, this time
without anacsthetic, a spike being driven through the knee. He contracted
dysentery but could get no medieal attention and for the resultant trouble which
he ecaused, was given much rough handling. He was transferred to anothe:
hospital at Trier for a mont™ and completed his period of captivity at Schneide-
mubl, in hospital. His chief present complaint is as to the ear trouble and his chest.

The medical record consists of certifieates by Dr. R. E. Ives and R. C.
Shaver neither of whom appeared before the Commission.  Dr. Ives certifies as
to weakness, irritability and a elironic discharge from the ears, with disability
rated at 80 per cent. Dr. Shaver reports concerning the ears and finds that the
hearing i reduced to abont 5 per cent. Both drums are inflamed and pus exudes
therefrom. The military medical record is on file and goes, in great detail, into
claimant’s condition.

(‘laimant complains chiefly of his deafness as resulting from maltreatment.
At the hearing, he did not appear to be as deaf as the medical certificates indi-
cate. T am unconvineed that the origin of this trouble is to be aseribed to the
blow on the head from a cup, to which claimant attributes it. It is more likely
the result of an infection, whieh has not been explained. Claimant’s statement
upon repatriation made no reference to this injury and is, moreover; in several
respeets at variance with the testimony he gave hefore the Commission. On the
whole, T have reached the conelusion that claimant has failed to discharge the
burden of showing a present disability resulting from maltreatment while a
prisoner. His recourse, if any, is elsewhere. Before this Commission, the claim

fails and must be disallowed. FRROL M. MCDOUGALL!
Ottawa, January 18-1933. Commissioner.
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CASE 2533—FRANK POTTER

Claimant was a Private in the 2nd Battalion—Regimental No. 8243, He
enlisted in August, 1914, at the age of 22 years and was taken prisoner April 24,
1915, during the sccond battle of Ypres, suffering from gas. He was repatriated
to England in IDecember, 1918, He is not in receipt of pension, was married
in July, 1920, and has no children. Prior to enlistment, he was employed as
an engine wiper, earning about %50 per month and is now a switchman, at about
X750 per annum.

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which
has resulted in pecuniary damage to him, He complains of being foreed to drill
and work while i1, and that he was beaten and starved.

An analysis of the evidenece reveals:—

Claimant was first taken to Giessen, where, while suffering from the effects
of gas, he was compelled te fall in on parades and physical exercise just as
though he were fit.  He was also knocked about generally.  He was beaten by a
rivilian, while on a working party, and knocked unconscious, At Ostenholtzen-
moor. he was placed on the moors and if unable to complete a specified task,
wig beaten, He was then transferred to a sugar factory, at Brunswick, where
the work was hard and the food poor. Finally, he was cent to Linden, where
he worked in a salt factory under similar conditions, He now suffers from
nervous disorders.  The file contains a certificate from the Brotherhiood of
Locomotive Firemen and Engineers to the effeet that eladmant was eapacitated
from work from January 26, 1927, practically until April 20, 1927, and drew
=ick benefits from the lodge.

The medieal record consists of o certificate from Dr, F. P. Scarlett, who
finds claimant subjeet to periods of nervous autacks, suffers from dizziness,
weakness and prostration, with disability estimated at 10 per cent. His medical
history files are apparently not available.

Claimant was subjeeted to the usual rough treatment and privation of
German prison camps but has not been snecessful in showing that his experienees
have left any permanent disability. The general nervous condition of which
he speaks may have resulted from the strain of his period of captivity and the
denial of proper nourishment, but, as explained in general opinion annexed to
my earlier report upen maltreatmenrt cases, I do not consider that this treat-
ment is to be regarded as maltreatment under the¢ provisions of the Treaty of
Versailles, Claimant’s recourse, if any, is elsewhere.  The elaim fails and nmst
he disallowed.

FRROL M. McDOUGALL,
(ommissioner.
Orrawa, December 27, 1022

CASE 2718—-GEORGE POUNTNEY

Claimant was a Private in the 52ud Battalion—Regimental No. 163659, He
enlisted August 6, 1915, at the age of 25 vears, snd was taken prisoner Novem-
ber 14, 1917, unwounded, He was repatriated wo England Jannary 4, 1919. He
is not in receipt of pension, was married in March, 1916, and hus no children.
Prior to enlistment, he was employed as a labounrer, carning about 30 cents an
hear and is now unemployed. ‘ )

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to malfreatment which
Las resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of blows causing per-
manent injury and periods of standing to a‘tention.

¢1085--11}
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An analvsis of the evidenece reveals:—

While at work <hovelling einders at Dyrotz, claimant was struek in the
month by a guard, with a rifle butt, knoeking out a tooth, and, on another
oecasion, while taking potato peelings a guard knoveked hir: down twice with «
club and he received another blow with 1 rifle while stooping making tea.
which causes him pain up to the present. e complains further of lack of
sanitary arrangements in the quarters and of the cold.  On another oceasion.
for refusing to work on a Sunday, he, with others, was compelled to stand
to altention in six inches of snow until he was chilled. He contends that he
has contracted arthritis as the result.  G. H. Rothwell, a fellow prisoner, testi-
fied that he knew elaimant in Germany and witnessed the blows received hv
him when taking the potato peclings and when stooping over to make tea.

No medieal evidenee was addueed at the hearing, the record consisting of «
certificate by Dr. D, Perlman, indicating pain in lower part of spine and in
the right shoulder. e amplifies this by a further certificate diagnosing the
pains as being arthritie in character and likely due to infected teeth and tonsils.
A ceritfieate by Dr. AL J. Swanson of Toronto Western Hospital is filed, stating
that claimant was a patient in April, 1926, for chronie tonsilitis, complained
of pain at right angle of right seapula and high in epigastrium. A eertificate i-
also filed by Dr. James Cotton regarding pains associated with bones of the
back due to arthritie change associated with rheumatic infeetion from the
throat. Claimant's medical history files refer to the arthritie condition, which.
however, was not found to he pensionable.

[t has not been shawa that elaimant’s arthritis result- from any maltreat-
ment to which he was subjected while in Germany. 1t is quite probably the
result, as suggested v the medical certifieates, of infection arising from the
teeth or throat. 1. would be oo remote to aseribe any such condition to mal-
treatment while a prisoner.  Claimant’s vecourse, if an., is before the Board
of Pension Commissioners.  Before this Commission, the claim fails and mus
be disallowed.

FERROL M. MeDOUGALL,
Commissioner,
Orrawy, January 17, 1933,

CASE 1980—HOWARD RAY POWER

Claimant was a Private in the 25th Battalion-—-Regimental No. 733354.
He enlisted December 14, 1915, at the age of 20 vears and was taken prisoner
April 28, 1917, suffering from gunshot wound in the right arm. He was re-
patriated to England Junuary 12, 1919, e is not in receipt of a pension, was
married August 5, 1920, and has four ehildren.  Prior to enlistment, he was
engaged in farming with his father, carning $2,500 per annum.  He is now farm-
ing for himself bat has a hard time making ends meet.

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjeeted to maltreatment which
has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. e complains of being beaten and
forced to work while ill and given poor food.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:— ‘

Claimant wag first taken to Langensalza and transferred to Dulmea and
Munster, He comiplains that his wound was not treated and alleges general
il treatment. At a bread factory, he was forced to work piling bales of straw,
with one hand, due to his wounded arm and was beaten for being unable to
carry on. He was sent to Parchim, where he contracted dysentery and received
no medical treatment and was later at a potato factory where, though ill, he
was compelled to work. He protests at being made to work on Sunday. Ney*,
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went to another factory and to a farm, he complains of the hard work, that
hie was Joeked up for not working fast enongh and was detaiaed and made to
work after the Armistice had been deelared. He complaing that Le has trouble
with his stomach and nerves.

The medical evidence indicates that claimant suffers from a slight injury
to bis fingers due to his original wound and <ome stomach disorder. The
physician (name indeeipherable} who certifies to the foregoing, gives claimant
« percentage of disability of 20 per cent.  Claimant’s medieal history files show
nehing unusual, He was discharged ag fit.

Claimant’s complaints of disability are very general and his account of
hi= experiences in Germany docs not. in my opinion, cstablish maltreatinent
which would result in any condition which he now advances. e was subjected
to general conditions of camp life and has failed to discharge the burden of
-howing a present disability resulting from the treatment accorded him. His
vlaim, if any, is a matter for the Board of Pen<ion Commissioners.  As far as
this Commission is concerned, the elaim must be disallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Commissioncr.
trrrawa, Deeember 17, 1932,

CASE 2785—WILLIANM T, PRATT

The elaimant was a Private in the 28th Battalion—Regimental No. 81990.
He enlisted in June, 1915, with the 32nd Battalion, at the age of 24 years and
was taken prisoner on June 6, 1916, slightly wounded in the right side of the
head. He was repatriated to England in December, 1918.  Claimant is not
m receipt of pension. He is married and has no children.  Prior to enlistment,
he was engaged in farming, at a salary of from 830 to $35 a month. He is now
employed in the Post Office as a postal clerk, at a salary of $1,680 per annum.

Claimant alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatiment
which has resulted in peeuniary damage to him. He did not eomplete the usua!
locuments of claim, but complains that general ill-treatment has resulted in
physical disability. '

An analvsis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant was first taken {o Courtrai, followed by the City of Hanover
and has no complaint of his treatment. e was sent on to Celle and Ruthen-
moor (sic), where he complains only of the poor food. He was then sent to
a farm where he completed his period of ecaptivitv. He complains of general
- ubuse, blows from rifles and imprisonment in eells, but does not appear to have
reeccived any physical injuries leaving disability. In general, he speaks of his
treatment while a farmer as fair. Clalmant suffers from nervousness and has
an impediment in his speech which he attributes to general rough usage while
held a prisoner. He suffers also from rheumatism,

There is no medical evidence of record, not even the usual certificate of
@ physician, and claimant admitted at the hearing that he was in fairly good
condition. His medical history files show nothing unusual; he was apparently
discharged as fit,

In this state of the record it is clearly impossible to reach a conclusion
in claimant’s favour. The recital of maltreatment does not disclose any par-
ticular brutality and claimant has not shown that he now suffers any disability
resulting from his experiences while a prisoner. He has thus failed to discharge
the burden resting upon him. The claim must accordingly be disallowed,

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Commysisoner,
Orrawa, January 12, 1933.

N
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CASE 2336—CHARLES A. PROCUNIER

Notice of elaim was received from the above named claimant in April.
1931.  The usual documents of dlaim were sent him but have never been
returned completed.  No information is available as to the grounds of claim.
His attorneys appeared on hix behalf at the Toronto sessions-of the Commission
on April 19, 1932, and requested a delay to complete the record.” Claimant was
given a further notice to appear on July 27, 1932, at Ottawa, but failed to do so.
His attorneys advised that claimant did not desire to press the claim. The
claim is, accordingly, disallowed for want of prosecution.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

Commissioner.
Orrawa, December 28, 1932,

CASE 2719—ROBERT RAYNHAM

Claimant was a Private in the 4th CM.R.—Reimental No, 109563. He
enlisted in November, 1914, at the age of 27 vears, *vas taken prisorer on June 2.
1916. unwonnded. He was repatriated to Englard in November, 1918, Claim-
ant ix in reeeipt of a 20 per cent disability pencion, amounting to 526 per montl
for wife and family, based upon bronekitis, pleuritis and emphysema, neurosis.
He is married amd has two ehildren.  Prior to enlistment, he was a labourer with
the Grand Trunk Railway Company, earning about $15 per week. He is now
a motorman with the Toronto Transportation Cominission, earning from $20
to £25 per week.

Claimant alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complaing of exposure
to the weather, denial of medieal attention, blows from the sentries and con-
finement to cells, .

An analvsiz of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant was taken to Dalmen, via Menin, and has no eomplaints of hi
- Areatment there. He appears alzo to have spent time at Minden, Saltau, Han-
over and Hameln camp=.  Claimant tells a non-consecutive story and appeared
to he mueh confused in his velation of details of imprisonment. He was beaten
by the guards for refusing to work but was finally driven to resume.  For
assisting in the cxeape of a prisoner, elaimat was given punishment work.
wits beaten by guards and for attempting to avoid punishment was confined
in cells for 14 days. He spent 6 weeks in hospital for a chest condition and
speaks of the treatment as good. At Bohmte, he received § days’ cells for
smoking while passing the Commandant, and was also punched by a guard. As
a result of these experiences, claimant deelares that he suffers from nervousness.
hronehitis, pleuritis, emphysema and conjunetivitis.

The medieal record indicate that claimant suffers from chronic bron-
chitis, emphysema, defleeted nasal septum, conjunctivitis and nervousness. His
percentage of dizability is stated at 160 per cent in his own calling and at 25
per cent in the general labour market. Dr. George Carleton, who certifies to
the foregoing, did not. appear before the Commission.  Claimant’s medieal his-
tory files attribute elaimant’s neurathenie condition enly to his experiences in
Giermany,

In this state of the record, I do not think that I am justificd in reaching a
conelusion favourable to claimant. The evidence of maltreatment is quite gen-
eral and the connexity between his present condition and such treatment has
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not been shown. His health may have suffered beeause of general conditions
of camp life, but, for reasons which have been explained in my earlier report on
maltreatment cases, this cannot be said to result from maltreatment. Claimant’s
recourse, if any, is elsewhere. Before this Commission, the claim fails and must
be disallowed,
ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Commisisoner.

Orrawa, January 17, 1933,

CASE 2631 —-THOMAS GORDON REEVES

Claimant was a Private in the 3rd C.M.R.—Regimental No. 108481, He
vnlisted January 7, 1915, at the age of 21 years, and was taken prisoner June 2,
1916, unwounded. He was repatriated to England November 25, 1918. He is
in receipt of a 10 per cent disability pension, amounting to $15 per month for-
himself and family, based on disability to the left wrist. He is married and
has four children. Prior to enlistment, claimant was farming for himself and
i= at present engaged in the same occupation.

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjeeted to maltreatment which
has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains that while working at
an iron works, his left wrist was crushed and smashed due to carelessness and
negleet in being made to work in a dangerous place notwithstanding his protests.

An analvsis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant was sent to Giessen camp. He confines his complaint of mal-
treatment to an ineident which occurred at a working commando, out of Giessen,
at Siegen. While shovelling iron ore into trolley ears, on night shift, at the
foot of an embankment whieh was poorly lighted and dangerous because of the
lumps of ore which were thrown down, his left wrist wag hit and fractured.
Claimant and others had already vainly remonstrated with the guards that the
work was dangerous, but they were driven to continue working. He was taken
to barracks, received some medical attention, but never recovered the use of
his hand, which leaves him with a permanent disability and incapacitates him in
his work. Claimant’s remaining experiences in Germany are without particular
incident. He was excused work, due to his injured wrist.

The medical record indicates that claimant has sustained a “ fracture of
the wrist—deformity resulting—with large callous probably incorporating Tnd!:\l
nerve with consequent loss of power in the hand.” His percentage ot dis-
ability is stated at from 25 per cent to 30 per cent.  Dr. Carmichael of Strome,
Alta., who certifies to the foregoing, did not appear before the Commission.
Apart from the injury complained of elaimant’s medical history files show
nothing unusual.  Afidavits of three fellow prisoners have been filed, testify-
ing to the fact of the injury as reported to them by claimant.

It is clearly proven that claimant was injured in the manner stated, but 1
do not consider that T would be justified in finding that this constituted maltreat-
ment. The injury was accidental, and, however eareless the guards may have
heen in failing to protect the prisoners from injury, I do not think that such
omission on their part—amounting perbaps to negligence—can be termed :mal-
treatment. within the meaning of the relevant sections of the Treaty of Ver-
cailles.  Claimant's recourse is clearly before the Board of Pension Commis-
cioners. This Commission has nothing to do with recommendation suggesting
increased pension. The claim fails and must be dizallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Commissioner.
Orrawa, January 6, 1933.
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CASE 2727—WILLIAM S. REYNOLDS

Claimant was a Private in the 4th C.M.R.—Regimental No. 113511. He
enlisted in August, 1915, at the age of 23 vears, and was taken prisoner June
2, 1916, wounded in the hack and ankle with shrapnel. He was repatriated to
England in January, 1919. He is not in receipt of pension, but is on Veteran’s
sllowance, unmunting to $40 per month. He is married and has five children.
Prior to enlistment, claimant was a cook superintendent with the Grand Trunk
Railway, carning 870 per month and his keep.  He is now unemploved, but was
a press operator in a rubber plant, at from $110 to $125 per month,

Claimant alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him.  He complaing of lack of proper
food, insanitary sleeping quarters, long working hours and denial of medieal
attention, .

An analysiz of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant. received some medical attention for his wounds at Courtrai, where
he spent the first 3 weeks after capture. Taken to Stendal, he remained there
for the duration of the war. For refuzing to work because his wounds were noi
healed, he was given 3 weeks confinement to cells. Set at digging graves,
claimant was transferred to a sugar factory and to work on a canal, where his
health broke down and he was sent to hospital for 6 weeks. Upon (hSCh"“‘gc, he
was sent to a farm where he complains of the long hours of work in his debili-
tated condition. He was not particularly brutalized but was denied medical
attention, Iis complaint is that his health has been undermined by the general
hard work on improper and inadequate diet.

The medical record indicates that claimant suffers from pulmonary tuber-
culosis and is disabled to the extent of 100 per cent. Dr. H. T. Veitch, who
certifies to the foregoing, also appeared before the Commission. He confirms
the diagnosis contained in his certificate, buc is unable to say what may have
heen the cause of the trouble. Claimant’s medieal history files refer to the
condition as suspected but his examination upon discharge showed no dis-
ability.

General conditions of camp life in Germany may have resulted in the con-
dition from which claimant is now said to suffer. There is no particular record
of maltreatment and T do not conzider that claimant has shown that maltreat-
ment has induced his present state of health (see Opinion annexed to my
earlier report upon maltreatment cases), I regard claimant’s case as purely
pensionable in nature. Before this Commission, the claim fails and must be
dizallowed.

ERROIL M. McDOUGALL,

Commissioner.
Ortawa, January 18, 1933,

CASE 2773— REGINALD H. RICHARDS

(Lum'mt was a Private in che 27th Battalion —Regimental No. 71423. He
enlisted in August, 1914 at the age of 22 vears and was taken prisoner in
April, 1916, .,uﬂ’ormg from a bullet wound in the arm and a blow on the head.
He was repatriated to England in November. 1918. Claimant is not now in
receipt of pension, although, upon discharge, he was granted 85 a month for
six months, based upon an injury to his hand. Claimant recently became
naturalized as a citizen of the United States. Prior to enhctment he was
emploved as a railroad fireman, with the Canadian Pacifie lewnv, at a salary
of 8125 a month. He is now unemplove(l but. when working, is engaged as a
fireman, at a salary of about 880 a month.
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_ Claimant alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. Claimant has not con.pleted
the usual documents of claim, the entire record consisting of his testhuony
taken before the ¢ ommission, at Seattle, on October 2, 1932, ’

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—-

Claimant was taken to Gicssen, where he remained about six weeks, without
particular incident. His wounds were dressed and he refers to the treatment
as fair, }Ie was then sent to Hagar (sic), where he remained for cighteen niouths
working in astone quarry. He refers to the living counditions as particularly
had and complains that he was beaten for insubordination.  Apparently claimant
considered it his duty to give his captors as much trouble as possible.  For an
attempted eseape he was tried and sentenced to a punishment camp for three
months. The work was heavy and the hours long. He declares that he was
chained up in a narrow cell for minor breaches of discipline and scemed to
be singled out for particularly harsh treatment. Claimant stresses chiefly
general rough usage and complains that he scemed to have been a marked man.
but this was probably due to his unwillingness to comply with orders. He
admits that he can trace no present disability to his experiences in Germany and
appeared to be in excellent health at the hearing. Claimant’s hand was acci-
dentally injured while working in the quarries. but he apparently suffers no
disability therefrom at the present time. Claimant's testimony leaves the very
distinet impression that he was truculent as a-prisoner and invited most of the
ill treatment which he received.

There is no m- dical evidence of record, not even the usual certifieate of a
physician. Claimant’s medical history files show that he suffered a nerve
injury to the left hand, leaving some weakness, but this is indicated as being of
accidental origin and apparently leaves little disability at the present time.

In this state of the record it is impossible to reach & vonciugion in elaimant’s
favour. There is no medical evidence establishing any present disability result-
ing from maltreatmen®. Claimant has thus faled to discharge the burden
resting upon him and the claim must be disallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

Commissianer.
Orrawys, January 12, 1933.

CASE 2515—THOMAS R. RICHARDS

. Claimant was a Private in the Royal Canadian Regiment—Regimental No.

478554. He enlisted in September, 1915, at the age of 25 vears, and was taken
prisoner October 8, 1916. He was repatriated to England December 4, 1918.
He is not in receipt of a pension. e applied for formzs November 14, 1931,
which were forwarded to him on the 20th of that month. They have not been
completed and returned. Claimant was notified to appear before the Commis-
sion for_hearing, at Truro. on Friday, June 17, 1932, but failed to appear. His
absence has not been explained. The claim is, accordingly, disallowed for want
of prosecution.

ERROL M. McDOUGA' L,

Commissioner.
Otrawa, January 4, 1923.
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CASE 2511—-ROBERT REGINALD RICHARDSON

Notice of claim was received on behali of the above named claimant, but
the u=ual documents of claim have never been completed. From his medical
history files it would appear that elaimant was an officer, who was -seconded to
the RF.C. in July, 1917. He was wounded when captured. No other informa-
tion is available. Claimant was notified to appear before the Commission at its
Winnipeg sessions, on September 13, 1922, but failed to appear. His default
has remained unexplained. The claim must, accordingly, be disallowed for want
of prosccution.

ERF.OL M. McDOUGALL,
‘ Commissioner.
Ortawa, December 29, 1932,

CASE 2622—HAROLD RILEY

Claimant was a Private in the Roya: Canadian Rifles—Regimental No.
454394.  He cnlisted Junc 26, 1915, at the age of 18 years and was takeu
prisoner October 8, 1916, unwounded.  He was repatriated to England December
3. 1915. He is not in receipt of pension, was married in June, 1923, and has
sour children.  Prior to enlistment, he was a painter, carning $7 per week
and is now unemployed although he hss followed his. trade since discharge,
earning up to 80 cents an hour.

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maitreatment which
has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of bad food, forced
labour in the coal mines while ill, and of being beaten.

An analysis of the evidenee reveals: —

Taken first to Dulmen, cleimant remained three weeks and wes transferred
to a coal mine near Issen. He remained here during the most of his period
of captivity, working- underground exposed to cold and wet. He strained his
back in lifting a truck on the track, reported sick, but was compelled to
continue at work, and, for refusing to comply, reccived a beating. e was
placed in hospital and had to lie on the floor some three weeks and was then
transferred to Dulmen city hospital, where after six weeks, he recavered. He was
placed at light work in the cook house but states that he still felt sick and once
while late for parade he received blows and kicks, one injuring his knee. He'
was in hospital another week after this. He now complains of frequent pains in
the back and chest and in the shin bone. : :

No medical evidence was adduced at the hearing but claimant was ques-
tioned by the medieal adviser to ~he Commission. The record consists of a
certificate by Dr. H. M. Aliin. indieating chronie hypertrophie rheumatoid
arthritis and mitral stenosis. He fixes the disability at from 25 per cent to
30 per cent.  Claimant’s medieal Fistory files show nothing unusual.

Claimant's recollection o7 his experiences in Germany is very vague and
his recital thercof most ecasuai. Mis present complaints are general and T do
not think the record justifics a finding that he was subjected to maltreatment
while a prisoner which has resulted in disability. Tt would require a more
explicit statement from claimant to substantiate any such claim. His recourse,
if any, is before the Board of Pension Commissioners. Before this Commission,
the claim fails and must be disilowed.

. ERROI, M. McDOUGATLL,
Orrawa. January 18, 1933. Commissioner.

Note: To avoid confusion, it should be noted that this case was disallowed
'n the previous report, due to the failure of claimant to appear. The case was
later heard at further sessions of the Commission,
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CASE 2453—HARRY R. RODGERS

Notice of claim was reccived on Lehalf of the above named claimant, but
the usual documents of claim have never been completed. YFrom his medical
history files, it would appear that claimant enlisted on Mareh 16, 1915, was
taken prisoner on September 17, 1916, unwounded, and repatriated to England
on December 16, 1918. Claimant was notified to apear before the Commission
at, its Winnipeg ressioag, on sieptember 13, 1932, but failed to do s0. The Com-
misston was advised by the Winnipeg Command of the Canadinn Legion
that claimant could not be located. The claim must, accordingly, be disallowed,
for want of prosecvlion. o

ERROI M. McDOUGALL,

Commndssioner.
Orrawa, December 29, 1932,

CASE 2569—HOWARD RODGERS

Claimant was a Private in the 14th Battalion—Regimental No. 3081663.
He enlisted on January 1, 1918, at the age of 29 vears, and was taken prisoner
September 5, 1918, wounded in the left shin bone and gassed, although his
medieal history files declare that he was unwounded. He was repatriated to
England on December 11, 1918. He iz not in receipt of pension, but has an
application pending. Prior to enlistment, claimant was a mechanie, earning $7
per day. Since discharge he has had no permanent employment and carns
very little.

Claimant alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of heavy labour
and starvation while held behind the lines.

Claimant did not appear before the Commission, but in statement submitted
he states that he received no medieal attention for his wounds, was employved
behind the German lines, digging trenches and dragging wagons.  He, with
other prisoners, was starved. For refusing to work, he was tied to wagon
wheels, at night, in such a way that he could not lie down. He suffered with
his eyesight and could searcely sce and had pains in his head. He complaing™
of exposure to the cold with consequent injury to his health.

The medical record indicates that claimant suffers from  “emphysema,
coughs—in the morning—is short of breath on exertion—". His percentage of
disability is stated at 50 per cent in his own calling and 100 per cent in the
general labour market. Dr. R. R. Hughes, who certifics to the foregoing, adds
that claimant’s sight is somewhat impaired and his hearing defective, but cannot
say if these disablements are due to service. Claimant’s medical history files
show nothing unuszual, He was apparently . discharged as fit.

The record in this case is quite inadequate to base an award. Claimant
was a prisoner for a short time only and cven though "¢ was (-o.mpelled to work
behind the lines, I do not find evidence to support the conclusion that he now
suffers a disability resulting from maltreatment. The Commission did not have
the advantage of questioning the claimant and T have reached the conclusion
that he has failed ta make out a case. The claim must be disallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALIL,

Commissioner.
Otrawa, January 24, 1933
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CASE 2443—WALTER ROGERS

Claimant was a Private in the 8th Battalion—Regimental No. 1080. He
enlisted in August. 1914, st the age of 25 vears and was taken prisoner April 24,
1915, during the sccond battle of Ypres, suffering from gunshot wound in the
right thigh and gas. He was repatriated to England December 14, 1918. He
18 not now iu reeeipt of pension. but was after disecharge, and lost it through
‘his own.negleet. He has an application pending for reinstatement. He was
married in July, 1921, and has three children.  Prior to enlistment, he was
employed as a tinsmith, earning 1,0C0 ver annum and is now following the same
trade and earning up to $800 per annum.

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjeeted to maltreatment which
has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of long hours at hard
labour, lack of food and confinement.

An analvsix of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant was first placed in hospital near Paderborn where he remained
three months until his wound had healed. e was then zent to Senne lager,
where his chief complaint is of confinement, as punishment for foraging for food.
After four months, he was sent to Kalwelke (sic), and placed at digging sewers
for an airdrome. Here the work was very hard; starvation diet and confinement
for an attempted escape were his lot. He now suffers from nerves and heart
disorders to such an extent that he cannot elimb and this interferes with his
trade.

The medical record consists of a certificate by Dr. J. 8. Clark of Brandon,
indicating that claimant suffers from defective vision, pains in the left shoulder
and neck, stomach pains. He fixes the disability at 50 per cent. Claimant's
medical history files indicate nervous disorders, defective vision.

A summary of claimant’s complaint is that he was made to work when he

was unfit beeause of lack of food. which has resulted in injury to his heart and
nerves.  His vision is alo impaired. The evidence of record covers general
ineidents of harsh treatment, not however amounting to such maltreatment as
would account for any permanent disability. ‘The elaim in my opinion, is one
for the consideration of the Board of Pension Commissioners. Before this
Commission, the elaim fails and must be disallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

Commissioner.
Orraws, December 27, 1932,

CASE 2006—BENJAMIN CLEMENT ST. GERMAIN

Claimant was a Private in the 2nd Battalion—Regimental No. 7909, He
enlisted in August, 1914, ot +he age of 22 vears and was taken prisoner April 24,
1915, suffering from zunshot wound in the right temple, and gas. - He escaped
to Holland. in October, 1918, and wee repatriated to England on December 18th
of that year. He is not in receint ot 1" pendlon. He is a widower with four
children, the eldest being eleven vears of age. Prior to enlistment, he was
emploved as a delivery clerk, earning $14.50 per week and is now in businss for
himself,

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which
has resulted in pecuniary damage xe him. He cemplains of confinenient at a
stone quarry, with no food for five or six days, received no mediecal treatment
while ill with influenza for two months. He also received one bad beating with
rifle butts. He is now subjeet to influenza .every. winter.
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An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant was first taken to Giessen Camp and spent about one year there |

and at attached commandos. He has no particular complaints, exeept as to the
food. In the stone quarrics he does not speak of any particular brutality.
Removed then to Lichtenhorst, where he remnined for about 14 years, he refers
to the treatment ax “not too bad.”  He was thén sent to Bompte, via Saltay, and
eventually reached Schweigerhoft, where he worked upon an Estate. He refers
to one incident of maltreatment only, when hie was knocked out of his bunk and
beaten. He also complains that, when ill with the flu, he received no medieal
attention.  As a result of these experiences, eluimant says that hie suffers every
winter with colds and flu, )

There iz no medical evidence of record, not even the usual certificate of a
physidiar.” Claimant declared that he could not proeure any such evidence. Ii-
medieal history files show nothing unusual. He is declared to have been fit on
discharge. ‘

In the absence of medical evidence establishing disability, the claim cannot
be allowed. Morcover, it is evident from the record -that ithe claimant was not
subjected to any particular maltreatment. The mere fact that he was a prizoner
of war and made to undergo the general conditions of camp life in Germany-—
harsh though they may have heen--does not entitle him to an award. The claim
fails, and must be di=allowed.

ERROL M, McDOUGALL,
Orrawa, December 18, 1932 Commissioner.

CASE 2445—ALFRED SAMBROOK

Claimant was a Private in the 8th Battalion——Regimented No. 924, Tle
enlisted in August, 1914, at the age of 31 yvears, and was taken prisoner April 24,
1915, during the second batile of Ypres, suffering from shrapnel wound in the
left elbow and from gas. He was repatriated to England November 24, 1918.
He is not in receipt of a pension and is unmarried. Prior to enlistment, he was
a salesman at the stock yards, carning 8100 per month and states he has had
no job since his discharge.

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which
has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. fle complains of an injury to his left
«rm while working in a gas works.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:— :

Claimant was attached to Munster and statcs he received several beatings
for refusal to work in the coal mines, salt works and coke ovens. Working near

Tissen, he injured his elbow which was crushed between eable cars. This was the.

same clhow which was wounded at the time of eapture. . He gives but little or
no detail in his testimony and does not state that the injury was other than
accidental.

No medical evidence was adduced at the hearing and no certificate has been
filed. Claimant’s medical history files show nothing unusual. At time of dis-
charge, claimant made no mention ci his clbow injury and the Board of Pension
Commissioners has not accepted the elbow condition as resulting from alleged
injury in Germany. Apparently the first complaint of elbow injury was made in
October; 1930.

In this state of the record, it is clearly impossible to reach a finding in
claimant’s favour. His story was most confused and he should perhaps receive
consideration elsewhere for a mental condition. As for as this Commission Is
concerned, claimant has failed to show a present disability resulting from mal-
treatment. The elbow injury of which he alone complains, has not been shown
to be the result of maltreatment. The elaim fails and must be disallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Orrawa, January 11, 1933. Commissioner.
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CASE 2447—THOMAS WILLIAM SANDELLS

Claimant was a Private in the 8th Battalion—Regimental No. 905. He
cnlisted in August, 1914, at the age of 20 years ard was tiken prisoner April 24,
1915, during the second buttle of Ypres, suffering from ga:. He was repatriated
to England, December 1, 1018, He i not in receipt of ponsion, his applieation
having been rejected.  He was married in 1922 but is separated from his wife,
there is one child.  Prior to enlistment, he was an hotel b2l boy, earning up to
$12 per day and ix now unemployed although he had been with a circus ecompany.

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subject to msitreatment which has
resulted in pecuniary damage to him.  He complains of stymach and chest dis-
orders and a rupture due to his ill treatment in Germany.

An analvsis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant was first taken to Munster and was transfer. ed to Senne lager in
November, 1915. At Munster, he cortracted seabies and whs placed in hospital
and given a salve to use. At Senne, his complaint is chixfly as to the food.
He was next sent to Dulmen, where he spent more than a veir. He was ill with
stomach trouble but received no medical treatment. This vias followed by two
months at Schniedemuhl and four months at a sugar factory at Montery (sic.).
Here, he was given solitary confinement for refusing to wo'k. He injured his
nead unloading coal but received no treatment. Finally, v-hile working on a
farm, he ruptured himself lifting a sack of grain. He ‘ras sent back to
Schneidemuhl from the farm and remained there until the Armistice. He
—attributes hLis chest eondition to the dampness in the dungz2on where he was
confined while working at the sugar factory.

The medical record is mcagre and consists of a certifizate by Dr. Wm.
Creighton, who did not appear before the Commission, Di. Creighton never
attended the claimant other than to examine him for the pu-pose of issuing a
certificate.  He finds him suffering with bronchicstasis and tha' he had a gastro-
cnterostomy performed for duodenal uleer, by the Mavo brotiers in 1927. He
was unable to demonstrate a hernia. He fixes the disabilit: at 20 per cent.
Claimant’s medical history files show nothing unusual. “he condition of
bronehiestasis and peptie uleer is referred to.

Claimant’s experiences in Germany were quite general a. to rough treat-
ment and T cannot find evidence of any particular maltreaiment which has
resulted in permanent injury to his health, Hiz stomach dicorders, whatever
thoy may be, must be regarded as nutritional in origin and no ca'e has been made
out on the head of neglected hernia.  The bronehial condition is of too general a
nature to base an award. Claimant may or may not be ent tled to pension.
A= far as this Commission is concerned, the elaim fails and must be disallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Conmissioner.

(ritawa, Deecember 27, 1932

CASE 2641-—JAMES SCOTT

Claimant was an Tmperial soldicr, who served with the Royal Trish Rifles—
Regimental No. 16996. He was taken prisoner on July 4, 1916, on the Somme,
unwounded. He was repatriated to Fngland in December, 1918 and was in
receipt of an Imperial pension, now discontinued, based upon rhcumatism. It
developed, at the hearing, the claimant first ecame to Canada to resile in August,
1920, and it was explained to hima that, for reasons fully explained i my earlier
report upon maltreatment cases, this Commission was without juisdiction to
entertain claims of Imperial soldiers who became resident in Cunada after
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January 10, 1920, date of the ratification of the Treaty of Versailles. This view
is now cpnﬁrn_md. Reserving to claimant all recourses he may have, and, with-
out dealing with the case upon its merits, the elaim must be disallowed for want
of jurisdiction.

ERROIL M. McDOUGALL,

Orrawa, December 28, 1932. Commisstoner.

CASE 2412—JOHN ARMSTRONG SCOTT

'Clail'nant was a Private iv the 8th Battalion—Regimental No. 0. He
enlisted in At_lgust, 1914, at the age of 34 years and was taken prisones April
24, 1915, during the second battle of Ypres, suffering with gunshot wounds in
the left lung, right thigh, in the mouth and left ann. He escaped from Germany
()c_tgher 24, 1917, and reached Holland. He is in receipt of a 40 per cont dis-
ability pension, amounting to 330 per month, based on chronic nephritis, with
cardio-sclerosis and tuberculosis, with bronchitis. He was married in Jacuary,
1918, but his wife left him. There are no children.  Prior to enlistinent, he was
engaged in labouring work, earning up to $60 per month and board and since
discharge he held various positions but has been unemployed for over a year.

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment whicn
has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of being beaten,
starved, confined to cells and compelled to work in the coal mines for seven
months under conditions of brutality.

The record is lengthy and consists of two copies of the Saturday Evening
Post containing articles by the claimant as to his experiences as a prisoner. He
states these were toned down so as not to eause anxiety to persons who, at the
time, had relatives still in the hands of the enemy. A declaration made by
Thomas Stewart, a fellow prisoner, corroborates his story. A declaration of
James Orr, a fellow prisoner in the coal mines, corroborates conditions,

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Severely wounded, elaimant was taken to Roulers, placed with others in a
box car, and, after a long journcy reached Paderborn, where, for three months
he received hospital treatment. Upon discharge from hospital, and weak from
loss of blood, he was sent to Senne lager, where he was placed at work felling
trees. Being unable to carry on at Bleinkerstein, he refused to work and was
returned to Sennc lager and court-martinlled. Taken ill with pleurisy before
trial he was placed in hospital for about five months. Next, he was sent to
Stendal and was returned for the court-martial for refusing to work and ineiting
mutiny. He was sentenced to 21 days and served 14 days in an overheated eell.
e was released due to his illness. After some time spent at Minden and
Lindhorst, a further confinement to cells in March, 1917, claimant was sent to
the coal mines, at Westerholt, where he received numerous beatings, was over-
worked and finally given a job on the surface and, with an English prisoner, con-
trived to eseape into Holland in October of that year. Upon arrival in England,
claimant made a lengthy statement to the authorities, which is more moderate
in tone than his story as now presented.

The medical record consists only of his military medical sheets, no other
certificate being filed. These indicate a condition of debility upon discharge.
To quote “Looks in rather poor eondition—is nervous-——hreathlessness on slight
exertion as climbing flight of stairs.  Can walk three miles at own pace. Sleep-
lessness—due to waking up with start and bad dreams. ... He has moderately
hardened arteries and slight arcus senilis.  Other systems normal.” .

Claimant was examined at the hospital in Winnipeg. He is a most prolific
writer and, in addition to his testimony, he has furnished the Commission with
a full written account of his experiences. Add to this the story he wrote for
the Saturday Evening Post and a very full statement made by claimant upon
repatriation and it will be scen that there i3 no dearth of material before the
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Commission. 1 cannot say that the evidence is cntirely satisfactory. The
various stories told, while in the main fairly consistent, leave much to be desired
as to their detailed aeeuraey and I am left with the conviction that claimant’s
experienees have lost nothing in the telling.  Particularly is this so upon com-
paring his testimony with the story told upon repatrintion.  On the whole and
after very careful consideration, 1 have reached the conclusion that elnimant’s
case 1= one for the consideration of the Board of Pension Commissioners, I do
not consider that claimant has succeeded in showing a present disability resulting
from maltreatment.  Whatever disability be has =ustained I would aseribe to
general conditions of camp life in Germany. Before this Commission, the elaim

fails and must be disallowed,
ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Ortawa. December 27, 1932, Commissioner.

CASE 2656—LESLIEE GORDON SCOTT

Claimant was a Private in the 7th Battalion—Regimental No. 16933, e
enlisted in Septeniber, 1914, at the age of 23 years, and was taken prisoner
April 24, 1915, during the sccond huttle of Ypres, bruised but unwounded. Ie
was repatriated to England December 27, 1918, He is not, in receipt of a pension,
was married in July, 1921, and huas two children,  Prior to enlistment, he was
emploved as a foreman earpenter, at 5 per day, and is now engaged in the same
trade, as contractor, at an average of 3150 per month when able to work.

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which has
resulted in pecuniary damage to him.  He complains of forced labour, long hours,
heatings, confinement, starvation, exposure, unsanitary conditions, being tied to
posts and of being injured by having bricks thrown at him.

An analysis of the evidenee reveals:—

First, at Giessen, the food was szearce and, being weak through starvation,
ciaimant was unable to do heavy work in the stone quarries and was beaten with
rifles and given punishment for 16 days. At Frankfurt-on-Main, he again
collapsed from overwork, was beaten, and was sent to hospital. At Vehnemoor,
in January, 1916, while working on the moors he was tiken out and tied to a
post. from 7 am. until 1 o'clock. He was nearly frozen. At Schwaneburg, in
March, 1916, he complains of overcrowding, lack of sanitary conveniences and
vermin. Ie received another beating here and was again sent to hospital. Next,
at Saltau, he states that food rations were poor and while in punishment camp,
at Loburg, he was sent down to clean a well and, because he ignored a remark
from the guard, the latter threw bricks down at him, injuring his head and
shoulder. Claimant alleges that throughout his entire period of captivity he was
a marked man and, due to a reputation acquired through inability to work, he
was harassed, beaten and subjected to continual punishment.

Thomas Mercer, chiropractor, testified that he had treated claimant since
1925 for stomach disorders due to bad {ood, lack of food, nerve strain and mental
anxiety. In a certificate supplied, he fixes the disability at from 25 to 45 per
cent. A declaration as to residence in Canada, by C. F. Dawson, is filed.
Claimant’s medical history files show nothing unusual. He was -apparently
discharged as fit.

In this state of the record it is impossible fcr me to reach a finding in
claimant’s favour. There is no medical evidenec of record establishing a present
disability. The statement filed and testimony given, purporting to be medieal,
cannot he accepted. Claimant’s testimony speaks of rough usage but, in the
absence of evidence ~f disability, I do not consider that I am justified in granting
him an award. T regard his case as one for the consideration of the Board of
Pension Commissioners. Before this Commission the claim fails and must be

disallowed, ERROI. M. McDOUGALL,
Orrawa, January 5, 1933, Commyssioner.
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Notiee of claim was received on behalf of the above named claimant, but
the usual documents of claim have never been completed.  From his medical
history files, it would appear that he enlisted on March 25, 1915, was taken
prisoner on June 2, 1916, unwounded, and repatriated to Fngland on November 30,
1918. Claimant was notificd to appear before the Commission at its sessions in
Toronto on April 28, 1932, and again at Winnipeg, on September 14, 1932, but
failed to appear. His defaults have remained unexplained. The claim must,
accordingly, be disallowed for want of prosecution.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

Commissioner.
Orrawa, Deeember 29, 1932.

CASE 2301—-THOMAS SHAW

Claimant was a Private in the 15th Battalion—Regimental No. 40543. He
enlisted Seplember 22, 1914, at the age of 19 years. He wi'» taken prisoner
April 24, 1915, during the sccond battle of Ypres, suffering from gas. He was
repatriated to England December 28, 1918. He is not in receipt of pension and
is unmarried. Prior to enlistment, he was employed as a coal miner, carning
$2 per day and is still engaged in the same employment, at $4 per day, but only
manages to get work about one day per week.

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which
has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of bad food, confinement
for refusing to work, stoppage of parcels and exposure while at work on the
moors, where his feet were frozen. He now -uffers from bronchitis, neuralgia
and stomach trouble.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant was first taken to Giessen eamp, where he complains of denial of
mediea! treatment for a stomach condition. Sent out to work at an ore mine.
he refused to do the work and received 6 weeks confinement. He was next sent
to Rumpenheim (sic), thence to Vehnemoor and put to work digging ditches in
the water. He remained here 18 months and suffered with neuralgia and had his
feet frozen. He does not complain particularly of brutal treatment but stresses
the lack of any medical attention. Claimant was then sent to a farm where he
deseribes the ireatment as geod. He suffers from persistent cough and stomach
trouble.

The medical evid:nce indicates that claimant suffers from bronchitis- and
sore feet, with indigestion. He was treated in 1921, by Dr. D. W. Archibald.
for gastritis and bronchitis, according to certificate filed. Dr. Archibald did not
appear hefore the Commission. Claimant’s medical history files show nothing
unusual. He was discharged from the service as fit. _

In this state of the record it is impossible to reach a finding in claimant’s
favour. His disability, if any, is nutritional in origin, and, as explained in
general opinion annexed to my carlier report upon maltreatment. cases, such
canditions eannot be regarded as resulting from maltreatment. Clmn}nnt-'s re-
course, if any, is before the Board of Pension Commissioners. The claim hefore
this Conunission fails and must be disallowed.

FRROL M MeDOUGALL
Comumnissioner.
Orrawa, December 15, 1932,
8108512
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CASE 2787 —THOMAS SHEPPARD

Claimant served as a Sergeant with the Imperial Forces, the First Royal
Welsh I'usiliers—Regimental No. 6392, Claimant was resident in Canada
previous to the war and was called to the colours in August, 1914, rejoining his
old unit. He was then age 34 vears. Ie was taken prisoner on the 30th of
October, 1915, at Ypres, wounded in the arm, and was repatriated to Holland
on February 16, 1918, He was in receipt of Imperial pension until September
1, 1920, based upon his wounds and bronchial trouble, Claiinant was married
before the war and has five children.  Prior to enlistment, he was a gas engineer,
at a salary of about 880 a month. He has attempted to carry on at the same
oceupation sinee his return, but is unable to continue.

Claimant alleges that while a priconer he was subjected to maltreatment
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of injuries
received after being wounded while lying on a streteher at Lille, resulting in a
hip disability.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant was first taken to Munster, where he was in hospital for about eight
months and was moved to Minden, where he also received treatment for his
wounds. He complains that the bullets were removed from his arm without
anacsthetic.  He stresses the treatment received while lying on a streteher at
Lille station. Here, a number of German soldiers, who appeared to be intoxi-
‘ated, attacked claimant while lying helpless on the stretcher, kicking him on
both hips. He contends that this resulted in & bone injury to the hip. Claim-
ant does not complain of any physieal brutality at Munster camp after he was
released from hospital, but was «till suffering from his injuries and starvation.
He was then sent to Dulmen, where he remained until the Armistice. Being
an N.C.0. he was not required to work and the treatment av Dulmen was fair.
His chief complaint centres around the incident shortly after capture, resulting
in hip and stomach injury from which he still suffers.  Claimant has not clearly
explained the incident at Lille.  He has not shown why he should be a stretcher
case, unless there was «ome injury to his legs. His account of this incident is
somewhat confused. He had been practically buried at the time of capture and
it 1s quite probable that his legs were injured,

The medical record indicates that elaimant suffers from a left oblique
inguinal hernia, right hip joint movements restricted slightly, loss of practieally
all his teeth and some chest affectien. His percentage of disability is stated at
35 per cent in his own ealling and at froin 60 per centgo 75 per cent in the
general labour market. Dr. H. Gordon Young, who ﬁes to the foregoing,
did not appear before the Commission and, unfortunately, the certificate given
by him is very difficult to decipher. Claimant’s medieal history files refer to
a wound in the right arm with «ome chest trouble and neurasthenia, stomach
trouble and a spinal affection.

Claimant was evidently in great distress at the hearing and {old a very
frank, if somewhat confused, story of his experienees while held a prisoner. 1
am not, however, convineed that the disabilities from which he now suffers
result from the incident of maltreatment which he particularly stresses, namely,
the beating he received while lying on a stretcher at Lille. Tt strikes me that
his wounds must have been much more considerable than he believes and that
his present dizabilities are in large measure due to such original wounds. On
the whole, and with great reluetance, T have reached the conclusion that claim-
ant has failed to discharge the burden of showing a present disability resulting
from maltreatment,  His ease is clearly pensionable in nature. As far as this
C'ommission is coneerned, the elaim must be disallowed.

_ ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
OtTawy, January 12, 1933, Commissioner.
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CASE 2777—LORNE RALPH SINCLAIR

The claimant was a Licutenant in the Royal Flying Corps. He enlisted on
June 12, 1917, at the age of 18 vears. He was taken prisoner May 14, 1918,
both his legs being broken in the erosh of his airplane when it was brought down.
He was repatriated to England November 30, 1918. He was in receipt of a
pension (British) but eommuted it. He was married in 1920, and has one
child, aged 3 years. Previous to enlistment, he was a High School student. He
is now carrying on the profession of Charteredd Accountant, at a salary of 8200
per month,

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which
has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains that the injury to
his right leg was aggravated by the treatment he reecived, with the resnlt that
he has not the full use of it. :

An analysis of the evidence revenls:—

Claimant spent his 6 months eaptivity in Cologue hospital and later at
Karlsruhe.  He complains of inefficient surgieal attention in that improper
methods were used in applying extension to his broken leg. He declares that a
metal hook was drawn through the pelvic hones for the purpose of giving exten-
sion.and preventing shortening of the leg. When released the wound had healed
~ and it was only some time later hat it broke open, due, according to claimant,
to infection brought about by the use of this metal hook. In the result ~here
is a permanent shortening of one inch, which, however, T am informed iz not
unusual in femur cases.

The medical record indicates that claimant bears “ sears over right ilium
near crest which prevents his sleeping on right side; the right leg is one inch
short ‘and had recurring infection with discharge 7 months after fracture which
continued for five or six months.” Dr. F. P. Patterson, who certifies to the
foregoing rates claimant’s disability at 10 per cent. Dr. Patterson also appeared
before the Commission and expressed the opinion that the method of surgery
adopted was unusual and, in his opinion, not proper. Claimant’s medical history
files relate to the injury.

I am informed that the practice of applying extension in the manner
described by elnimant, while not now in general use, is known to medieal science.
However drastic it may have been, T cannot say, from the record, that it con-
stituted malpractice. At the worst it could be regarded as the exercise of poor
judgment on the part of the surgeon. It does not follow that the use of a metal
hook would necessarily involve infeeiinn in the wound, T consider, also, that
if Dr, Patterson now estimates claimant’s disability at 10 per cent, it can hardly
be said that this is not a substantial recovery by claimant. On the whele, I
consider that claimant has failed io establish maltreatment resulting in-per-
manent disability. The claim fails, and must be disallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Commissioner.
Otrawa, January 3, 1933.

CASE 2735—CAPTAIN ERIC 8. SKEAD

Claimant was a Licutenant in the First C.M.R. He obteined his commis-
sion in May, 1915, at the age of 22 years and was taken prisoner June 2, 1916,
suffering from gunshot wounds in the left chest, left arm and back, and right knce
smashed by shell fire. He was released to Switzerland in December, 1917, apfl
reached England, December 23, 1918. He is in receipt of a 15 per cent dll‘~-
ability pension, amounting to $17.25 per tonth, based on his own wound in the

6108512}
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chest and arthritis in the right knee. He was married August 13, 1928, and has
no children. Prior to enlistment, he was a timber estimator and culler, earning
$120 per month, and is at present unemployed but previously earried on his own
business as lumber contractor but failed.

He alleges that while a prisouer he was subjected to maltreatment which has
resulted in pecuniary damage to him.  He complains of bad food, confinement
to cells for long periods as a reprisal prisoner, and t'at he was beaten with
rifles, kicked and struck with fists while still suffc = g the eifects of his war
wounds.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant spent time at a number of German hospitals and prison camps, viz:
Mainz Nichburg, Kennuel, Festi, Rosenburg, Kronach, Crefeid, Schwarmstedt,
Oldenburg, Holzminden and Helldenburg. His complaint .is that he was un-
justifiably confined to eells, apparently without reason, by way of reprisal and
that he incurred the particular antipathy of the notorious camp cowr andant
Niemeyer, who did everything to make his life miserable. These continements
were imposed upon him when he was still weak from the effects of his wounds
and the result is that he now ‘suffers from stomach disorders and bronchitis.
While in cells, he declares that he was beaten by Niemeyer. He complains that
his condition was aggravated by failure to give him medical attention for an
attack of dysentery. Corroboration of claimant’s staternents as to reprisal
confinement is furnished by the affidavit of General Vietor H. S. Williams.

The medical evidence indicates that claimant suffers from gastritis and
bronehitis.  His percentage of disability is stated at from 10 per eent to 50 per
cent. Dr. F. J. Scully, who certifies to the foregoing, did not appear before the
Commission. Claiinant’s medieal history files relate only to his service wounds,
for which he is in receipt of pension.

I do not consider that the record justifies a finding in claimant’s favour.
Claimant’s pension and medieal history files appear to indicate that whatever
disability he now suffers is of service origin and cannot be attributed to mal-
treatment whilst a prisoner. He may have been unjustly, even harshly treated.
but J do not conzider that he has discharged the burden of showing a present
disability resulting from maltreatment. Claimant’s recourse is properly hefore
the Board of Pension Commissioners. Before this Commission, the claim fails,
and must be disatlowed.

FRROL M. McDOUGALL,
Commussioner.

Orrawy, December 20. 1932,

CASE 2562—CHARLTS FREDERICK SMITH

Claimant was a Private in the 4th C.M.R.—Regimental No. 113554. He
enlisted July 21, 1915, at the age of 19 vears and was taken prisoner June 2.
1916, unwounded. e was repatriated te England December 20, 1918. He had
been in reeeipt of a pension, amounting to 825 per month, which has been dis-
continued. e was married in November, 1921, and has two children. Prior
to enlistment, he was attending school and iz now employed as janitor-fireman.
at approximately $1,000 per annum.

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which
has yesulted in pecuniaiv damage to him. He complains of a blow with a
rifle butt in the back of the neck; that he was compelled to stand at attention
facing the =un barehecaded, for days, and given bread and water for refusing to
work on munitions, Later, for an attempted eseape, he received a blow in the
lf:u'(l* :)ronking the noze. He now suffers with nerves and general impairment of
icalth.
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An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant was first taken to Dulmen, where he spent three months. He
complains of one incident, when he was hit over the back with the butt of a
rifle and knocked unconscious. This was for not arising in the morning. No
permanent disability has resulted. Sent on to Munster No. 3, Dusseldorf, and
a coal mine in Savony, he complains of the heavy work, long hours and punish-
ment for refusing to work on munitions by heing made to stand to attention,
uncovered, in the sun for hours at a time. On another occasion he was struck
across the face with a cane in the hands of an officer, breaking the nose. This
was for refusing to divulge the name of a fellow prisoner who had tried to
escape with claimant. He now suffers from nervousness and complains of a
mental condition. His nose dizability is insignificant.

The medical record is quite general, A certificate of a physician (name
indecipherable) is produced, indieating * impairment to physical health and
of nervous system.” Hixs pereentage of disability is stated at from 25 per cent
to 50 per eent. Claimant’s medieal history files show that he was subjected to
a number of convietions for breaches of discipline hefore eapture and the record
as to his health is not satisfactory,

In this state of the record it is manifestly impossible to reach a finding in
claimant’s favour. The medical evidence is quite inadequate to establish a
disability resulting from maltreatiment.  Whatever disability claimant may
now suffer has not been shown to result from his experience whilst a prisoner
of war. The clrim, accordingly, fails and must be disallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

Commissioncr.
Otrawa, Deeember 20, 1932,

CASE 2603—REGINALD GORDON SMITH

Claimant was a Private in the Sth Battalion—Regimental No. 496. He
enlisted in August, 1914, at the age of 22 years and was taken prisoner April
24, 1915, during the sccona battle of Ypres, suffering from gunshot wound in
the right knee and was badly gassed. He was repatriated to England in Decem-
ber, 1918. He is in receipt of a 10 per cent disability pension, amounting to
813 per month for himself and family, based on his war wounds. He was
married October 22, 1921, and has two children, Prior to enlistment, he was
emploved as a steam-fitter, carning &75 per month and at present is doing a
little farming and odd jobs.

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which
has resulted in pecuriary damage to him. He complains of long hmu-s' of
labour, poor quarters, inadequate and bad food and no medical care or nourish-
ment, when ill for six weeks with double pneumonia, resulting in badly impaired
health,

An analvsis of the evidenee reveals:—

Claimant spent his period of captivity in Ohrdruf hospital and camp and
at a farm near Edaubringhausen (sic). He speaks of his treatment in hospital
as “ fairly good " and hs: no complaints of maltreatment whilst in camp. At
the farm he was made to work and declares that the hours were long and the
work too arduous in his weakened condition, but does not complain of any
brutality. On the whole, he apuears to have been fairly treated as a prisoncr.
He now complains of rheumatism in his hack and shoulders and a more or less
disabled hand, the latter disability due to neuritis from which he suffered in
Germany. In other respeets he deelares he feels fairly well.
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The medieal evidence indicates that elaimant suffers with pains in both
shoulders, back and right knce. His percentage of disability is stated at 50
per cent in the general labour market. Dr. 1) M. Rowlings, who certifies to
the foregoing, did not appear before the Commission. Claimant’s medieal
history files relate only to the knee injury which was of service origin.

In this state of the record it is clearly impossible to reach a finding in
claimant’s favour. He has failed to show that any present disability results
from maltreatment.  The rheumatic condition in his shoulders may hLave re-
sulted from general conditions of camp life in Germany and cannot be regarded
as the result of maltreatment. That elaimant was made to work, as were other
prixoners, does not econstitute maltreatment.  Claimant’s recourse is properly
before the Board of Pension Commissioners. On the whole, the claim fails and
must be disallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

Commuissioncr.
Orrawa, December 18, 1932,

CASE 2648—THOMAS SMITH

Claimant was a Private in the 29th Battalion—Regimental No. 75428 He
enlisted in October, 1914, at the age of 28 years, and was taken prisoner April
19,1916, imwounded. e was repatriated to Eagland December 15, 1918, He
I+ in receipt of a 20 per cent disability pension, smounting to $28 per month,
based on deafness.  He was married in August, 1921, and has three children.
Prior to enlistment, he was employed as a labourer, earning about 40 cents an

¥

hour, and is now engaged in farming.

He alleges that while a prizoner he was subjeeted to maltreatment which
has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of an injury to his
haek, a cut on the head, solit. v confinement and starvation,

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant was attached to Giessen camp, and, when working on a farm,
a German farmer damped half a load of potatoes from a waggon on top of
him, eausing an injury to his back, which persists. He insists that this was
done deliberately and was not an aceident.  He was next sent to an iron ore
mine, and in being pushed through a hole he received a scalp wound from
which he stil earries a gear. He was not kept at the mine but was sent to
another farm, where, being unable to lift heavy logs, due to his lame back,
he received a bayvonet wound in the hand and was locked in the eellar for five or
six dayvs. He was returned to Giessen and gent out to other farms until, in the
spring of 1918, he attempted to escape. He received the usual solitary con- -
finement upon being recaptured, .

The medical record consists of two certificates, one from Dr. E. J. Eacrett
who attended elaimant in 1927 for nervous breakdown and indigestion. He
notes sear on the left forehead and the ball of the left thumb, and states ¢laim-
ant has always suifered from headaches and nervousness. The otlier certificate
is by Dr. Lyle Telford, who fixes a disability of 25 per cent due to lameness in
the back, and advises an X-ray examination. Neither of these physicians
appeared before the Commission.  Apart from reference to chronie catarrhal
otitis media and gastritis, claimant’s medical historv files show nothing unusnal.

Claimant complains chiefly of the injury to hi. back and the cut on the
head. While he insists that the former injury was deliberately inflicted by
dumping a load of potatoes on him, I think the evidence indicates that the
incident was accidental.  Similarly, with the cut on the head. His gnards may
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have been careless, but T think the injury was accidental. Claimant’s injureti
hand leaves no disability. I am uncertain, from the record, how claimant’s
impaired hearing originated, whether at the time of capture or later in Ger-
many.  On the whole, I do not find that claimant has discharged the burden
of showing a present dicabilitv resulting from maltreatment. His ease is onc
for the consideration of the Boara of Pension Commissioners. Before this
Commission, the elaim fails and must be disallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

i Commussic ser.
Orrawa, January 5, 1933, ’

CASE 2804—WALTER STAMPER

- Claimant was a Sergeant in the P.P.CLI—Regimental No. 29. He en-
listed in August, 1914, at the age of 43 years, and was taken prisoner, May 8,
1915, wounded in the shoulder and thigh, and gassed. He was repatriated to
England in September, 1917. He is in receipt of a 10 per cent disability peasion,
amounting to $7.50 per month, based upon bronchitis and asthma,  He was
married in 1898, is now a widower, and has one child. Prior to enlistment,
claimant was employed as a steward, earning $100 per month. He has siice
worked as a cook and is presently a patient at the St. Anne’s Military Hospital.

Claimant alleges that while a prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreat-
ment which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him.  He complains generally of
disabilities resulting from his experiences whilst a prisoner.

Claimant was unable to attend before the Commission, but his statement was
taken by the Medieal Adviser to the Commission at St. Anne’s Hospital. Taken
firg!, to Roulers, claimant reccived no medical attention for his wounds. Sent on
to Giessen camp, he remained until the fall of 1915. The German doctors
would not pass him as fit for work in the salt mines, due to general debility and
a chest condition. He was later sent to Bischofswerda eamp, where he evidently
acted as servant to officer prisoners. Conditions were good and he complains of
no brutality, but protests that he was made to sleep in a cellar. Passed for
transfer to Switzerland as medically unfit, claimant spent 2 months at Mannheim,
where he complains only of starvation. As a result of his experiences, claimant
complains of bronehitis and difficulty in walking due to disablement of the
legs.

The medical record indicates a condition of bronehitis with some neuro
muscular derangement, described as functional clonic tremors. His percentage
of disability is stated at 100 per cent. Dr. M. McQuitty, who certifies to the
foregoing, did not appear before the Commission. The niedieal Adviser to the
Commission examined claimant and does not find in his condition anything
which may be attributed to maltreatment whilst a prisoner.

Claimant ic now aged 61 years, and must expect some diminution in his
physical vigour. On the medieal evidence, I cannot say that he has shown a
present disability resulting from maltreatment whilst a prisoner. He does not
appear to have_encountered very harsh treatment and if his disablement is as
extensive as he contends, his elaim is one for the consideration of the Board of
Pension Commissioners. Before this Commission, the elaim fails and must be

disallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Commissioner.

Orrawa, January 30, 1933
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CASE 2782—CHARLES EDWARD STANBROUGH

Claimant was a Private in the 44th Battalion—Regimental No. 820842,
He cnlisted in February, 1916, at the age of 27 years. He was taken prisoner
on the 23rd of August, 1917, unwounded. He was repatriated to England on
December 2, 1918, He is not in receipt of pension. He is married and has two
children. Prior to enlistment, he was employed as a lumberinan, earning as much
as 3100 u month. H:2 is now unemployed, but, when working, carns from $90
to $100 a month,

Claimant alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment
which has resulted in pecuniay damage to him. He ecomnlains chiefly of ill-
treatment, starvation inocluation, and injury to his eyes; that he was forced to
work when 1ill, and denied medical attention.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant was fir.t taken to Douai, where he remained about a month. He
has no complaints as to his treatinent there and was removed to Dulmen, where
he remained until November, 1917, also without incident. He was then sent to
Srkrath, where he remaihed until the Armistice, working in a faetcry, and com-
plains of the long hours of work. He was subjected to no physical violenee but
complains that in the spring of 1918, while suffering from flu, he received no
medical attention and was made to continue work until he dropped. He also
declares that while unloading graphite from cars some of this material entered
his eves and, although he reeeived medical treatment at Dusseldorf, this was
inadequatz to prevent impairment of vision. Claimant now suffers from general
debility and alleges that he loses time from his work.

The medical record indicates that claimant suffers from chronic bronchitis,
loss of weight, general weakness, and defective eyesight. His percentage of
disability is stated at from 60 per cent in his own calling to 80 per cent in the
general labour market.  Dr. H. A. Gordon, who certifies to the foregoing, did not
appear before the Commission.  Claimant also files a certificate from Dr. G. P.
Armstrong to the effect that he examined claimant on Qctober 6, 1932, and found
him suffering from general debility and chronie bronchitis. Claimant’s medical
history files indicate the condition of general debility and defective vision aad a
condition of bronehitis whieh iz under consideration by the Board of Pension
Commissioners.

The injury to claimant’s evesight was apparently accidental and resulted
from the nature of his occupation while a prisoner. 1 do not consider that it
can be aseribed to maltreatment. The evidence discloses that his eyes were
examined and he was given glasses while in Germany. Claimant’s remainiug
dicabilitics—a condition of general debility and bronchitis—are, T think, the
result. of general camp life in Germany and cannot be said to result from
particular maltreatment on the part of the Germans. On the whole, T regard

- the case as one for the consideration of the Board of Pension Commissioners.
The claimant has failed to discharge the burden of showing a present disability
resulting from maltreatment. Before this Commission, the claim fails and must
be disallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Orrawa, January 12, 1933. Commissioner.

CASE 2729—VIVIAN EDWARD STEERS

Claimant was a Private in the 4th C.M.R—Regimental No. 113573. He
cnlisted June 22, 1915, at the age of 21 years, and was taken prisoner June 2,
1916, unwounded. Ie was repatriated to England December 5, 1918, He is
not in receipt of pension, was married in July 1928 and has one child. Prior




FINAL REPORT 185

to enlistment, he was attending university and is now a welder earning up to
$45 per week. '

He alleger. that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which
has resulted ‘n pecuniary damage to him. He complains of long hours of stand-
ing to atteution, beaten with injuries to the head and ears, denial of medical
aid and forced to work while ill. ' o

An analysis of the evidence reveals:— _

Cla‘ima.nt spent a short time at Dulmen and Minden camps where the only
complaint is as to the food. Ie was sent to a steel works at Hoerde, where,
for refusal to work on munitions, he was forced to stand to attention for some
11 days at 12 hours per day. When faint from weakness, a sentry struck him
on the left side of the head injuring his ear. Placed next at mak‘ing fertilizer,
his nose became blocked due to breathing the material and he was denied
attention. He says that civilians employed at this work were supplied with
masks. He burst an ear drum and was sent to a specialist in Dortmund, who,
upon discovering that he was a Canadian, refused to attend him. He was sent
back to work and lost a finger when a piece of iron thrown at him struck him
on the hand. The doctor refused to stiteh the wound. While ill with mumps,
and on another-ocecasion with influenza, he was forced to continue at work until
he collapsed and was taken to Dortmund and placed in hospital.  Upon
recovery he was returned to work but says that ever since he has perspired
chicfly on one side of his body. Near the close of the war, he, with others, was
removeld from a fairly ecomfortable barracks and placed in filthy quarters, damp
and uncomfortable. He wrote to the Spanish Ambassador complaining about
it. After a visit from the Ambassador he was given a severe beating and
reecived a bayonet cut in the left hand. On attestation. a sear was noted on
the left hand between the thummb and forefinger.

No medical evidence was adduced at the hearing, tne record consisting
of a certificate by Dr. J. D. Purdy, indicating sears in the head, ear, left hand,
ulcers in the left nostril, sear on the right middle finger, right testiele less than
half normal size, hearing impaired in the left ear and =severe headaches. A
letter from Dr. Moher of the Lockwood Clinie (copy) is filed, indicating nasal
bleeding duc to an ulcerated area on the left side; chronic sinusitis.  Claimant’s
medical history files refer to the unusual condition of sweating on one side of
the body only. The nose and head condition is not rated as serious.

Claimant’s main complaint seemws o be as to his nose. This is indicated as
eongenital in his military medical records and dees not appear to have heen
aggravated by any of his experiences in Germany. e al<o speaks of breaking
an car drum from blowing his nose, which, I am informed, would bhe a most
unusual result. The coincidence of a scar on the left hand, upon enlistment,
and which is referred to in his attestation form, at or about the zame place
as a sear said to result from a bayonet wound sustained in Germany is noted.
On the whole, T consider that claimant has failed to show a present disability
resulting from vaaltreatment whilst a prisoner.  His disahilities, if properly
established, would be the subject of consideration by the Board of Pension
Commissioners, Before this Commission, the elaim fails and must be disallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Commissioner.

Orrawa, January 18, 1933.

CASE 2779—GEORGE STODGELL

Claimant was a Private in the 6th Battalion—Regimental No. 14751. He
enlisted in August, 1914, at the age cf 22 yearc and was taken prisoner on the
2nd of March, 1918, unwounded. He was repatriated to England on December
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2, 1918. He is not in receipt of pension, but has an applieation pending before
the Board, He was married on July 14, 1919, and has no children. Prior to
enlistment, claimant was an iron worker, earning about 25 cents an hour. He
i¢ still an iron worker when employed and earns 70 cents an hour,

Claimant alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him.  He complains that his back
was injured while working in a coal mine owing to heavy lifting and that he
stitl suffers theretrom,

An analysix of the evidence reveals:—-

Claimant was first taken to Dulmen camp, where hie remained six months.
He worked on a farm and was sent to a coal mine, where he remained until the
Armiztice. e worked one day underground snd does not complain of any
particular brutality.  He deelares, however, that he injured his back from heavy
lifting, which still troubles him when he works. Claimant recites that when he
injured his back he was driven to work at the peint ef a revolver beeause he
proested that the work was too heavy for one man, and, it was while pushing
or ufting a truck, that he feit a sharp pain in his back. Upon reporting sick.
le was forced to continue work by the foreman.

There ix no medical evidence of record, not even the usual certifieate of a
physician.  Claimant’s medieal history files show nothing unusual, a condition
of seintiea being veferred to as pending before the Pension Tribunal. He appears
to have had an operation for left inguinal hernia in 1915,

Claimant was a prisoner in Germany for ten months only and dces not
appear to have been subjected to any particular maltreatment.  The alleged
injury to his back was aceidental in origin and, if it resulis in disability at the
present time, claimant’s case is properly one for the consideration of the Board
of Pension Commissioners.  Before thiz Commission he has failed to establish
a present disability resulting from maltreatment. The claim, accordingly, fails
and must be disatlowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

Commaissioner.
OrTawa, January 12, 1933.

CASE 2095—BURTON FORSYTH STOREY

Claimant was a Private in the Royal Canadian Regiment—Regimental No.
455827. IHe enlisted in Japuary, 1916, at the age of 35 years and was taken
prizoner October 8, 1916, wounded in both eyes by a bursting bomb. The eyes
were removed in Germany. He was released to Holland in January, 1918, and
reached FEngland on the 7th of that month. He iz in receipt of a 100 per cent
disability pension, amounting to $115 per month, based on total blindness. He
was married in 1902 and has one child now aged 27. His wife has left him.
Prior to enlistment, he was a machinist, earning about 85 per day and is now
unable to work.

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjecled to maltreatment which
has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of being operated on
after eapture, without anaesthetic, and claims that due to ruthless surgery he
was unnecessarily deprived of his eyve-sight. Suffered neglect, starvation, bad
food, and unsanitary living conditions and now suffers from stomach disorders.

Analvsiz of the evidence reveals:—

This iz a particularly distressing case. Claimant is totally blind, both eyes
being enucleated in Germany, At the time of capture he had been wounded in
both eyes and though he says he rowh! sce dimly at first, by the time he was
ta ien back to a dressing station, Lz was apparently without sight. Taken first
to Cambrai, both eyves were removed by the German surgeon, without anacesthetic.
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It is claimant’s contention that this was improper surgery and that, had care
been exercised, it might have been possible to save some part of the vision.
Claimant was sent to Julick hospital, followed by Trier, Aachen, Langensalza
and Mannheim. _He does not complain of any particular brutality, apart from
the operation at Cambrai, and general food conditions. In-addition to his eve
condition, he complains of stomach and intestinal disorders. )

The medical evidence establishes claimant’s total blindness.  Apart from
the evidence by medical certificates filed of reeord, 1 have consulted an eminent
specialist, to whom the entire circumstances have been explained. He advises me
that it is hardly possible that the German surgeons could have done anything
clse for elnimant than what they did. The evidence discloses so serious an injury
to both eyes that double enuclestion was necessary. )

In these circumstances, I am reluctantly led (o the conclusion that the
claimant has not established that his present disability is the result of maltreat-
ment whilst a prisoner of war. His disability is due to the original service injury.
Whatever claim he may have is properly a matter for the consideration of the
Board of Pension Commissioners. As far as this Commission iz concerned, the
claim must be disallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

Commisstoner.
Otrawa, December 19, 1932,

CASE 2580—WILLIAM STRACHAN

Claimant was a Sapper in the 2nd Canadian Tunnelling Company—Regi-
mental No. 503441, He enlisted November 19, 1915, at the aze of 24 yvears,
and was taken priscner June 2, 1916, unwounded. He was repatriated to
England November 24, 1918, He is not in receipt of pension, was married in
January, 1919, and has four chilthien. Prior to enlistment, he was employed ax
a section foreman, at 8§79 per month, and is now in the same employment, at
ahout $105 per month.

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreaiment which
has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of exposure, beatings,
confinement, long hours of labour and lack of clothing.

An analysis of the evidenee reveals:—

Taken to Dulmen, claimant asserts that the fowd and sleeping accommoda-
tions were bad. At Duisburg, for refusing to work on munitions, he received a
beating and served 10 days confinement. Next sent to Mettmann, where he
worked on a farm, living conditions were gond and the food excellent. He was
then sent to Hamborn, near Essen, where, at work in the coke ovens, he served
long hours of labour with 24 hour duty every second week. He attempted to
escape and got the usual 21 days cells. He attributes his present condition of
bronchitis te exposure and inadequate clothing, coupled with the gas fumes from
the coke ovens. '

No medical evidence was adduced at the hearing, the record consisting of
a certificate of Dr. Kennedy, indicating chronic bronchitis— No-percentage of
disability is cstimated. A further certificate by Dr. Kennedy indicates that
_ claimant suffers with his right lung. Claimant’s medical history files refer to a
condition of chronic bronchitis declared to be of service origin.

Claimart’s complaints are confined to exposure and the effect of gas fumes
whilst working on the coke ovens, which has left him with a bronchial condition.
For reasons which have been explained in Opinion annexed to my earlier report
on maltreatment cases, I do not consider that disabilities resulting from general
condition of camp life in Germany ean be regarded as constituting maltreatment.

—
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Claimant has thus failed to discharge the burden of showing a present disability'
resulting from maltreatment.  His claim, if any, is elsewhere. DBefore this
Commission, the claim fails and must be disallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

Orrawa, January 11, 1933, Comnussioner.

CASE 2692—ALBERT VICTOR STUART

Claimant was a Private in the 4th CM.R.—Regimental No. 109630. He
enlisted in October, 1914, at the age of 25 years, and was taken prisoner June 2,
1916, slightly wounded n the left arm.  He was repatriated to IEngland
November 20, 1918, He is in receipt of a 10 per cent disability pension, amount-
ing to $10 per month, based on neurasthenia, He was married in October, 1919,
and has one child. Prior to enlistn®nt, he was a foundry employee, earning $2.50
per day, and is now acting as a janitor at §5 per wecek.

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which
has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of starvation, beatings,
being foreed to stand over a hol fire and then deluged with cold water causing
an car injury, confinement, forced labour in coal mines, exposure, injury to toe
and standing to attention.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant tells a disjointed story of his treatment. Tirst at Dulmen, he has
no complaints. e was transferred to Minden and thenee to the coal mines at
Westerholt. Ie worked here for thirteen months, and, for an attempted eseape,
was beaten and served the usual confinement. He made a sccond attempt and
received further confinement. e had his toe smashed in an accident and states
tha  the doctor tore the nail off. Ile also complains of an injury to his eye at
the same time. He was sent to Milspie {sic) where, for refusing to work on
munitions, he recites the incident of having to stand for half an hour over a hot
fire until his clothes were scorched and burnt. He fainted and cold water was
thrown over him, some of which got into his cars, causing deafness.  He made
a third attempt to escape and says that as punishment he got twenty-one days’
confinement on water without food. Doubt was indicated in regard to the eye
injury, as the military medical history files show a sear near the left eye received
in France in 1916. The medieal adviser to the Commission was not convineed
that the deafness complained of constituted disability.

The medical records consists of certifieates by Drs. A, K. Northrup and N.
MeArthur, neither of whom appeared before the Commission. Dr. Northrup
cortifics to a condition of mitral stenosis, with a 25 per cent disability. Dr.
MeArthur certifies to impaired vision in the right eye, sinus infection right side
of noge and deafness in the left ear and fixes the disability at 50 per cent. A
furtier certifieate by Dr. (name indecipherable) dated December 26, 1932, has
been filed, dealing with claimant’s ear and eye condition. In effect this certifi-
eate finds the ear condition to have probably resulted from possible exposure
and privation. Neither the cause nor the disability to vision is definitely stated.
A declaration by J. A. Seott, a fellow-prisoner, testifies to heatings, starvation
and conditions in the coal mines. Claimant’s medical history files relate to the
condition of neurasthenia, for which he receives pension.

Claimant’s manner of giving his testimony was most uneonvineing, He is
certainly not stone deaf in either ear, as he was able to hear clearly remarks,
from either side, in a low voice. I do not consider that claimant has shown any
disability resulting from maltreatment whilst a prisoner, and, in my opinion,
any disability from which he may now suffer is covered by pension. The case
should not have been pressed before this Commission. It fails and must be

disallowed.
FRROL M. McDOUGALL,
Ottawa, January 18, 1933, Commissioner.
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CASE 2557—THOMAS HENRY SUMERSFORD =~~~ == = -

Claimant was a Private in the_46th Battalion—Regimental No. 781552,
He enlisted December 24, 1915, at the age of 19 years and was taken prisoner
August 21, 1917, at Lens, unwounded. He was repatriated to Ingland,
December 7, 1918, ¢ is in receipt of a 10 per cent disability pension,
amounting to $7.50 per month, based on bronchitis, He is not married. Prior
to enlistment, he was a farm hand, earning $40 per month and board, and is
now doing odd jobs. .

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which
has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of long hours of labour;
that he was compelled to stand to attention, was starved and beaten.-

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant was held at Douai after capture, for one month, then taken to
Dulmen, where he was inoculated and transferred to Essen. Here he worked at
the coke ovens long hours and was exposed to coal gas fumes. On one oceasion
because he slept in after a 24-hour shift he was forced to stand to attention for
two hours after doing a hard day’s work. On another oceasion, he was heaten
with a rifle butt when he fell, due to exhaustion. He states that he now has
periodie fainting spells and suffers from nerves.

No medical evidence was adduced at the hearing, the record consisting of a
certifieate by Dr. H. C. Young, indicating chronic bronehitis and fixing the per-
centage of disability at from 25 per cent to 35 per cent. Claimant’s medical
history files refer to bronehitis for whiek he is in receipt of pension, and to
pyorrhea and epilepsy, declared to be post discharge.

ixeessive work upon the coke ovens forms the basis of this complam, &
do not consider that claimant has established the connexity between s experi-
ences in Germany and his present state of health.  The bronchial condition has
not been shown to result from maltreatment, nor does the record disclose the
origin of the so-called eplieptic seizures. Claimant’s recourse is properly before
the Board of Pension Commissioners. Before this Conmission, the claim fails
and must be disallowed.

FERROL M. McDOUGALL,
(ommissioner.
Otrawa, January 11, 1933,

CASE 2748—FREDERICK THOMPSON

Claimant was a Gunner in the 3rd Trench Mortar Batterv—Regimental No.

348146. Hec cnlisted October 1, 1915, at the age of 31 years, and was taken

‘ prisoner June 2, 1916, unwounded. He was exchanged to Hol!mul in the summer
of 1918 and reached England in October of that year. He is not in receipt of
pension, but has just been granted veteran’s disability allowance, amounting to
$20 per mouth. He is unmarried, and, prior to enlistment was pmploycd as &
rigger, at $18 per week. He has been practieally uneraployed since discharge.

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which

‘ has resulted in pecunisry damage to him. He complains of general debility and

tuberculosis as a result of his imprisonment.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant was first taken to Dulmen, then to Minden and from there to the
coal mine I-47. He remained at this mine about a year and a half and suffered
with septic sores which caused him to be sent to an hospital attached to the mine.
He complaing of the rough methods used in painting the sores with iodine and

. states he was returned to work in the mine before they were prqperly henlgd.

Finallv he was sent to Munster, and placed in a railway car repair shop. For
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an attempted eseape he reeeived 20 days solitary confinement on bread and
water. He was next sent to Ham and placed at tearing up a narrow gauge rail-
road and states that the treatment by the guards was exeeptionally rough. He
reported sick often and was finally examined and reported to be suffering from
tubereulosis and retieved from further work, After a delay of some weeks he
was recommended for exchange to Holland.

Claimant waslogely questioned by the medieal adviser to the Commission
covering the condition of tuberculosis, as there seems to be no mention of it in
his medical history documents.

The medical record consists of a certificate by Dr, C. R. Graham, who did
not appear before the Commission, indicating blindness of the right eye and
partial blindness in the left eve due to an injury sustained in 1924, neurasthenia
and pulmonary tubereulosis.

“Tnon examination of claimant’s medical history file, T cannot find any
mention of a tubercular condition, and there is no evidence of any disability at
the time of discharge nor evidence of medical treatment for vears after. Whilst
he apparently worked in a coal mine for a year and a half it could not have
been continuous, for, according to his story, he spent a large part of his time in
hospital with septic sores, and, as they could not get much work out of him, they
sent him back to camp.  Under the cireminstances I do not consider that T am
justified in reaching a finding in claimant’s favour., His recourse, if any, is
before the Board of Pension Commissioners.  Before this Commission the elaim
must, therefore, be disallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

Commissioner.
Orrawa, Jannary 24, 1933,

CASE 2700—JACOB C. D. THOMPSON

Claimant was a Private in the 19th Battalion—Regimental No. 814303. He
enlisted November 1, 1915, at the age of 19 years and was taken prisoner May
8, 1917, unwounded. He was repatriated to England January 4, 1919, He is
not in receipt of pension, was married in December, 1919, and has one child.
Prior to enlistment, he was emploved as a store clerk, at 812 per week, and at
present is a butter maker, at $25 per week,

He alleges that while a prisoner, e was subjected to maltreatment which
has resnlted in pecuniary damage to hiti,  He complains ef starvation and lack
of medieal treatment while ill, resulting in digestive disorders.

An analysi= of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant spent 10 days at the notorious Fort MceDonald in Lille, where he
speaks of the familiar overworking, starvation and lack of proper toilet arrange-
ments.  He was removed to Dulmen and put on latrine work.  After a month of
thiz, he was sent to Gustrow and thence to Gettorf (sic), where he was placed
at railway building. The work was very hard and the guards brutal. He
ruptured himself 1n Tifting a car to the rails and went to the doctor next morn-
ing. The injury was not discernible and he was returned to work. The pain
returned, and, being unable to continue, he was beaten with a rifle. He was
returned to eamp in a wagon and placed in hospital, given a suspensory and
given light duty. He was soon returned to the railway work but was sent
back to eamp and was later given a truss, which did not fit but he was compelled
to continue at work. Upon repatriation he made a qtntoment which confines
itself to a recital of conditions at Fort MeDonald.

No medieal evidence was adduced at the hearing, the record consisting of
a certificate by Dr. J. E. Hawkings to the effect that claimant suffers from
duodenal uleer, and a certificate by Dr. MeGarry, of Niagara Falls, regarding
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the samei-_roublo, ~-Two-statements are filed hy. fellow-prisoners, Andrew Crozier
and T. Winton, corroborative of claimant’s story. Claimant’s medical history
files shown nothing unusual. He was apparently discharged as fit. )

Claimant's hernia apparently no longer froubles him, since he does not wear
a trues. It was accidental in origin and he was eventually supplied with = truss.
I do not consider that this treatment can he regarded as maltreatment though
he may have been left for some time without medical aid. The stomach-con-
dition of which he complains is probably nutritional in origin and cannot be
related to maltreatment. Claimant’s recourse, if any, is before the Board of
Pension Commissioners. Before this Commission, the claim fails and must be
disallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

Commisstoner,
O1TAWA, January 18, 1933.

CASE 2751--THOMAS THORP

Claimant was an Imperial Reservist, whe came to Canada in 1907 and
returned to his unit, when called to the eoleurs in August, 1914, He served as
a Private in the King's Own Yorkshire Lieht Infantry—Regimental No. 7275.
He was taken prisoner November 1, 1914, at Messines, unwounded. He was
repatriated to. England in November, 1918. He was in receipt of a pension of
8 shillings per week, which he commuted in 1921, for §360. It was based on
neurasthenia, rheumatism and stomach disorders. He was married in May, 1922,
and has two children, Prior to enlistment, Le operated a meat market, elearing
over $1,000 per year and is now engaged in the same business but finds it poor.

He alleges that while a prisoner he wias subjected to maltreatnient which
lias resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of loss of personal
property taken from him after eapture, tle quality and scarceness of food,
exposure, long hours of labour and a wearing down due to being continually
huraszed, beaten and confined.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Taken to Altdamm, there was no barrack accommodation and elaimant had
to sleep in dug-outs, was given inadequate eavering and suffered from exposure
due to wet and snow, rvesulting in chromic rheumatism,  The place was
notoriously verminons and claimant states he often had to sleep in water, and
rub himself with snow in order to keep warm. His clothes were fumigated while
he was allowed a bath, but upon restming his eclothes found that they had
shrunk and were wet. This was in February, ‘The attacks of rheumatisiu were
very severe following this treatment, and afect him periodically now. While
working long hours at a beet factory, he wayv: that after a hard nights work he
was not rllowed to rest being given unncees:ary fatigues and jobs to do and
heing turned out of bed for barrack inspecticn several times a day. He broke
down and was sent to hospital for several weeks due to nervous trouble. Food
parcels were opened, the contents mixed up rnd rendered inedible. On several
ocoasions he was beaten with rifles, all of which contributed to his nervous
breakdown. At Schneidemuhl he, with others, refused to work in the manu-
facture of poison gas and he was threatened with death and was given ten days
confinement. While working on farms he received thrashings, due to his
unfamiliarity with the handling ot oxen anc was housed in an overcrowded
unsanitary cow barn. )

The medieal record consists of certificates by Dre. W. J. Knox, and G. L.
Campbell, neither of whom appeared before the Commission.  Both certify as
to a condition of rheumatism and neurasthenia, together with gastric disorders.
Other certifieates are filed as to his condition jrior to colistment and his present
ill-health.  Claimant’s medical history files show nothing unusual.
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“Claimant speaks chiefly of the exposure, labour and constant mental strain
of his captivity as causing the disablement from which he now suffers, viz.:
rheumatism, neurasthenia and impaired digestion. While the treatment was
clearly rough, I do not think that it ean be regarded as active maltreatment.
The Germans were unable to cope with and care for the number of prisoners who
fell into their hands in the early stages of the war, and great hardship resulted.
Thae claimant’s health should have suflered from such hardship is perhaps made
out, but I am unable to say that he has discharged the burden of showing a
present disability resulting from maltreatment. His claim is elsewhere. Before
this Commmission, the claim fails and must be disallowed.

4 ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Orrawa, January 3, 1933. Commissioner,

CASE 2657—-WILLIAM CHARLES THURGOOD

Claimant was a Private in the 7th Battalion—Regimental No. 16367. He

culisted in August, 1914, at the age of 18 vears and was taken prisoner April 24,
1915, during the sccond battle of Ypres, suffering from gas. He escaped fiom
Germany to Holland February 16, 1917. He was born in England, came to
Canada in February, 1911, and now resides in San Francisco and became a
naturalized citizen of the United States September 3, 1929. An affidavit of
Ilora Aske, rooming house keeper in Vancouver, is filed attesting that claimant
roomed in her house in 1914 and returned from overseas in October, 1917, and
roomed with her for six months thereafter. He once received a 3 per cent
disability pension, commuted under the Act of 1920. It was based on nervous
debility. He was married in February, 1920, and has one child living. Prior
to enlistinent, he was employed as a plumber, carning $6 per day and is now
doing odd jobs, but had been following his trade and earned as high as $10 per
day.

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which
has resulted in pecuniary damage to him.  He complains of being refused medical
treatent, that he was beaten, stoned and chained to posts, exposure, confine-
ment, and of being struck over the head with a rifle causing partial paralysis.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimunt was first taken to Giescen and there sent to Neuhammer to work
at plumbing.  While at work, the Germang threw stones and water on them.
Twenty-six of his companions were next tied to poles in the bog for refusing to
work longer, and left for four hours. This happened to claimant twice. In
winter, he was compelled to strip out of doors while his clothes were being
fumigated and he had to put them on wet. When he applied for medical treat-
ment, for gas poisoning, it was refused and he received two blows on the head
from rifle butts. The next eamp of importance was Vordenermoor, claimant
having passed through Saltau. He got two weeks dark cells for playing ball.
He then passed through Hameln, Shellarton (sic) sugar refinery and Lichten-
horst.  He received two weeks cells in the latter camp because he requested to
go sick on account. of stomach trouble and got into an argument. At Aselager,
he worked in the woods and was struck over the head with a revolver butt and
“wocked unconscious. He contends he was afflicted with paralysis of the left side
of the head and body as the result of this blow. He subsequently eseaped to
Holland.

Declarations are filed in support of the claim; one by Margaret. Thomas,
of-Nancouver, who has known claimant since 1920 and knows he suffers with
stomach trouble, loss of vision in the left eve and debility. A declaration by
A. Gordon Spring is filed attesting to elaimant’s inability to follow his trade after
his return to Canada, due to his condition.
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The medical record consists of a certificate by Dr; W. E. Glaeser of S
‘Francisco, who-finds claimant suffering. chiefly from his stomach and Sm;llg

limitation of movement in left leg and right hand. A certificafe from the Royal

Co.umbian Hospital is also filed, to the cficet that clrimant was in the 1
for 14 days in 1920. Claimant was examined by the medical examincerhﬁp’:lg?;
Commission who finds him suffering chiefly from stomach disorders. His medical
history files contain & lengthy statement covering claimant’s experiences as a
prisoner and his escape. :

A comparison of the statement made by claimant and appearing in his files
differs in many respects from his testimeny before the Commission.  Thus, there
is not a word in this statement of the blow on the head, which is said to have
resulted in partial paralysis. The incident of being tied to poles i3 also unmen-
tioned. Claimant stresses only a stomach complaint as the disability resulting
from maltreatment, Whether this may be ascribed to the gas received
before capture or to general food conditions while a prisoner I cannot say, but
for reasons which have been explained in my earlier reports upon malt’rcﬁt,ment,
__cases, I do not think that claimant has been successful in showing a present

disability resulting from maltreatment. His case, if anything, is pensionable
in nature. The claim, accordingly, fails and must be disallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

Commissioner.
Orrawa, January 3, 1933.

CASE 2797—JOHN TOUGH

Claimant, was a Private in the 1st C. M. R—Regimental No. 106592. He
enlisted in November, 1914, at the age of 29 vears, and was taken prisoner June
2, 1916, having been blown up by a shell and was suffering from broken left
arm, right shoulder, broken jaw, cruslied chest, and total deafness for 6 weeks.
He was repatriated to England December 10, 1918. He has an application for
pension pending, was married in January, 1919, and has three children. Prior
to enlistinent, he was on a farm, at $45 per month and board and is now
unemployed but had been engaged as a carpenter for five years, es iing as
high as $1.05 per hour. :

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which
has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of lack of medical
attention, forced labour while unfit and no treatment for his ears, resulting in
deafness.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant.was taken to hospital at Aachen and complains of the way in
which his arm and shoulder were set. He states his cars were not treated at all
and that he was totally deaf for 4 weeks. Thence sent to Friederichsfeld he was
placed at work pushing wagons before he had recovered from his wounds. To
this treatment he attributes a present disability in the wrist. He was next
sent to Holzburg, and placed at work packing ice and states his varicose veins
became aggravated by this work. Later, at Eusterburg, he worked at digging
ditches, up to the knecs in water, which affected his legs. He received confine-
ment to cells for :zeping a diary, parcels were stopped and a3 a consequence
he suffered from lack of food. '

" The medical record consists of a report by Dr. H. J. Peacock, whe did
not appear beforc the Commission, indicating inahility to usc left, wrist properly,
total deafness in left car, with disability rated &t 50 per cent. Claimant’s medical
history files relate to his wounds and ear condition as heing under considera-
tion by the Pensions Tribunal. o :
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Claimant’s ear condition may be traced to the time of capturc and the

* “Yecord does not—show -any-lack-of -treatment which, had it_been given, might -

have saved the hearing. He had varicose veins upon enlistment and 1 do not
find that any aggravation thereto can be ascribed to maltreatment while a
prisaner. He complains of disability to his left wrist, through being made to
wotk before the wound had properly healed. Again, I think the disability is
attrvibutable to his original service wound. Claimant has thus failed to show
a present disability resulting from maltreatment while a prisoner. His recourse,
if any, is elsewhere, Before this Commission, the claim fails and must be
disallowed,

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

Commassioner.
OrTawa, January 18, 1933.

CASE 2481—ERNEST ALLISON TURNBULL

Claimant was a Private in the 1st C.M.R—Regimental No. 106595. He
enlisted in QOctober, 1914, at the age of 19 vears and was taken prisoner June
2, 1916, suffering multiple shrapnel wounds. He was repatriated to England
in December, 1918, He is not in receipt of pension, was married in June, 1922,
and has two ‘children. Prior to enlistment, he was attending school and since
discharge has been unable to do office work, due to ill health, and is now a
commercial traveller, earning $150 per month and expenses.

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which
has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of confinement in
unheated cells, long periods of standing to attention, exposure, denial of medical
attention and further confinement.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

After capture, claimant’s wounds were dressed and he was sent to hospital
at Stuttgart. Upon discharge from hospital, he was sent to camp at Stuttgart
where he remained for eight months, doing rough labour. He received three
days' confinement for refusing to work on munitions, also blows from rifle butts.
te states that one form of punishment consisted in making a prisoner squat
down with hands on hips. After ten minutes a cramp would cause him to move,
whereupon he received a blow from a rific butt. He was confined to cells, on
another occasion, for failure to salute an officer. The cell was freezing cold
and he attributes his bronchial trouble to this incident. The fact of such confine-
ment is corroborated by a letter from G. H. Patterson, a fellow-prisoner.
He was next sent to a farm and made an attempt to escape, was recaptured
and given a further term of confinement. He was removed to hospital due to a
poisoned leg after five days. He was then returned to cells for 14 days. He
also recites an incident of injiry to his back in earrying a barrel of sand upstairs,
when he tripped and twisted his back.

The day after the hearing at Winnipeg, claimant wrote a letter to the

Commission stating that he had not stressed his mental condition at the time. .

He states he is subject to fits of depression and nervousness and that the recital
of his story recalled his experiences so vividly that he walked the streets for
hours before he could rejoin his family.

The medical record consists of a certificate of Dr. F. A. Jamieson, who
did ngt appear before the Commission, indicating a condition of chronic frental
ginus and bronchitis. He fixes the disability at 10 per cent. Claimant’s medical
history files show nothing unusual. The conditions of sinusitis and tonsilitis are
shown as “ post discharge.”
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Claimant stresses his mental depression as his main disability. This was
prabably due to the strain and duress of his period of captivity which he was
not, apparently, able to take as philosophically as etlier prisoners.— Thesinug-and -
bronchial trouble can hardly b aseribed to maltreatment by the enemy. His
state of health appears to be the result of general conditions of life in prison
camp, aggravated perhaps by unhealthy confinement. Viewing the case as
whole, T have reached the conclusion that claimant has failed to discharge the
- burden -of showing & present disability resulting from maltreatment. His
recourse, if any, is before the Board of Pension Commissioners., Before this
Commission, the claim fails and must be diszallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

Conmmissioner.
OrrAawA, December 30, 1932, “

CASE 2767—SAMUEL PARK TYNAN

Claimant was a Private in the 3rd Battalion—Regimental No. 9728. He
enlisted in August, 1914, at the age of 19 years, and was taken prisoner April
24, 1915, during the seccond battle of Ypres, suffering from gunshot wound
fracturing the left arm, and a touch of g:s. He was repatriated to England
December 31, 1918. He has recently been allowed a 10 per cent disability
pension, amounting to $7.60 per month, basea on his service wound in the left
arm. He was married in October, 1928, and had three children. Prior to
enlistment, he was employed as a store clerk, carning 816 per week, and is now
a shipper with a furniture concern, at $25 per weck.

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which
has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of beatings, confine-
ment and starvation.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant spent his period of captivity at Giessen, Saltau, Lichienhorst,
Unterluss and Gymbkie (sic). His chief complaints are as to neglert of his
wounded arm in hospital at Giessen followed by faulty treatment there. The
arm 18 now an inch and a half thinner than the other and is the basis of his
pension. His next complaint is of treatment at Unterluss punishment camp.
Being unable to do the work required on building a parade ground, due to
wenkness from starvation, and his injured arm, he received severe beatings,
resulting in extreme nervousness and heart trouble.

The medical record consists of a eertificate by Dr. T. O. Beauchemin, who
did not appear before the Commission. He finds claimant generally run down,
very nervous and suffering from some lung cordition. He fixes the disability
at from 40 per cent to 50 per cent. Claimant’s medical history files relate only
to his service injury. .

Claimant seems to suggest that had his arm been properly treated in
Germany, his disability thercfrom would not now be as great as it is. I do not
consider that this claim has been substantiated. His complaint as to nervous-
ness also fails,—he has not shown that such condition, if constituting disability,
necessarily results from maltreatment whilst a prisoner.  On the whole, 1 rega_rd
claimant’s case as one for the consideration of the Board of Pension Commis-
sioners, Before this Commission, it fails and must be disallowed.

' ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Commissioner.

OrTAWA, January 3, 1933.
61085—13}
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CASE 2766—JOSEPH WADE

The claimant was a Trooper in Lord Strathecona’s Horse—Regimental No.
552765. He enlisted in Aupust, 1915, at the age of 21 years, and was taken
prisoner August 8, 1918, suffering from a gunshot wound in the left arm. He
was repatrinted to England January 13, 1919. He is in receipt of 15 per cent
disability pension, based on gunshot wound left arm, chronic bronchitis, and
pleural adhesion, which amour. : to $22.50 per month, for self, wife, and 4
children. He was employed as a carpenter at 55 cents per hour. Since his
discharge, he has had various occupations, and is now promoting the Calgary
Clay Products Ltd.

He alleges that while a prisoner of war he was subjeeted to maltreatment
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to bim. He complains of lack of
treatment for his wounded arm, as a result of which it is permanently crooked.
He also states that by reason of lack of food and adecuate elothing he con-
tracted bronchitis and pleurisy.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant was a prisoner for about 4 months, during which time he was
not compelled to work nor was he brutalized. He confines his eomplaint to lack
of proper surgical attention for his fractured arm and declares that had it
heen properly set, he would not now suffer as great a disability as he has. In
his testimony he suggests that his arm was not set for some considerable time
after he was captured, but his medieal history files indicate (upon statements
made by claimant at the time) that it was set the day after capture. Claimant
alzo speaks of a chest condition which developed about a week before he left
Germany following an attack of pleurisy. He attributes this to lack of food
and exposure,

There is no medieal evidence of record, apart from claimant’s medical
history files; which _how the disabled condition of the arm with bronchitis and
pleural adhesions.

In this state of the record, T do not consider that claimant has succeeded ir
showing a present disability resulting from maltreatment. Whether his arm
should have been set, or whether it was done properly, at most would be a
matter of surgical judgment. The original injury was serious and elaimant has
not shown that he did not receive proper treatment. The claim is cavered by
his pension. The claim fails and must be disallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

Commissioner.
Ortawa, January 4, 1933,

CASE 2720—JOHN WARBURTON

Claimant was a Private in the 3rd Battalion—Regimental No, 8967. He
enlisted in August, 1914, at the age of 25 years, and was taken prisoner April
24, 1915, at the second battle of Ypres, unwounded. He was repatriated to
England in December, 1918. He is not in receipt of pension, was married in
1919 and has no children. Prior to enlistment, claimant was a glass beveler,
earnling 816 per week. He is still so employed, and, when work:1.g, earns 64 cents
per hour.

Claimant alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains that he was com-
pelled to do too heavy work on insufficient food, and was denied medical atten-
tion when ill. Exposure in inclement weather has affected his stomach and
nerves.,
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An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant was first taken to Giessen, where he remained six months, He
complains chiefly of the poor food. Sent out to Frankfurt, he worked in a rail-
way.vard. The work was heavy and he was beaten and received con‘inement
to cells for refusing to work. He was sent on to Lichtenhorst, via Saltu, where
he remained about five months and has no complaints. He ther went to
Bohmte, where he remained for the duration of the war. Working on the canals,
he complains of exposure to the wet and long hours. At a farm, for an
attempted cscape, claimant received a month'’s eells and was beaten by the
guards. On one occasion he was struck across the head by a guard, with a
bayonet, for talking to a fellow prisoner. He now suffers from his stomach
and his nerves as a result of these experiences,

The medical record indieates that claimant suffers from “ general instability
—a nervous trembling upon slight excitement; chronic indigestion of the stomach
with occasional very scevere attacks of acute indigestion” His percentage
of disability is stated at from 50 per cent to 70 per cent. Dr. A, A
Staley, who certifies to the foregoing, also anpeared hefore the Commission.
He confirms the diagnosis contained in his certifieate and attributes the con-
dition to bad food and exposure with heavy manual labour. The nervons state
is probably induced by the gastric condition. Claimant's med:cal listory files
show nothing unusual. Ie was apparently discharged as fit.

In this state of the record, it scems clear that claimant’s disabilities are
nutritional in origin. For reasons which have been explained in general opinion
annexed to my earlier repory upon maltreatment cases, I do not consider that
this result esn be aseribed to maltreatment. It follows general condi:ions of
camp life in Germany, to which all prisoners were exposed. Claimant's case,
if any, is one for the consideration of the Board of Pension Commissioners,
Before this Commission, the elaim fails and must be disallowed.

ERROT: M. McDOUGALT,
Orrawa, January 18, 1933. Commissioner,

CASE 2527—ROBERT FORBES WAUCHOPE

The clnimant was a Corporal in the 10th Battalion—Regimental No. 20091.
He enlisted in August, 1914, at the age of 39 years and was token prisoner
April 24, 1915, unwounded. He was exchanged to Holland in Mareh, 1918, and
repatriated to England November 18, 1918. He is not in receipt of pension. He
states that he applied for pension. but that his applieation was rejected, and he
is now appealing. He is a widower with no children. Prior to enlistment, he
was a horseman, earning $5 a day. After his diseharge, he was for a time a clerk
and time keeper, but is now uncmployed.

He alleges that while a prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreatment
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him: He complaius of heing knocked
down and kicked, and of general abuse. He alleges that he sustained a knee
injury from which he still suffers, also a nervous condition.

An analysis of the evidence revenls:—

Claimant spent practically the entire period of his captivity at Giessen
camp. He does not relate any particular acts of brutality, but declares that the
treatment was generally harsh and brutal. His knee was injured in some
manner which has not been clearly explained and he still suffers therefrom. He
complains of extreme nacivousness. and has a very marked impediment to his
speech which he attributes to the strain and duress of 'lns experiences as &
prisoner, Claimant was confined io cells on several occasions and was exposed
to long hours of punishment marching around the ecompound.

kS
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The medical record indicates that claimant suffers from nervousness and
chronic synovitis of the right knee joint. Dr. J. H. Brodie, whose certificate js
procuced, did not appear before the Commission. Claimant’s medical history
files show nothing unusual, He was apparently discharged as fit.

Claimant is now 57 years of age. He must expect some diminution in his
physical vigour with the passage of years. There is little evidence of physical
maltreatment in the record and whatever injurious effects claimant’s experi-
enees had upon his health must, I consider, be attributed to general conditions
of camp life in Germany. For reasons cxplained in Opinion annexed to my
carlier report, such general conditions cannot be regarded as maltreatment.
On the whole, the claim fails and must be disallowed.

ERROL M., McDOUGALL,

Commissioner,
Orrawa, January 4, 1933.

CASE 2721—CLARENCE WAY

Claimant was a Private in the 4th C.M.R.—Regimental No. 113624. He
enlisted in August, 1915, at the age of 18 years, and was taken prisoner June 2,
1916, unwounded.  He was repatriated to England December 1, 1918. He is not
in receipt of pension, same having been discontinued in February, 1920, It was
a 15 per cent disability, based on neurasthenia. He was married July 31, 1919,
and has two children.  Prior to enlistment, he was a factory labourer, at 15 cent-
an hour, and is now a machine operator, at 20 cents an hour,

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjceted to maltreatment which has
resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of overwork, abuse and
injury due to fumes and hot slack from a fertilizer plant.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

First at Dulmen, his main complaint is as to the food and long working
hours. At Nlinden, no parcels were reecived and long hours of labour in the
canal were the routine, with frequent blows from rifle butts. At Munster No, 2.
he was sent to work at Hoerde iron factory where they made fertilizer. The
fumes caused indigestion and pains in the chest.  He was also placed at temper-
ing white hot metal and did 24 hour duty at the coke ovens every second Sunday.
He reccived fourteen days confinement as the result of an argument with a guard,
and in the Spring of 1918 contracted influenza and was placed in hospital,
He finished his period of eaptivity back at work in the fertilizer plant. After
the Armistice the prisoners refused to work and were threatened with machine
auns,

The medical record consists of certificates by Dr. P. A, Scott, who did not
appear before the Commission, indicating heart trouble and nervous disability.
He says “ this man cannot do a day’s work, as soon as he does heavy work his
heart becomes bad, palpitation, and his nervous condition becomes so bad he has
to stop work entirely.” A certificate by Dr. C. A. Publow states that claimant
reeeived treatment under the DS.CR. in 1922 for heart and newrasthenia.
Claimant’s medical history files refer to the condition of neurasthenia, for which
he was, at one time, in receipt of pension.

Claimant’s heart affection has aprarently greatly improved, since he is no
longer in receipt of pension. I do nel find in the evidence any record of mal-
treatment such as would be likely to result in permanent disability. Claimant
must have expected that his treatment would not be all he desired, and any effect
upon his health resulting from general conditions of camp life, while it may be
pensionable, in an appropriate case, does not necessarily entitle a claimant to
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reparations. On the whole, I consider that elaimant has failed to show a present
glsadb_xhﬁ{ resdultmg from maltreatment. The claim, accordingly, fails and must
e disallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

Commuissioner.
Orrawa, January 18, 1933.

CASE 1965—VAUGHN HALIBURTON WEBBER

The claimant was a Corporal in the 7th Battalion—Regimental No. 17180.
He enlisted September 23, 1914, at the age of 27 years, and was taken prisoner
April 24, 1915, during the sccond battle of Ypres, slightly wounded in left leg.
He was repatriated to England on November 18, 1918. He is not in receipt of
pension. Prior to enlistment, he was cmployed as a surveyor's assistant, earn-
ing $140 per month, and since his discharge has been practically continuously
out of work, due to his condition,

He alleges that while a prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreatment
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of overwork,
and in particular of an incident which occurred at Huesten, where he was
working in a quarry. Beeause he did not understand what a guard said to him
in German, he was kicked severely at the base of the spine, knocked down and
was unable to resume work. He was carried to barracks and made to walk
back to camp,—one-hali mile. He was placed in hospital for six weeks and sent
back to barracks, where he contracted pneumonia. He was five months in
hospital and being in a weakened condition was excused all work for the
remainder of his period of captivity. He deeclares that a growth developed at
the point where he had been kicked and that he received treatment therefor.
It was only in England, in 1919, that le was operated upon for the injury, and
the growth removed. He declares that this injury still troubles him greatly, and
that he has been unable to work as a result of the disability.

Ap analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant stresses the injury resulting from the kick referred to as constitut-
ing maltreatment. In support of his statement as to the incident he has filed
affidavits of two fellow prisoners who declare that he was in fact injured on the
ocension in question, was laid up for some time and excused all duty because of
his condition. Claimant also makes a claim in his deposition for loss of personal
effects which were contained in a box which he shipped out of Germany but
never received after reaching Holland though he made diligent search therefor.
1 do not’consider that this claim has merit. The box may have been lost in a
number of ways not attributable to the enemy.

The medical evidence consists of an affidavit of Dr. I.. Broe, dated November
25, 1931, which speaks of an examination that day which revealed a broad scar,
one and one-half inches long running anteroposteriorly midway between serotum
and anus, which elaimant decl. red was due to an operation in England in 1919.
The scar is now tender to pressure, which interferes with walking. Dr. Broe
expresses the opinion that claimant js unfit to carry on his work of surveyor’s
agsistant. Dr. Broe also appeared before the Commission. He confirms the
findings contained in his certificate, but says it is difficult to estimate the
disability resulting from the scar. He cannot say definitely that the original
injury was of traumatic origin, Claimant’s medical history files show that he
suffcred from and was operated upon for a perineal abscess, from which upon
discharge, he then appeared to have made a good recovery.

The corroboration furnished by the two witnesses named brings some sub-
stantiation to claimant’s story of injury, but T am not satisfied that there is any
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serious disability resulting from the injury. The condition for which he was
operated upon in 1919 was acute—perineal abscess—and it has not been shown
that this condition was the result of the blow or kick he received in 1916 while
a prisoner.  Claimant’s testimony did not dispel the doubt as to the accuracy
of his observation of the origin of the injurv and the conneection between it and
the subsequent operation. Viewing all the circumstances of the case, I am of
opinion that claimant has failed to discharge the burden of showing u present
disability resulting from maltreatment.  The elaim must, accordingly, be
disallowed,

ERROIL M. McDOUGALL,

Commissioner.
Orraws, January 3, 1933.

CASE 2576—HARRY JAMES WELLS

The claimant was a Private in the 3rd Battalion—Regimental No. 18698.
He enlisted in August, 1914, at the age of 26 years and was taken prisoner
April 24, 1915. He was not wounded, but states he was slightly gassed. He
was repatriated to England, after exchange to Switzerland, in December, 1918.
He is in receipt of a 10 per cent disability pension, based on neurasthenia, which
amounts to 814 per month. He was married in 1920, and has 3 children. Prior
to enlistment, he was manager of a Grocery Departent, at a salary of $150
per month and a 10 per cent share of the profits.  After discharge, he followed
his former occupation for some years, but ultimately had to resign his position
beeause of ill health. He is now engaged in selling real estate. :

He alleges that while a prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreatment
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of long hours,
exeessive work, and general abuse. He states that on one oceagion he was tied
to a stake for 5 hours, and on annther, knocked down two flights of stairs by a
guard. He complains of rheumatism and a nerveus condition.

An analysis of the evidence revenls:—

Claimant was first. taken to Giessen eamp, where he remained 9 months,
and complains only of the food. Sent on to Lichtenhorst, via Saltau, claimant
remaired a year working on the moor lands and complains of the hard work,
inadequate food and exposure to weather. At Bohmte, the complaint is as to
hard work. He was tied to n stake for 5 hours for hitting a Belgian prisoner.
The exposure at Bohmte brought on the rheumatism from which he still suffers.
Serit to a farm, there were no outstanding incidents. At a sugar factory, the
work was hard and the food poor. He was hit on the head and knocked down
two flights of stairs for engaging in an argument with o guard. Claimant served
tae usual 14 days in cells for an attempt to cseape. After a period at Hameln,
he was transferred to Switzerland. Claimant suffers chiefly from rheumatism
and his merves. . . ..

"~ The medieal record indieates that claimant suffers from recurring stiffness --
and pain in neck and shoulders, nervousness, insomnia, restlessness, which is
diagnosed as due to arthritic cervical spine and psychoneurosis. His pereentage
of disability is stated at 100 per cent in his own calling and at 50 per cent in
the general Iabour market. Dr. E. P. Scarlett, who certifies to the foregoing did
not appear before the Commission. A letter of Dr. R. D. Robertson js also filed
attesting a general nervous condition. Claimant's medical history files show
nothing unusual. .

In this state of the record, I eannot reach the conelusion that claimant’s
present state of health is due to maltreatment whilst a prisoner of war. He is
another vietim of the general conditions of eamp life in Germany and I regard
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his case as one fo;‘ t.he consideration of the Board of Pension Commissioners.
Before this Commission claimant has failed to make out a case, and the claim
must be disallowed.

ERROI: M. McDOUGALI,,

Commussioner,
Orrawa, January 4, 1933,

CASE 2699—FREDERICK WHARPOLE

Claimant was a Gunner in the 30th Battery—Regimental No. 91243, He
enlisted on Junc 11, 1915, at the age of 22 yeurs, and was taken prisoner on
June 2, 1916, unwounded., He had been buried by a shell explosion. He was
repatriated to England November 18, 1918, e is in reeeipt of a 10 per cent
disability pension, amounting to $15 per month for himself and {amily, based
upon heart and nervous trouble. e is married and has four children. Prior
to enlistment, claimant was a farmer. He is now an orderly at Christic Street
Hospital, Toronto, earning $76 per month.

Claimant alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains generally of
overwork and living conditions in Germany as having reacted unfavourably upon
his heart and nerves.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—-

Claimant was first taken to Dulmen, where he encountered no phyvsieal
maltreatment, but speaks of threats of violence which affected his nerves. Sent
to Engers, where he remained two vears, he was employed on bridge construction.
He was not beaten, but again complains that he was threatened with such punish-
ment. He declares that the mental strain brought on epileptic fits and that his
heart was weakened. He was sent to Aachen, for exchange to Switzerland, but
was denied transfer.

There is no medical evidence of record, not even the usual certificate of a
physician. Claimant’s medical history files show nothing unusual, apart from
the condition for which he is in receipt of pension.

In this state of the record it is clearly impossible to reach a finding in
claimant’s favour. Mere threats of violence can hardly be regarded as maltreat-
ment, particularly when such treatment is compared with the lot of other
prisoners who werc not only threatened but aotually beaten and abused.
Claimant’s case is purely pensionable in nature. Before this Commission, he
has failed to discharge the burden of showing a present disability resulting from
maltreatment while a prisoner. The claim fails and must be disallowed.

___ERROL AL McDOUGALL,
e T Commissioner.
- O1rAwa, January 18, 1933.

CASE 2357—RICHARD WHELAN

Claimant was a Private, who enlisted with the 228th Battalion on December
12, 1916—Regimental No. 1007079. He was taken prisoner November 30, 1917,
and was repatriated to England January 2, 1919. He was born in Newfoundland
and first applied to his own Government, for reparation, in Fqbruary, 1930. His
claim was rejected on the ground -that_having served with the Canadian
Expeditionary Forces it should be dealt with by the Canadian authorities. "His~ ——~
solicitors applied to this Commission, by letter dated May 4, 1631, and forms
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were sent July 23, 1931. They have never heen completed and returned.
Registered notice was sent te tho claimant, in care of his solicitors, on May 26,
1932, notifying him to aprear at M- scssions of the Commission, at Halifax,
on June 18, 1932. He did not appear, and his absence has remained unexplained.
The elaim iz, aeccording, disallowed for want of prosecution.

SRROL M. McDOUGALL,

. Commussioner.
Orrawy, December 28, 1932,

CASE 2698—SYDNEY CHARLES WHITE

Claimant was a Private in the 4th C.M.R.—Regimental No. 109676. He
enlisted November 27, 1914, at the age of 18 years, and was taken prisoner
June 2, 1916, suffering from gunshot wounds in both legs (fractvred), and the
right hand. He was repatriated to England December 24, 1918, He is i receipt
of a 15 per cent disability pension, amounting to 21 per month, based on his
service wounds.  He was married in May, 1919, and has three children. Prior
to enlistment, he was a garage helper, earning $12 per week, and is still in the

same emplovment but only working part time.
' He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which
has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of lack of medieal
treatment resulting in permanent injury to his leg, exposure and under nourigh-
ment eausing heart trouble and stomach disorders.

An nnalysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant was taken to hospital at Menin and then removed to Julich. He
complains of neglect at both places. After leaving hospital he was sent to
Stendal, and, while on erutches, was sent out to work in a stone quarry. He
was unable to load the stone, and was given confinement, and beaten. He was
then sent to a sugar factory, where the work was still too heavy, so he was
returned to camp and given farther confinement. His wounds were still open,
for which reason the blows reeived were additionally painful. He was returned
to the sugar factory and kept at work. Finally, in 1918, he was given a light
job on the parcels at the camp. He still has a piece of shrapnel in the knee,
which he thinks should have been removed by the Germans,

There is no medical evidence o1 record, not even the usual certificate of
a physician, Claimant’s medical history files relate only to his service wounds.

Claimant’s complaint is that because of failure to attend his wounds, he
has been left with a greater disability than he would otherwise have had. He
adds that being made to work before his wounds had healed, aggravated the
condition. The medical cvidence does not cstablish a present disability other
than claimant’s service wounds for which he receives pension. I am of opinion
that claimant has failed to discharge the burden of showing a present disability
resulting from maltreatment as a prisoner of war, His recourse is quite properly
before the Board of Pension Commisisoners, Before this Commission, the elaim

fuils and must be disallowed.
. ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
OrTawa, January 19, 1933. Commissioner.

CASE 2449—H. T. V. WHITEHEAD

Notice of claim was received on behalf of the above named claimant but
the usual documents of claim have never been completed. There is no informa-
tion concerning him of record, except the statement that he served as an officer.



FINAL REPORT 203

Clnimapt was notified to appear before the Commission, at its Toronto sessions,
on April 29, 1932 and again, at Winnipeg, on September 14, 1932, but failed
‘0 appear. The Winnipeg Command of the Canadian Legion has advised that

they are unable to locate claimant. The claim must, accordingly, be disallowed
for want of prosccution,

ERROI. M. McDOUGALL,

) Commaissioner.
Orrawa, December 29, 1932.

CASE 2793—JOSEPH ARTHUR WIGGINS

Claimant was a Private in the 4th C. M. R.—Regimental No. 113634. He
cenlisted July 31, 1915, at the age of 30 years and was taken prisoner June 2,
1916, unwounded. He was repatrinted to England December 14, 1918. He
15 not in receipt of pension, was married in June, 1912, and has four children.
Prior to enlistment, he was employed as a typewriter repair man, at $10 per
week and is now unemployed. He: resumed his former occupation, after
discharge, but was dismissed due to ill health and general business conditions
in Mareb, 1931, This is confirmed by a letter from his former employers.

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which
has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of starvation, long
hours of labour in an iron mine, of being beaten, and tied to a tree for & day
without food or water. :

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant spent the first four months of his period of captivity at Dulmen,
where he complains that he was compelled to stand to attention for periods
ranging from a half day to two days at a time. He was next sent to Minden,
where he worked in drainage ditches, standing in water for some seven months,
and was then placed at unloading barges of stone in February and suffered
with his feet due to exposure. Medieal attention was refused and he received
seven days confinement for losing an axe. At Schelm, for refusing to work in
a munition factory, he was beaten and slashed across the wrist by a bayonet
and cut across the hend. He states that he has lost the power of his hand
due to this blow. He received a further blow in the eye with a stick by a
sentry for refusing to shovel snow on a Sunday, causing a permanent blurring
of vision. He wound up his period of captivity on a farm where he was
fairly treated.

The medical record consists of a certificate by Dr. O, F. Bryan, who did
not appear before the Commission, indicating chronic bronchitis, impaired
vision in the left eye, and bad feet, The disability is fixed at 60 per cent.
Claimant’s medical history files refer to some astigmatism of the left cye,
corrected by glasses. Other disabilities are mentioned with, however, no
pension action, but no record of any disability to the wrist or arm appears.

I regard claimant’s case as pensionable in nature, if anything. He has not
succeeded in showing that his impaired vision is due to maltreatment. He
admits to some visual defect upon enlistment. His remaining ailments, if
established, are more the result of general conditions of camp life in Germany
than of any particular maltreatment. Claimant has thus failed to make out
a case before this Commission and the claim must, accordingly, be disallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

Orrawa, January 16, 1933,

- T Commissioners
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CASE 2742—\WILLIAM M. WILKIE

/ Claimant was o Lance Sergeant in the 44th Battalion—Regimental No.
127239. He enlisted October 11, 1913, at the age of 19 years and was taken
prisoner August 23, 1917.  He states in his deelaration form that he was suffering
from gunshot wound in the right side, when captured, but in his evidence states
he was not wounded or injured in any way. He was repatriated to England
December 27, 1918, He is not in receipt of pension, was married in September,
1924, and has no children. Prior to enlistment, he was employed in the mailing
department of a printing office, at 88 per week, and is now =till employed by a
printing concern, earning 326 per week.

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which
has resulted in pecuniary damage to him, He complains of the food, resulting
in present nervous trouble,

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant spent his captivity at Douai, Minden, Saltau and Schnaber Dingen.
He states that he received no actual maltreatment, his entive complaint being
based on the ¢uantity and quality of the food from which he now suffers kidney
trouble.

No medical evidence was adduced at the hearing, the record consisting of
certificates by Dr. A. B. McCarter, indieating Brights Dicease in 1923. He
must excreise care in his diet, is of a nervous disposition and subject to dizziness.
Disability fixed at from 25 to 50 per cent, Certificate by Dr. H. O. Hourth is
filed, indicating acute Brights Disease in 1923, six weeks’ illness. Claimant's
medical history files show nothing unusual He was appavently discharged as
fit.

Claimant was advised, at the hearing, that his alleged disability, which is
purely nutritional in origin, dees not entitle him to an award on the ground of
maltreatment (See Opinion annexed to my earlier report on maltreatment eases).
A perusal of the record confirms the view then >xpressed. Claimant has failed
to make out a case and the elaim must, accordingly, be disallowed.

FRROL M. McDOUGALL,

Commissioner,
Orrawa, January 17, 1933.

CASE 2722—CHARLES WILKINS

Claimant was an Imperial soldier who served as a Corporal in the 11th
Lissex Regiment—Regimental No. 276835. e first came to Canada in 1913 and
returned to ‘England in October, 1915. He enlisted October 6, 1916, at the age
of 28 years, andd was taken prisoner March 22, 1918, suffering slightly from gas.
He was repatriated to England in January, 1919. Hec is not in receipt of pension,
‘was married in March, 1912, and has {our children, Prior to enlistment, he was
cmployed as a cement finisher, earning $12.60 per week and is now a letter-
carrier, at $1,250 per annum.

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which
has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of starvation, beatings
and lack of medieal attention.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant states he was four days without food after capture and was then
~compelled to work behind the lines, for a short time, at carrying ammunition.
and, being unable to lift heavy shells, he” was beaten with rifle butts over the:
head. He reported sick but the doctor gave him no attention, although event-
ually he was placed in hospital at Denain. He states he received no medical
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attention heve «nd that the food ration was short. He was taken to Antwerp,
il an open truck, ‘n cold March weather without an overcoat. His clothing
was taken from him at Antwerp and thin print stuff supplied. His main com-
plaint consists of starvation. He terminated his period of captivity at Cottbus,
where the food scarcity continued.

The medical record consists of certificates by Dr. Robert Oliver, who did
not appear before the Commission, indicating intermittent sore throat and
rheumatic pains, badly infected gums and tecth, shortness of breath and palpita-
tion attribut..! to exposure, starvation and abuse while a prisoner of war. The
percentage of « subility is estimated at from 25 to 60 per cent. Claimant's
medical history files are not available.

Claimant was a prisoner for a short time only, and while he appears to
have undergone rough treatment, I do not think it can be said that he has shown
that any present disability results from maltreatment. That he was fit when
discharged is evidenced by the fact that he re-cnlisted and served in Ireland
with the Imperial Forces. The connexity between his present alleged rheumatic
condition and his experiences in Germany has not been established. The claim,
accordingly, fails and must be disallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

Commissioner,
Orrawa, January 19, 1933.

CASE 2323 —ALBERT EDWARD WILSON

Claimant was a Private in the 25th Battalion—Regimental No. 733105. He
enlisted December 8, 1915, at the age of 23 years and was taken prisoner
April 28, 1917, at Vimy Ridge, suffering from gunshot, wound in the left breast.
He was repatrinted to England December 2, 1918, He is in receipt of a 10
per cent disability pension, amounting to £15 per month, based on his war wounds
and pleurisy. He was marriecd May 5, 1914, and has five children. Prior to
enlistment, he was employed as a railway car cleaner, carning $20 per week,
and since discharge was doing ordinary labour at $2.50 per day, but has been
unemployed until quite recently.

He alleges that while a prisoner he was subjected to maltreatment which
has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of being knocked off
his feet on two occasions by blows with rifle butts, and was compelled to stand
in front of a blast furnace for three hours, for refusal to handle heavy ammuni-
tion. He suffered also from starvation and exposure.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:— )

Claimant was first taken to Laugensalza where his wounds were attended.
He has no complaints as to his treatment there, but at Dulmen, where he was
next sent, he complains of beatings to make him work faster. Removed to
Munster, he has no complaints, until he reached Dusseldorf where he remained
for the duration of his period of eaptivity. For refusing to work upon muni-
tions, he was beaten on several occasions and complains that he was made to
stand before the iron blast furnaces as furthe~ punishment. He was employed
at unloading coal and speaks of the treatment as sometimes good, sometimes
bad. He contracted the flu during the cpidemic and received no medical treat-
ment. He suffers from his side (left), said 10 be due to a blow received during
a beating, and his stomach. o -
The medical evidence is very vague and consists in the affidavit of Dr.
C. H. Morris, who declares that claimant was “underfed and maltreated when
- physically -unfit-for-work.”..-He.rates claimant’s percentage of disability at 26
per cent. Claimant’s medieal history files refer to a condition of neurasthenia,
gunshot wound left breast and n condition of pleurisy, for which latter ailment

he is in receipt of pension.
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Claimant was roughly handled whiist a prisoner but 1 do not consider that
e has heen successful in showing t!..t any present disability results from any
ma'treairoent to which he was subjected.  The medical evidence is entirely
inade quate to rubstantiate such claim. Claimant has thus failed to discharge
the burden resting upon him. His claim is properly one for the consideration
¢f the Board of Pension Commissioners. As far as this Commission is concerned,
the claim tnils and must be disallowed. :

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

Commissioner.
Orrawa, Deecember 17, 1932, ,

CASE 2642—-GEORGE WILSON

Claimant served as an Imperial, with the Naval Division—Official No.
4795A. In October, 1914, he was taken prisoner, near Antwerp, and sent to
Doberitz prison eamp. Claimant has not completed the usual documents of
claim, nor did he appear befcre the Commission at its Vancouver sessions, on
September 23, 1932, although notified to do so. His attorneys have advised that
claimant first became a resident of Canada in August, 1923. For reasons which
heve been explained in my earlier report upon maltreatment cases, this Commis-
sloi- 1s without jurisdiction to entertain the claims of Imperial soldiers who were
not resident in Canada on or before January 10, 1920, date of the ratification of
the Treaty of Versailles. The claim ig, accordingly, without standing before this
Commission and must be disallowed,

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

Commissioner.,
Orrawa, January 11, 1933.

CASE 2583—JOHN WILSON

Claimant served with the Imperials—First Gordon Highlanders—Regi-
mental No. 7883. He was resident in Canada prior to the war and was called
to the colours in August, 1914, while on a visit to Scotland. He was taken
prisoner on Augus’ 27, 1914, during the retreat from Mons, slightly wounded in
hand, and was repariated to England in November, 1918, He was originally in
receipt of an Imperial pension, but commuted it when he returned to Canada.
Claimant is married and has four children. Prior to enlistinent, he was u
chauffeur, earning $18 per week. He is now a miner, earning $150 per month,
when working.

Claimant alleges that while a prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreat-
ment which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complaing of starva-
tion, rough treatment, that he was made to work when ill, and lack of medical
treatment, resulting in a general ncurasthenic condition.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Taken first to Senne lager, he complains of 1ack of food and exposure to
the weather. Sent to Dulmen, he does not complain greatly of ‘the treatment.
He next found himself at a commando out of Minden, working on & railway.
H was starved and on one occasion was wounded in the hand by a bayonet in
- the hands of-a-guard. His arm became injured but he was compelled to continue
work. Later, he was sent to Mulheim, where he remained until tlie Armistice. -
He worked on the coke ovens and in the repair shop. Medical treatment was
denied claimant, while ill, and he was made to continue working. Claimant
suffers from his stomach,



FINAL REPORT 207

The medical record indicates that claimant has suffered fro.nn stomach
trouble, possibly due in part to & neurasthenic condition and was attended by
Dr. Geo. H. Whitmore, of Drumbheller, who has filed a certificate to that effect.
Claimant’s medical history files are not available,

Claimant himsclf attributes his present state of health to the poor and
inadequate /o0od he received in UGermany. As explained in general opinion
annexed to my carlier report upou maltreatment cases, I cannot regard these
nutritional disahilities as the result of maltreatment. Claimant has thus failed
to discharge th . huiden of showing a present disability resulting from maltreat-
ment. The claim fails and must be dizallowed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,

_ Commissioner.
Orrawa, January 10, 1933.

CASE 2741—JAMES HENRY WINN

The claimant was a Private in the 43rd Battalion—Regimental No. 135607.
He enlisted in June, 1915, at the age of 25 vears. He was taken prisonar
October 8, 1916, sufiering from a shrapnel wound in the left thigh. He was
ropatriated to Yngland January 13, 1919. He was in reccipt of a temporary
disability pension of 10 per cent for six months, but is not now in receipt of a
pension, and has not applied therefor. He was married November 15, 1911, and
has 6-children. Prior to cnlistment, he was a shoe worker. Since his discharge
he has been variously occupied, but is now employed in 2 bakery at a salary
of $23.75 per week,

He alleges that while a prisoner of war he was subjected o maltreatment
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him. He complains of being struck
on the back with a rifle butt, and of undue exposure to wet and cold. He states
that on exertion there is loss of circulation in his wounded leg, also that his
hearing is affected.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant was first taken to Cambrai, where his wounds were dressed. This
was the only treatment he reccived until he reached Ohrdruf hospital, some
weeks later. He remained in hospital for about 6 1nonths and declares that they
did the best they could, but that he suffered from the cold. His wound healed,
claimant was sent to Langensalza, where he remained uatil July, 1918, working
at his trade of shoe making. He contracted the flu, for which he was given 4
aspirin tablets. The treatment generally was rough but_ not too brutal He
completed his period.of captivity on a railroad line doing light work. He speaks
of blows received, but does not attribute any disability thereto. He complains
of nervousness and impairment of hearing in the right ear, which he attributes
to the flu.

The medical yocord indicates moderate debility with some impairment of
hearing in right ear. Mis perceniuge of disability is stated at from 60 to 75
per cent. Dr. E. F. Partello, who certifies to the foregoing, did not appear
before the Commission. Claimant’s. medical history files show nothing unusual.

Claimant’s general state of nervousness has not been shown to result from
active maltreniment. It is probably the result of the general strain of camp
life in prison camps. The ear condition, as claimant says, is possibly the result
of flu. I cannot say, from the record that claimant has established a permanent
disability resulting from maltreatment. The claim, accordingly, fails and must

be disallowed. ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Commissioner.
Orrawa, January 3, 1933.
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CASE 2634—FRANK WOOD

The claimant was a Corporal in the 7th Battalion—Regimental No. 23352,
He enlisted in August, 1914, at the age of 30 vears and was taken prisoner
April 24, 1915, suffering from shrapnel wounds in the legs. He states he was
also gassed. He was released to Helland in March, 1918, and repatriated to
Fngland November 18, 1918. He is in receipt of a § per cent disability pension,
based on his leg wound, which amounts to $3.75 per month. He is unmarried.
Prior to cnlistment, he was employed as a cement mixer and carpenter, at an
average wage of $5 per day. Since his discharge he has been employed in
various capacities at logging camps, at an average wage of $4.50 per day, but at
present he is unemployed.

He alleges that while a prisoner of war he was subjected to maltreatment
which has resulted in pecuniary damage to him, He complains that he was
often beaten, and on one occasion was struck in the mouth with a rifle butt, with
the result that he lost six teeth. On another oceasion he received a bayonet cut
in the hand, and states that blood poisoning set in, and, as a result he suffers
from a permanent stiffening of the little finger. He alleges that he is unable
t. follaw his pre-war occupation because of the condition of his legs.

An analysis of the evidence reveals:—

Claimant was first taken to Paderborn hospital where he remained for 4
months and has no complaint of his treatment. Removed to Steinhurst, via
Senne lager, he relates an incident of a blow in the mouth which knocked out
his upper teeth. He admits that he struck an officer who was maltreating another
prisoner, with the result noted. Later, at Mulheim, he was cut on the little
finger by a bavonet in the hands of a guard, in seeking to protect himself from
a blow. No treatment was given him, with the result that infection set in and
the finger has remained disabled. He speaks of numerous beatings, and claims
disability due to his teeth, his hand, varicose vemns and flat feet.

The medical evidence, consisting in a letter of Dr. H. W. Keith, indicates
that claimant has lost all his teeth in the unper jaw and two in the lower, said
to be due to a blow. Dr. Keith also indicates that claimant’s right little finger
is crippled.  No pereentage of disability is stated. Claimant’s medical history
files show nothing unusual. The condition of varicose veins and flat feet is
declared not to give entitlement for pension. The hand injury and loss of teeth
are not mentioned.

Whatever may have been the provocation, I do not think the injury to
claimant’s moath can be regarded as naltreatment. He struck an officer and
the punishment visited upm him was not unreasonable, I cannot find that the
finger injury can be said {0 b2 due to maltreatment and moreover the disability
has not been shown Lo be serious. As o claimant’s other complaints, there is no
substantiation in the record. On the whole, T find that claimant has failed to
establish a present disability resulting from maltreatment. The elaim fails and
must be disallov-ed.

ERROL M. McDOUGALL,
Commissioner.
Otrawa, January 4, 1933
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